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THIS REGISTRATION DOCUMENT CONTAINS INFORMATION IN RELATION TO HILI PROPERTIES P.L.C. (THE “COMPANY” OR “ISSUER”), 

ITS BUSINESS, AND THE COMPANY’S NEW ORDINARY SHARES. IT IS DRAWN UP IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE 

CAPITAL MARKETS RULES ISSUED BY THE MALTA FINANCIAL SERVICES AUTHORITY; THE RULES AND REGULATIONS APPLICABLE TO 

THE ADMISSION OF SECURITIES ON THE OFFICIAL LIST OF THE MSE; THE COMPANIES ACT (CAP. 386 OF THE LAWS OF MALTA); AND THE 

PROSPECTUS REGULATION.

NO BROKER, DEALER, SALESMAN OR OTHER PERSON HAS BEEN AUTHORISED BY THE COMPANY OR ITS DIRECTORS TO ISSUE ANY 

ADVERTISEMENT OR TO GIVE ANY INFORMATION OR TO MAKE ANY REPRESENTATIONS IN CONNECTION WITH THE COMPANY OTHER THAN 

THOSE CONTAINED IN THE PROSPECTUS AND IN THE DOCUMENTS REFERRED TO HEREIN, AND IF GIVEN OR MADE, SUCH INFORMATION 

OR REPRESENTATIONS MUST NOT BE RELIED UPON AS HAVING BEEN AUTHORISED BY THE COMPANY, ITS DIRECTORS OR ADVISERS.

THE MALTA FINANCIAL SERVICES AUTHORITY ACCEPTS NO RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONTENTS OF THE PROSPECTUS, MAKES 
NO REPRESENTATIONS AS TO ITS ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS AND EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS ANY LIABILITY WHATSOEVER FOR 
ANY LOSS HOWSOEVER ARISING FROM, OR IN RELIANCE UPON, THE WHOLE OR ANY PART OF THE CONTENTS OF THE PROSPECTUS.

IT IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF ANY PERSON IN POSSESSION OF THIS DOCUMENT AND ANY PERSON WISHING TO ACQUIRE SECURITIES OF 

THE COMPANY TO INFORM THEMSELVES OF, AND TO OBSERVE AND COMPLY WITH, ALL APPLICABLE LAWS AND REGULATIONS OF ANY 

RELEVANT JURISDICTION. PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS SHOULD INFORM THEMSELVES AS TO THE LEGAL REQUIREMENTS OF ACQUIRING 

SECURITIES ISSUED BY THE COMPANY AND ANY APPLICABLE EXCHANGE CONTROL REQUIREMENTS AND FISCAL OBLIGATIONS IN THE 

COUNTRIES OF THEIR NATIONALITY, RESIDENCE OR DOMICILE. 

SAVE FOR THE INFORMATION THAT IS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE IN THIS REGISTRATION DOCUMENT, THE CONTENTS OF THE 

COMPANY’S WEBSITE OR ANY WEBSITE DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY LINKED TO THE COMPANY’S WEBSITE DO NOT FORM PART OF THIS 

REGISTRATION DOCUMENT. ACCORDINGLY, NO RELIANCE OUGHT TO BE MADE BY ANY INVESTOR ON ANY INFORMATION OR OTHER DATA 

CONTAINED IN SUCH WEBSITES AS THE BASIS FOR A DECISION TO INVEST IN SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY.

ALL THE ADVISERS TO THE COMPANY HAVE ACTED AND ARE ACTING EXCLUSIVELY FOR THE COMPANY IN RELATION TO THIS 

REGISTRATION DOCUMENT AND HAVE NO CONTRACTUAL, FIDUCIARY OR OTHER OBLIGATION OR RESPONSIBILITY TOWARDS ANY OTHER 

PERSON. NONE OF THE ADVISERS ACCEPT ANY RESPONSIBILITY TOWARDS ANY INVESTOR OR ANY OTHER PERSON WHOMSOEVER IN 

RELATION TO THE CONTENTS OF AND ANY INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE PROSPECTUS, ITS COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY OR ANY 

OTHER STATEMENT MADE IN CONNECTION THEREWITH.

THE DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY CONFIRM THAT WHERE INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THIS REGISTRATION DOCUMENT HAS BEEN 

SOURCED FROM A THIRD PARTY, SUCH INFORMATION HAS BEEN ACCURATELY REPRODUCED AND AS FAR AS THE DIRECTORS OF THE 

COMPANY ARE AWARE AND ARE ABLE TO ASCERTAIN FROM INFORMATION PUBLISHED BY THAT THIRD PARTY, NO FACTS HAVE BEEN 

OMITTED WHICH WOULD RENDER THE REPRODUCED INFORMATION INACCURATE OR MISLEADING.

THE ISSUE WILL NOT BE REGISTERED UNDER THE UNITED STATES SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, OR UNDER ANY FEDERAL 

OR STATE SECURITIES LAW AND MAY NOT BE OFFERED, SOLD OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, IN THE UNITED 

STATES OF AMERICA, ITS TERRITORIES OR POSSESSIONS, OR ANY AREA SUBJECT TO ITS JURISDICTION (THE “U.S.”) OR TO OR FOR 

THE BENEFIT OF, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, ANY U.S. PERSON (AS DEFINED IN REGULATION “S” OF THE SAID ACT). AS SUCH, SUBJECT 

TO CERTAIN EXCEPTIONS, THE NEW ORDINARY SHARES MAY NOT BE OFFERED, SOLD OR DELIVERED WITHIN THE UNITED STATES OR 

TO U.S. PERSONS. FURTHERMORE, IN RELATION TO EACH MEMBER STATE OF THE EUROPEAN ECONOMIC AREA (OTHER THAN MALTA), 

THE NEW ORDINARY SHARES MAY ONLY BE OFFERED, SOLD OR DELIVERED TO, SUBJECT TO CERTAIN EXCEPTIONS, AND ACCEPTED BY 

“QUALIFIED INVESTORS” (AS DEFINED IN THE PROSPECTUS REGULATION) OR IN OTHER CIRCUMSTANCES FALLING WITHIN ARTICLE 3(2) 

OF THE PROSPECTUS REGULATION. IN ALL CASES THE MAKING OF THE ISSUE OF THE NEW ORDINARY SHARES IN SUCH CIRCUMSTANCES 

SHALL NOT REQUIRE THE PUBLICATION BY THE ISSUER OR ANY OTHER PERSON OF A PROSPECTUS PURSUANT TO ARTICLE 3 OF THE 

PROSPECTUS REGULATION. 

THIS REGISTRATION DOCUMENT AND ALL AGREEMENTS, ACCEPTANCES AND CONTRACTS RESULTING THEREFROM SHALL BE 

GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF MALTA AND ANY PERSON ACQUIRING ANY NEW ORDINARY 

SHARES PURSUANT TO THE PROSPECTUS SHALL SUBMIT TO THE JURISDICTION OF THE MALTESE COURTS, WITHOUT LIMITING IN 

ANY MANNER THE RIGHT OF THE ISSUER TO BRING ANY ACTION, SUIT OR PROCEEDING, IN ANY OTHER COMPETENT JURISDICTION, 

ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH ANY PURCHASE OF NEW ORDINARY SHARES, OR AGREEMENT, ACCEPTANCE OR CONTRACT 

RESULTING HEREFROM, OR THE PROSPECTUS AS A WHOLE. 

APPLICATION HAS BEEN MADE TO THE MALTA FINANCIAL SERVICES AUTHORITY FOR THE APPROVAL OF THE PROSPECTUS AND FOR 

THE ADMISSION OF THE NEW ORDINARY SHARES BEING ISSUED BY VIRTUE OF THE ISSUE ON A REGULATED MARKET. APPLICATION HAS 

ALSO BEEN MADE TO THE MSE, FOR THESE SHARES TO BE ADMITTED TO THE OFFICIAL LIST OF THE MSE. 

IMPORTANT INFORMATION
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THE VALUE OF INVESTMENTS CAN FALL AS WELL AS RISE AND PAST PERFORMANCE IS NOT NECESSARILY INDICATIVE OF FUTURE 
PERFOMANCE. INVESTORS MAY LOSE ALL OR PART OF THEIR CAPITAL INVESTED IN THE COMPANY’S SECURITIES. PROSPECTIVE 
INVESTORS ARE URGED TO CONSULT A LICENSED STOCKBROKER OR AN INVESTMENT ADVISER LICENCED UNDER THE 
INVESTMENT SERVICES ACT (CAP. 370 OF THE LAWS OF MALTA) PRIOR TO INVESTING IN SECURITIES ISSUED BY THE COMPANY.

STATEMENTS MADE IN THIS REGISTRATION DOCUMENT ARE, EXCEPT WHERE OTHERWISE STATED, BASED ON THE LAW AND PRACTICE 

CURRENTLY IN FORCE IN MALTA AND ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGES THERETO.

A COPY OF THIS REGISTRATION DOCUMENT HAS BEEN SUBMITTED TO THE MALTA FINANCIAL SERVICES AUTHORITY IN SATISFACTION 

OF THE CAPITAL MARKETS RULES, THE MSE IN SATISFACTION OF THE MSE BYE-LAWS AND HAS BEEN DULY FILED WITH THE MALTA 

BUSINESS REGISTRY IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE COMPANIES ACT (CAP. 386 OF THE LAWS OF MALTA).

IN TERMS OF ARTICLE 12(1) OF THE PROSPECTUS REGULATION, THIS REGISTRATION DOCUMENT SHALL REMAIN VALID FOR A 
PERIOD OF TWELVE MONTHS FROM 25 OCTOBER 2021, BEING THE DATE OF THE APPROVAL BY THE MALTA FINANCIAL SERVICES 
AUTHORITY. THE COMPANY IS OBLIGED TO PUBLISH A SUPPLEMENT ONLY IN THE EVENT OF SIGNIFICANT NEW FACTORS, 
MATERIAL MISTAKE OR MATERIAL INACCURACY RELATING TO THE INFORMATION IN THE PROSPECTUS WHICH MAY AFFECT THE 
ASSESSMENT OF THE SECURITIES AND WHICH ARISES OR IS NOTED BETWEEN THE TIME WHEN THE PROSPECTUS IS APPROVED 
AND THE CLOSING OF THE ISSUE PERIOD OR THE TIME WHEN TRADING ON A REGULATED MARKET COMMENCES, WHICHEVER 
OCCURS LATER.
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DEFINITIONS 

In this Registration Document the following words and expressions shall bear the following meanings whenever such words and expressions 
are used in their capitalised form, except where the context otherwise requires:

Act the Companies Act (Cap. 386 of the laws of Malta);

Capital Markets Rules the capital markets rules issued by the Malta Financial Services Authority as may be 

amended and/or supplemented from time to time;

Company or Issuer Hili Properties p.l.c., a public limited liability company with company registration number 

��ȁȃȅȁȀ��Ä��©�õ¬Ä¤�¬æÞ�Ú�¤¬Þæ�Ú���ËĆ����æ�D¬Ä�æ��Ä�cö�Äæü�c©Ú��ɇ�r�½½�ææ��YË��ɇ�C�ÚÞ��

MRS 3000, Malta;

Directors the directors of the Company whose names are set out in section 6 of this Registration 

Document. Collectively, the Directors form the board of Directors of the Company 

(hereinafter, the “Board” or “Board of Directors”);

Euro or € the lawful currency of the Republic of Malta; 

Exchange, Malta Stock Exchange or MSE Malta Stock Exchange p.l.c. as originally constituted in terms of the Financial Markets 

Act (Cap. 345 of the laws of Malta) bearing company registration number C 42525 and 

©�õ¬Ä¤�¬æÞ�Ú�¤¬Þæ�Ú���ËĆ����æ�&�ÚÚ¬ÞËÄ��©�×�½ɇ���Þæ¬½½��V½���ɇ�r�½½�ææ��r=c�ǽǼȂǿɇ�C�½æ�ɑ

Existing Ordinary Share/s the shares having a nominal value of €0.20 per share in the Company prior to the Issue;

Group the Company and the Subsidiaries;

Hili Ventures Hili Ventures Limited, a private limited liability company with company registration 

ÄêÃ��Ú���ȁȃȅǼǾ��Ä��©�õ¬Ä¤� ¬æÞ� Ú�¤¬Þæ�Ú���ËĆ����æ�D¬Ä�æ��Ä�cö�Äæü�c©Ú��ɇ�r�½½�ææ��

Road, Marsa MRS 3000, Malta;

Malta Financial Services Authority or MFSA the Malta Financial Services Authority, established in terms of the Financial Markets Act 

(Cap. 345 of the laws of Malta) as the competent authority to approve prospectuses of 

�Äü�Ëą�Ú�Ë£�Þ��êÚ¬æ¬�Þ�æË�æ©��×ê�½¬��¬Ä�C�½æ���Ä��æ©����Ã¬ÞÞ¬�¬½¬æü�Ë£�Þ��êÚ¬æ¬�Þ�æË���½Ë��½�

regulated market;

Memorandum and Articles of Association 

or M&A

the memorandum and articles of association of the Company in force at the date of the 

Prospectus. The terms “Memorandum” and “Articles” shall be construed accordingly;

New Ordinary Shares 185,185,185 new ordinary shares having a nominal value of €0.20 per share in the 

Company to be issued by the Company pursuant to the Issue;

JĆ�¬�½�=¬Þæ æ©�� ½¬Þæ�×Ú�×�Ú����Ä��×ê�½¬Þ©����ü�æ©��C]���Þ� ¬æÞ�ËĆ�¬�½� ½¬Þæ� ¬Ä����ËÚ��Ä���ö¬æ©�æ©��

MSE Bye-Laws;

Property each of the properties within the Group’s immovable property portfolio detailed in 

section 4.1 of this Registration Document and the term “Properties” shall collectively 

refer to all properties forming part of the Group’s immovable property portfolio;

Prospectus collectively, this Registration Document, the Securities Note and the Summary, as 

such documents may be amended, updated, replaced and/or supplemented from 

time to time;

Prospectus Regulation Commission Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of 14 June 2017 of the European Parliament 

�Ä��Ë£�æ©���ËêÄ�¬½�ËÄ�æ©��×ÚËÞ×��æêÞ�æË����×ê�½¬Þ©���ö©�Ä�Þ��êÚ¬æ¬�Þ��Ú��Ëą�Ú���æË�æ©��

public or admitted to trading on a regulated market, and repealing Directive 2003/71/

EC, as may be amended and/or supplemented from time to time;

Registration Document this registration document issued by the Company dated 25 October 2021, forming 

part of the Prospectus;

Securities Note the securities note dated 25 October 2021, forming part of the Prospectus; 

Shareholder/s a holder of shares registered in the Company’s register of members from time to time;

Shares the Existing Ordinary Shares and the New Ordinary Shares;
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Subsidiaries Hili Estates Limited (C 20513);

Hili Estates Holdings Company Limited (C 58254);

Premier Estates Limited (C 57813);

Hili Properties BV (Netherlands) (BV 50535145);

Premier Estates EESTI OÜ (Estonia) (11740668);

SIA Apex Investments (Latvia) (40003612223);

SIA DZ78 (Latvia) (40203242104);

SIA Premier Estates Ltd (Latvia) (40003993068);

SIA “Tirdzniecibas centrs “DOLE” (Latvia) (40003434873);

UAB Premier Estates Lietuva (Lithuania) (302483287);

Hili Premier Estates Romania (Romania) (RO 36741072); and

Premier Assets SRL (Romania) (RO38814243); 

Summary the summary dated 25 October 2021, forming part of the Prospectus; 

Valuers collectively Joe Bugeja & Associates, of Maple Leaf, Handaq Road, Handaq Industrial Estate, 

Qormi QRM 4000, Malta. The valuer is Mr Joe Bugega, M.Sc.(Lond), D.I.C., B.A.(Arch.), A. & C.E.; 

Bencini & Associates, of Design Centre, Level 1, Triq it-Torri C/W Triq il-Qattus, Swatar, BKR 4012, 

Malta. The valuer is Mr Kevin Bencini, B.E. & A. (Hons) A. & C.E.; 

Colliers Valuation and Advisory, of AFI Park Floreasca, 169A Floreasca Road, Building A, 2nd 

%½ËËÚɇ�JĆ���Ǿɇ��ê�©�Ú�Þæɇ�YËÃ�Ä¬�ɇ���¬Ä¤��Ä��D�r�Y��ËÚ×ËÚ�æ��Ã�Ã��Ú�ɚ¬��Äæ¬Ĉ��æ¬ËÄ�ÄËɌ�

ǼǿǿǼɛɌ�c©��¬Ä��×�Ä��Äæ�õ�½ê�ÚÞ��Ú���Ä�����½����ɚ�D�r�Y�¬��Äæ¬Ĉ��æ¬ËÄ�ÄËɌ�ǽǼȀȂȀɛ�ö¬æ©����]��

in Management from the Academy of Economic Studies, Bucharest, and Aurelia Stefania Bobe 

ɚ�D�r�Y�¬��Äæ¬Ĉ��æ¬ËÄ�ÄËɌ�ǽȄǿǽȄɛ�ö¬æ©���C]��¬Ä�%¬Ä�Ä�¬�½�C�Ä�¤�Ã�Äæ��Ä��.Äõ�ÞæÃ�ÄæÞ�£ÚËÃ�

the Academy of Economic Studies, Bucharest; 

�Ë½½¬�ÚÞ�.Äæ�ÚÄ�æ¬ËÄ�½���õ¬ÞËÚÞ�Jkɇ�Ë£�r�½êºË·��Ȅɇ�c�½½¬ÄÄɇ�ǽǽȀǽȁɇ��ÞæËÄ¬�Ɍ�c©��õ�½ê�ÚÞ��Ú����Úæ¬Ĉ���

r�½ê�Ú� �½�Ä�� ;êÞ½�×� ɚÙê�½¬Ĉ��æ¬ËÄ� ��Úæ¬Ĉ��æ�� Ë£� Ú��½� ×ÚË×�Úæü� õ�½ê�Ú� DËɌ� ǽȂȅȃǾȂ� ¬ÞÞê��� �ü�

;êæÞ�ºË���]�ɛ��Ä���ü�Y.�]�Y�¤¬Þæ�Ú����Ä����Úæ¬Ĉ����ÞæËÄ¬�Ä�Y��½�VÚË×�Úæü�r�½ê�Ú��½�ºÞ�Ä��Ú�

]¬�ê½ɇ�CY.�]ɇ�ɚÙê�½¬Ĉ��æ¬ËÄ���Úæ¬Ĉ��æ��Ë£�Ú��½�×ÚË×�Úæü�õ�½ê�Ú�DËɌ�ǼȂȅȃǼǾ�¬ÞÞê����ü�;êæÞ�ºË���

]�ɇ���Úæ¬Ĉ��æ��ÄË�ǽǽȂǽǿȃɛɑ�

Colliers International Advisors SIA , of Satekles 2B, Riga, LV-1050, Latvia, which is a company 

included in the List of Persons and Entities Entitled to Engage in External Valuations of Property 

�Ä���êÞ¬Ä�ÞÞɇ�ö¬æ©���Úæ¬Ĉ��æ��DËɌ�ǼǼǼǼȄǽɌ�c©��õ�½ê�ÚÞ��Ú��]�Ä�¬Þ�;êÚ¬½Ëõ¬�Þ�CY.�]���¬Ä¤���Y.�]�

Ú�¤¬Þæ�Ú���õ�½ê�Ú�ɚDËɌ�ȂȃǾȁȀǽǼɛ��Ä����=�æõ¬�Ä���Úæ¬Ĉ���Ú��½�×ÚË×�Úæü�õ�½ê�Ú�ɚ��ÚæɌ�DËɌǽǽȃɛɑ�9�Ä¬Þ�

JāË½Þ�CY.�]���¬Ä¤���Y.�]�Ú�¤¬Þæ�Ú���õ�½ê�Ú�ɚDËɌ�ȂǿȃǾȁǽǾɛ��Ä����=�æõ¬�Ä���Úæ¬Ĉ���Ú��½�×ÚË×�Úæü�

õ�½ê�Ú�ɚ��ÚæɌ�DËɌ�ȅȄɛɑ��Ä��.Ä¤Ú´���=�ā�¬È����¬Ä¤���=�æõ¬�Ä���Úæ¬Ĉ���Ú��½�×ÚË×�Úæü�õ�½ê�Ú�ɚ��ÚæɌ�

No.132); and

UAB Colliers International Advisors of BC12, J. Jasinskio Street 12, Vilnius LT-01112, Lithuania. The 

õ�½ê�ÚÞ��Ú���½�ºÞ�·�;�½�õ�©�õ¬Ä¤�Xê�½¬Ĉ��æ¬ËÄ���Úæ¬Ĉ��æ��Ë£�Y��½�VÚË×�Úæü�r�½ê�Ú�DËɌ���ǼǼǼǿȁȂɇ�

��æ���9êÄ��Ǿ�ǾǼǼȂɑ�Y�ÃêÄ���àº¬Ä¬�Ä��©�õ¬Ä¤�Xê�½¬Ĉ��æ¬ËÄ���Úæ¬Ĉ��æ��Ë£�Y��½�VÚË×�Úæü�r�½ê�ÚɹÞ�

Assistant No. A 001487, dated May 22, 2007.

All references in the Prospectus to “Malta” are to the “Republic of Malta”.

Unless it appears otherwise from the context: 

 (a) words importing the singular shall include the plural and vice versa; 

 (b) words importing the masculine gender shall include the feminine gender and vice versa; and

 (c) the word “may” shall be construed as permissive and the word “shall” shall be construed as imperative.



6  |  REGISTRATION DOCUMENT

1. RISK FACTORS 7

 1.1 Introduction 7

 1.2 Risk Factors 7

2. PERSONS RESPONSIBLE 9

3. ADVISERS AND STATUTORY AUDITORS 9

 3.1 Advisers 9

 3.2 Statutory Auditors 9

4. INFORMATION ABOUT THE COMPANY, PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND INVESTMENTS 10

 4.1 Principal Activities 11

 4.2 Investments of the Company 14

5. TREND INFORMATION 15

 5.1 Analysis of Current Trends Impacting the Business and the Market 15

 5.2 The Issuer’s Strategy and Imminent Investments 15

 5.3 Long Term Trends and Growth Potential 17

6. ADMINISTRATIVE, MANAGEMENT AND SUPERVISORY BODIES AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT 17

 6.1 The Board 17

 6.2 Senior Management of the Company 18

� ȂɌǿ� VËæ�Äæ¬�½��ËÄĉ¬�æÞ�Ë£�.Äæ�Ú�Þæ� ǽȅ

 6.4 Declaration 19

7. MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS 19

8. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 19

9. FINANCIAL INFORMATION 20

 9.1 Historical Financial Information 21

 9.2 Interim Information 23

� ȅɌǿ� VÚËĈæ�%ËÚ���ÞæÞ� Ǿȁ

� ȅɌȀ� ]¬¤Ä¬Ĉ��Äæ��©�Ä¤��¬Ä�æ©���ËÃ×�ÄüɹÞ�%¬Ä�Ä�¬�½�VËÞ¬æ¬ËÄ� ǾȄ

 9.5 Dividend Policy 28

10. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 29

 10.1 Legal and Arbitration Proceedings 29

 10.2 Share Capital 29

11. MATERIAL CONTRACTS 29

12. DISCLOSURE UNDER MARKET ABUSE REGULATIONS 29

13. THIRD PARTY INFORMATION, STATEMENT BY EXPERTS AND DECLARATIONS OF ANY INTEREST 30

 13.1 Property Valuation Report 30

 13.2 Accountant’s Report 30

� ǽǿɌǿ� �ËÄĈÚÃ�æ¬ËÄÞ� ǿǼ

 13.4 Interest of Experts and Advisers 30

14. DOCUMENTS ON DISPLAY 30

ANNEX I - DETAILS OF DIRECTORS, COMPANY SECRETARY AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT 31

ANNEX II - PROPERTY VALUATION REPORTS 34

ANNEX III - PROFIT FORECASTS AND ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT 83

TABLE OF CONTENTS



7  |  REGISTRATION DOCUMENT

1. RISK FACTORS

1.1  INTRODUCTION 

PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS SHOULD CAREFULLY CONSIDER WITH THEIR OWN INDEPENDENT FINANCIAL AND OTHER 
PROFESSIONAL ADVISERS THE FOLLOWING RISK FACTORS AND OTHER INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS, AS WELL AS ALL 
THE OTHER INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS REGISTRATION DOCUMENT, BEFORE MAKING ANY INVESTMENT DECISION 
WITH RESPECT TO THE ISSUE AND THE COMPANY. SOME OF THESE RISKS ARE SUBJECT TO CONTINGENCIES WHICH MAY 
OR MAY NOT OCCUR AND THE COMPANY IS NOT IN A POSITION TO EXPRESS ANY VIEWS ON THE LIKELIHOOD OF ANY SUCH 
CONTINGENCIES OCCURRING. THE SEQUENCE IN WHICH THE RISKS BELOW ARE LISTED IS INTENDED TO BE INDICATIVE OF 
THE ORDER OF PRIORITY AND OF THE EXTENT OF THEIR CONSEQUENCES.

IF ANY OF THE RISKS DESCRIBED BELOW WERE TO MATERIALISE, THEY COULD HAVE A SERIOUS EFFECT ON THE COMPANY’S 
FINANCIAL RESULTS AND TRADING PROSPECTS. THE RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES DISCUSSED BELOW ARE THOSE IDENTIFIED 
AS SUCH BY THE DIRECTORS, BUT THESE RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES MAY NOT BE THE ONLY ONES THAT THE COMPANY FACES. 
ADDITIONAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES, INCLUDING THOSE WHICH THE DIRECTORS ARE NOT CURRENTLY AWARE OF, MAY 
WELL RESULT IN A MATERIAL IMPACT ON THE FINANCIAL CONDITION AND OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE OF THE COMPANY.

THIS REGISTRATION DOCUMENT IS NOT INTENDED TO CONSTITUTE, AND SHOULD NOT BE CONSTRUED AS CONSTITUTING, A 
RECOMMENDATION BY THE COMPANY, THE ADVISERS LISTED IN SECTION 3 OR ANY AUTHORISED FINANCIAL INTERMEDIARY 
TO PURCHASE THE NEW ORDINARY SHARES. PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS SHOULD MAKE THEIR OWN INDEPENDENT EVALUATION 
OF ALL RISK FACTORS AND SHOULD CONSIDER ALL OTHER SECTIONS OF THE PROSPECTUS.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

The Prospectus includes statements that are, or may be deemed to be, ‘‘forward-looking statements’’. These forward-looking 
statements can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology, including the terms ‘‘believes’’, ‘‘estimates’’, ‘‘anticipates’’, 
‘‘expects’’, ‘‘intends’’, ‘‘may’’, ‘‘will’’ or ‘‘should’’ or, in each case, their negative or other variations or comparable terminology. These 
forward-looking statements relate to matters that are not historical facts. They appear in a number of places within the Prospectus 
and include statements regarding the intentions, beliefs or current expectations of the Company and/ or the Directors concerning, 
amongst other things, the Company’s strategy and business plans, results of operations, financial condition, liquidity, prospects, 
dividend policy of the Company and the market in which it operates.

By their nature, forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties because they relate to events and depend on 
circumstances that may or may not occur in the future. Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance 
and should therefore not be construed as such. The Company’s actual results of operations, financial condition, liquidity, dividend 
policy and the development of its strategy may differ materially from the impression created by the forward-looking statements 
contained in the Prospectus. In addition, even if the results of operations, financial condition, liquidity and dividend policy of the 
Company are consistent with the forward-looking statements contained in the Prospectus, those results or developments may not 
be indicative of results or developments in subsequent periods. Important factors that may cause these differences include, but 
are not limited to, changes in economic conditions, legislative and regulatory developments, changes in fiscal regimes and the 
availability of suitable financing.

Potential investors are advised to read the Prospectus in its entirety, and, in particular, all the risk factors set out in this 
Registration Document, for a description of the factors that could vary the Company’s future performance. In the light 
of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the events described in the forward-looking statements in this document 
may not occur. All forward-looking statements contained in this document are made only as at the date hereof. Subject to 
applicable legal and regulatory obligations, the Company and its Directors expressly disclaim any obligations to update or 
revise any forward-looking statement contained herein to reflect any change in expectations with regard thereto or any 
change in events, conditions or circumstances on which any such statement is based.

1.2  RISK FACTORS

The Company and Group are exposed to risks relating to the acquisition and ownership of immovable property. The risks are 
provided on the basis of materiality, probability of occurrence as well as exposure stemming from: (i) the nature and purpose of the 
Company, resulting in its dependence on the Group; (ii) the market and business in which the Group operates; and (iii) as a result 
of the use of proceeds and the outlay connected therewith, the acquisition of immovable property.

1.2.1  Risks relating to the nature and purpose of the Issuer

A.  Issuer’s dependence on payments due from Subsidiaries may be affected by factors beyond the Issuer’s control

The Issuer is primarily a holding company and, as such, its assets consist primarily of loans granted to and investments held in 
Subsidiaries. Consequently, the Issuer is largely dependent on income derived from dividends from Subsidiaries and the receipt of 
interest and loan repayments from Subsidiaries. In this respect, the operating results of the Subsidiaries have a direct effect on the 
Issuer’s financial position and therefore the risks intrinsic in the business and operations of the Subsidiaries have a direct effect 
on the financial prospects of the Issuer. 

The dividends, interest payments and loan repayments to be effected by Subsidiaries are subject to certain risks. More specifically, 
the ability of Subsidiaries to effect payments to the Issuer will depend on the cash flows and earnings of the Subsidiaries, which 
may be restricted by changes in applicable laws and regulations, by the terms of agreements to which they are or may become 
party, including the indenture governing their existing indebtedness, if any, or by other factors beyond the control of the Issuer. 
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1.2.2  Risks relating to the market and business of the Issuer

A.  Dependence on tenants

The Group is dependent on tenants fulfilling their obligations under their lease agreements. The business, revenue and projected 
profits of the Group would be negatively impacted if tenants failed to honour their respective lease obligations. There can be no 
assurance that the tenants will honour their obligations, for different reasons such as insolvency, market or economic downturns, 
operational failure or other reasons which are beyond the Group’s control. Such failure may negatively affect the financial condition 
of the Group.

B.  The Group is subject to termination of lease agreements 

The Group is subject to the risk that tenants may terminate or elect not to renew their respective lease, either due to the expiration 
of the lease term or due to an early termination of the lease. In cases of early termination by tenants prior to the expiration of the 
lease term there is a risk of loss of rental income if the tenant is not replaced in a timely manner and/or on similar conditions which 
in turn could have a material negative effect on the Group’s results of operations.

C.  The Group may be subject to increases in operating and other expenses 

At present, operating expenses incurred by the Group are partially recharged to the tenants occupying the Group’s properties. 
Nonetheless, in future, the Group’s operating and other expenses could increase without a corresponding increase in revenue. The 
factors which could materially increase operating and other expenses include: (i) unforeseen increases in the costs of maintaining 
the property; and (ii) material increases in operating costs that may not be fully recoverable from tenants. 

D.  The Group may be impacted by changes in laws and regulations  

Changes in laws and regulations relevant to the Group’s business and operations could have an adverse impact on the Group’s 
business, results of operations, financial condition or prospects. 

E.  Impact of the recent COVID-19 pandemic on the Company’s general business operations

The continued or renewed imposition of preventative and containment measures as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and the 
exceptional speed of economic recovery disrupting logistic services, labour resources and broader services, have had, and are 
expected to continue to have, an impact on travel, supply chains and consumer demands giving rise to negative expectations 
relating to the properties managed and operated by the Group, with the susceptibility to a reduction in revenue as a result of 
discounts provided to tenants.

F.  Exposure to general market conditions 

The Group is exposed to risks inherent in the commercial real estate market and particularly to changes in market conditions in the 
commercial real estate market in the Baltics, Romania, Malta and any other market where the Group might invest going forward. 
Such risks may lead to an oversupply of space or a reduction in tenant demand for a particular type of property. Risks inherent in 
the commercial real estate market may also have an impact on the quality of property available; the ability of the Group to maintain 
its service charges and other expenditure and to control the cost of these items; the Company being able to buy, sell, operate or 
lease existing or new properties on favourable terms; and/or the potential illiquidity of property investments, particularly in times 
of economic downturn. All of the aforesaid risks may have a material adverse impact on the revenues of the Company, its financial 
performance and its overall financial condition.

G.  Cybersecurity risk

Failures or breaches of the electronic systems of the Company, its advisers and other service providers have the ability to cause 
disruptions, negatively impact the Company’s business operations and/or potentially result in financial losses to the Company. 
Irrespective of the business continuity plans and risk management systems in place that address system breaches or failures, 
there are inherent limitations in such plans and systems. Furthermore, the Company cannot control the cybersecurity plans and 
systems of any of the Company’s advisers and other service providers. 

1.2.3  Risks relating to the acquisition of immovable property

A.  Risks relating to the potential inability to conclude real estate investments  

The Group operates in a competitive environment and therefore the Company’s financial performance and future growth is partly 
dependent on the Group’s ability to acquire, sell and operate its assets on attractive and sustainable commercial terms. There can 
be no assurance that the Group will continue to be able to identify and acquire target assets on attractive commercial terms or 
even at all. This may have a material adverse impact on the Company’s future growth and prospects, as well as on its financial 
performance and its overall financial condition.

B.  Fluctuations in property values 

The Group is involved in the acquisition and disposal of immovable property. Property values are affected by and may fluctuate, 
inter alia, as a result of changing demand, changes in general economic conditions, changing supply within a particular area of 
competing space and attractiveness of real estate relative to other investment choices. The value of the Group’s property portfolio 
may also fluctuate as a result of other factors outside the Group’s control, such as changes in regulatory requirements and 
applicable laws (including in relation to taxation and planning), political conditions, the condition of financial markets, potential 
adverse tax consequences, interest and inflation rate fluctuations and higher accounting and control expenses. The Group’s 
operating performance could be adversely affected by a downturn in the property market in terms of capital values. 

The valuation of property and property-related assets is inherently subjective. Moreover, all property valuations are made on the 
basis of assumptions which may not prove to reflect the true position. There is no assurance that the valuations of the properties 
and property-related assets will reflect actual market process. 
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C.  Real estate investments are illiquid 

As property is a relatively illiquid asset, such illiquidity may affect the Group’s ability to vary its portfolio or dispose of or liquidate 
part thereof in a timely manner and at satisfactory prices in response to changes in economic, real estate market or other conditions 
or the exercise by tenants of their contractual rights such as those which enable them to vacate properties occupied by them prior 
to, or at, the expiration of the lease term. These factors could have an adverse effect on the Group’s financial condition and results. 

D.  The Group’s level of debt 

The Group’s ability to implement its respective business strategies is dependent upon, amongst other things, their ability to 
generate sufficient funds internally and to access continued financing at acceptable costs. 

2. PERSONS RESPONSIBLE

The Directors, whose names appear in section 6 of this Registration Document under the sub-heading ‘Administrative, Management 
and Supervisory Bodies and Senior Management’, are the persons responsible for the information contained in this Registration 
Document. 

To the best of the knowledge and belief of the Directors (who have all taken reasonable care to ensure such is the case), the 
information contained in this Registration Document is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the 
import of such information. The Directors accept responsibility accordingly.

3.  ADVISERS AND STATUTORY AUDITORS

3.1 ADVISERS 

LEGAL COUNSEL

Name: Mamo TCV Advocates

Address: 103, Palazzo Pietro Stiges, Strait Street, 
Valletta VLT 1436, Malta

SPONSOR & JOINT MANAGER

Name: Calamatta Cuschieri Investment Services Limited

Address: Ewropa Business Centre, Triq Dun Karm, 
Birkirkara BKR 9034, Malta

REGISTRAR & JOINT MANAGER

Name: Bank of Valletta p.l.c.

Address: 58, Zachary Street, Valletta VLT 1130 Malta

3.2 STATUTORY AUDITORS

Name: Grant Thornton

Address: Fort Business Centre 
Triq L-Intornjatur, Zone 1,
Central Business District
Birkirkara CBD 1050, 
Malta

&Ú�Äæ�c©ËÚÄæËÄ�¬Þ���ĈÚÃ�Ú�¤¬Þæ�Ú����Þ���×�ÚæÄ�ÚÞ©¬×�Ë£���Úæ¬Ĉ���×ê�½¬�����ËêÄæ�ÄæÞ�©Ë½�¬Ä¤���×Ú��æ¬Þ¬Ä¤���Úæ¬Ĉ��æ��æË���æ��Þ��ê�¬æËÚÞ�¬Ä�æ�ÚÃÞ�

of the Accountancy Profession Act (Cap. 281 of the laws of Malta), with accountancy board registration number AB/26/84/22.
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4. INFORMATION ABOUT THE COMPANY, PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND INVESTMENTS

Legal Name of Company Hili Properties p.l.c.

Registered Address Nineteen Twenty Three, Valletta Road, Marsa MRS 3000, Malta

Place of Registration and Domicile Malta

Registration Number C 57954

=�¤�½��Äæ¬æü�.��Äæ¬Ĉ�Ú� ȂǿȁȀǼǼYxcJȁX+9ȃȄC�ȅǼ

Date of Registration 23 October 2012

Legal Form The Company is lawfully existing and registered as a public limited liability company in 

 terms of the Act

Telephone No +356 2568 1200

Email Address info@hiliproperties.com

Website https://www.hiliproperties.com*

* The information on the website does not form any part of the Prospectus unless that information is incorporated by reference into the Prospectus.

As at the date of this Registration Document, the Group structure is as follows:

100%

99.99995 %99.9998 %

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Hili Properties p.l.c. (C 57954)
(Malta)

Hili Estates Holdings Company 
Limited (C 58254) Malta 

UAB Premier Estates Lietuva 
(302483287) 

Lithuania

SIA Premier Estates Limited 
(40003993068) 

Latvia 

SIA Apex Investments 
(40003612223)

Latvia 

SIA “Dz78”
(40203242104) 

Latvia 

Premier Estates EESTI 
OU (11740668)  

Estonia 

Premier Assets SRL
(Romania) (RO38814243)

Hili Properties (BV 50535145)
(The Netherlands) 

Hili Estates 
Limited 

(C 20513) | 
Malta

Premier 
Estates 
Limited 

(C 57813) | 
Malta

Hili Premier Estates Romania 
(Romania) (RO36741072) 

].��ɶc¬Ú�āÄ¬��´��Þ���ÄæÚÞ�
“DOLE”

(40003434873) 
Latvia 

| Hili Ventures Limited holds 1 ordinary share. Hili Properties plc holds 3,456,441 redeemable preference shares

| Carmelo Caruana Company Limited holds 1 ordinary share, Hili Properties p.l.c. holds 2,116,748 redeemable preference shares
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4.1 PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Issuer’s principal activity is to act as a property holding company. The Issuer and the Subsidiaries act as property investment companies that own 

and manage the properties. The objective of the Issuer is to purchase or otherwise acquire, under any title whatsoever and to hold and manage, by 

any title, movable and immovable property or other assets. The Issuer’s strategy is to own and manage a property portfolio that delivers income and 

��×¬æ�½�¤ÚËöæ©�æ©ÚËê¤©���æ¬õ���ÞÞ�æ�Ã�Ä�¤�Ã�ÄæɌ�c©��.ÞÞê�Ú�Ú�½¬�Þ�ËÄ���æ¬õ���ÞÞ�æ�Ã�Ä�¤�Ã�Äæ�æË�Ã�û¬Ã¬Þ��Ë×�Ú�æ¬Ä¤��Ć�¬�Ä�ü��Ä��×ÚËĈæ��¬½¬æüɌ�

c©�� .ÞÞê�Úɇ��Þ�Ë£�æ©����æ��Ë£�æ©¬Þ�Y�¤¬ÞæÚ�æ¬ËÄ��Ë�êÃ�Äæɇ�ËöÄÞ��Ä��Ã�Ä�¤�Þ����¬õ�ÚÞ¬Ĉ���×ÚË×�Úæü�×ËÚæ£Ë½¬Ëɇ��¬Ú��æ½ü��Ä�� ¬Ä�¬Ú��æ½ü�æ©ÚËê¤©� ¬æÞ�

Subsidiaries. The portfolio comprises of properties in Romania, Malta, Latvia, Lithuania and Estonia and includes a variety of multi-tenanted shopping 

��ÄæÚ�Þ�©ËêÞ¬Ä¤�Þê×�ÚÃ�Úº�æÞ��Ä��Ëæ©�Ú�æ�Ä�ÄæÞɇ����¬��æ����êÞ¬Ä�ÞÞ��½Ë�ºÞ��Ä��ËĆ���Þ×���ɇ���©��½æ©��Ú��£��¬½¬æü��Ä��×ÚË×�Úæü�©ËêÞ¬Ä¤�Ú�Þæ�êÚ�ÄæÞ�

in key commercial districts within these territories.

The current assets owned by the Group total circa 75,466 m² of rentable real estate. The Group’s current occupancy level is 99% with a weighted 

average unexpired lease term (WAULT) of 8.8 years. 

c©��&ÚËê×ɹÞ� ×ÚË×�Úæü�×ËÚæ£Ë½¬Ë� ¬Þ� �¬õ�ÚÞ¬Ĉ��� ��ÚËÞÞ� ��ÄêÃ��Ú� Ë£� �ÞÞ�æ� æü×�Þ� �Ä��¤�Ë¤Ú�×©¬��½� Ú�¤¬ËÄÞɇ� �Þ�ÄËæ��� æ©ÚËê¤©� æ©��¤Ú�×©¬��½� �©�ÚæÞ�

presented below.

Geographical Analysis of Investment 

Property Value

Investment Property by 

Category of Asset 

Latvia

34%

34%

21%

24%

23%

27%

4%

32%

1%

Romania Malta Lithuania Estonia JĆ�� Restaurants Retail Other
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The Property Portfolio

Name of Property Location Description Rentable Area (m2) Valuation as at 
31.08.2021 (€’000) 

Occupancy rate (%) 
as at 31.08.2021

Imanta Restaurant Riga, Latvia Restaurant (with 

drive thru)

2,709 2,160 100

Vienibas Restaurant Riga, Latvia Restaurant (with 

drive thru)

3,497 2,100 100

Ulmana Restaurant Riga, Latvia Restaurant (with 

drive thru)

2,000 1,740 100

Dainava Restaurant Kaunas, Lithuania Restaurant (with 

drive thru)

3,021 2,200 100

Svajone Restaurant Vilnius, Lithuania Restaurant (with 

drive thru)

580 2,520 100

Parnu Restaurant Parnu, Estonia Restaurant (with 

drive thru)

1,803 1,600 100

Supermarket and 

Retail Centre

Nicgales Street 2, 

Riga, Latvia

Retail 2,890 7,725 100

Supermarket and 

Retail Centre

Augusta 

Dombrovska Street 

23, Riga, Latvia

Retail 4,365 5,540 100

Supermarket and 

Retail Centre

Vienibas Ave. 95, 

Riga, Latvia

Retail 1,343 1,540 91

Supermarket and 

Retail Centre

Kreimenu Street 4A, 

Riga, Latvia

Retail 953 1,190 100

Shopping Centre Dzelzavas Street 78, 

Riga, Latvia

Retail 3,448 6,730 94

Maskavas Street 357 Riga, Latvia Retail 8,039 10,890 97

Maskavas Street 357 Riga, Latvia Land n/a 150 n/a

Nineteen Twenty 

Three Building

Luqa, Malta JĆ���Þ×���ɒ�

warehousing 

facilities

5,535 16,900 100

Transport House Floriana, Malta JĆ���Þ×��� 900 2,500 100

Villa Marika Madliena, Malta Private residence n/a 3,700 n/a

Y�Þæ�êÚ�Äæ�ʐ�ËĆ��Þ Sliema, Malta Restaurant and 

ËĆ���Þ×���

1,518 8,200 100

Selgros Restaurant Bucharest, Romania Restaurant (with 

drive thru)

1,499 2,169 100

Bragadiru 

Restaurant

Bucharest, Romania Restaurant (with 

drive thru)

2,700 1,913 100

Albu Bucharest, Romania Restaurant (with 

drive thru)

1,185 1,317 100

Santu Mare Bucharest, Romania Restaurant (with 

drive thru)

1,346 1,360 100

Brasov-Coresi 

Restaurant

Bucharest, Romania Restaurant (with 

drive thru)

2,070 1,879 100

Art Business Centre 7 Bucharest, Romania +ËÞ×¬æ�½��Ä��ËĆ���

space

24,065 29,800 100

Total 75,466 115,823 99%
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An overview of each Property is set out below:

(i) Imanta restaurant, Riga, Latvia

The Imanta property consists of a plot of land and a building constructed thereon. The site is located in Kurzemes Prospekts 3, Imanta, a residential 

neighbourhood of Riga inhabited by approximately 44,000 residents.

(ii) Vienibas restaurant, Riga, Latvia

The Vienibas property consists of a plot of land and a building constructed thereon. The site is located at 115A Vienibas Avenue, which is situated 

outside the centre of Riga and on one of the busiest exit streets (A8/E77), and is around 7km away from the centre and old town of Riga.

(iii) Ulmana restaurant, Riga, Latvia

The Ulmana property consists of a plot of land and a building constructed thereon. The site is located at 88, Karla Ulmana Street, which is situated 

outside the centre of Riga and on one of the busiest exit streets (A10/E22), and is around 7 km away from the centre and old town of Riga. 

(iv) Dainava restaurant, Kaunas, Lithuania

The Dainava property consists of a plot of land, a building structure constructed thereon, and an ancillary building that operates as a car park. The 

site is located in Pramones Ave. 8B, Kaunas, which is in the vicinity of three shopping centres, a petrol station, and a fast food restaurant.

(v) Svajone restaurant, Vilnius, Lithuania

The Svajone property consists of a property located within a larger building complex with the intended use of providing catering services. The 

building is constructed on a state-owned land plot and is located at 15, Gedimino Avenue, a prestigious location in the centre of Vilnius in V. Kurika’s 

square.

(vi) Parnu restaurant, Estonia

The Parnu property consists of a plot of land and a building constructed thereon. The property is located at 74, Tallinna Maante, Parnu, an area 

outside the city centre next to a two-lane road at the entrance to Parnu from Tallinn.

(vii) Wholesale & retail trade building, Nicgales Street, Riga, Latvia 

The property is constructed on a 16,785m² plot. The property is located in a zone of the largest district of the Riga called Purvciems, on the east bank 

of the Daugava River and by approximately 60,000 residents. The property is currently used as a retail and shopping centre.

(viii) Supermarket and Retail Centre, Augusta Dombrovska Street, Riga, Latvia

c©��×ÚË×�Úæü�¬Þ��ËÄÞæÚê�æ���ËÄ��Ä�ȄɇǿȂȄÃȰ�×½ËæɌ�c©��×ÚË×�Úæü�¬Þ�½Ë��æ���¬Ä���×�Úæ�Ë£�Y¬¤��ºÄËöÄ��Þ�r��Ã´½¤Ú�õ´Þ�¬Ä�æ©��ÄËÚæ©�ÚÄ�×�Úæ�Ë£�æ©���¬æüɇ�Ä��Ú�

æ©��ÃËêæ©�Ë£�æ©����ê¤�õ��Y¬õ�ÚɌ�c©��×ÚË×�Úæü�¬Þ��êÚÚ�Äæ½ü�êÞ����Þ���Ú�æ�¬½��Ä��Þ©Ë××¬Ä¤���ÄæÚ��ö¬æ©�ǿǿ�æ�Ä�ÄæÞ��Ä���Ä·ËüÞ�Þ¬¤Ä¬Ĉ��Äæ�£ËËæ£�½½Ɍ

(ix) Supermarket and Retail Centre, Vienibas Street, Riga, Latvia

c©��×ÚË×�Úæü�¬Þ��ËÄÞæÚê�æ���ËÄ���ȂɇȂȃǼÃȰ�×½ËæɌ�c©��×ÚË×�Úæü�¬Þ�½Ë��æ���¬Ä��æ¤�ā�Ä��¬Ä�æ©��ÞËêæ©�Ë£�Y¬¤�ɇ�ËÄ�æ©��ö�Þæ���Äº�Ë£�æ©����ê¤�õ��Y¬õ�ÚɌ

ɚûɛ�]ê×�ÚÃ�Úº�æ��Ä��Y�æ�¬½���ÄæÚ�ɇ�;Ú�¬Ã�Èê�]æÚ��æɇ�Y¬¤�ɇ�=�æõ¬�

The property is constructed on a 3,733m2�×½Ëæ��Ä��½�Ä��×½Ëæ�½��Þ���ȀǾǾÃɌ�c©��×ÚË×�Úæü�¬Þ�½Ë��æ���¬Ä�r��Ã´½¤Ú�õ¬Þɇ���æËöÄ�¬Ä�æ©��DËÚæ©�Ë£�Y¬¤��Ä��Ú�

the mouth of the Daugava River.

(xi) Shopping Centre, Dzelzavas Street, Riga, Latvia

The footprint of the property measures 8,062m² and is located in Purvciems, in the west of Riga on the east bank of the Daugava River. During 

FY2018, the property was demolished and re-development works commenced to construct a shopping centre at an estimated cost of circa €4.3m.

(xii) Dole, Retail Centre, Maskavas Street 357, Riga, Latvia

The property is a four-storey building having 8,000m² of gross intended leasable area and is occupied by more than 60 tenants. Dole is situated in the 

Kengarags neighbourhood, one of Riga’s southern suburbs with an extensive catchment area and is inhabited by approximately 50,000 residents.

(xiii) Nineteen Twenty Three, Valletta Road, Marsa, Malta

c©��×ÚË×�Úæüɇ��ê¬½æ�ËÄ���×½Ëæ��Ú���Ë£�ǾɇȁȄȁÃȰɇ�¬Þ���õ�½Ë×���Ã�¬Ä½ü��Þ��Ä�ËĆ����½Ë�º�ö¬æ©�×�Úæ�Ë£�æ©��×Ú�Ã¬Þ�Þ��æ�¤ÚËêÄ���Ä��¬Äæ�ÚÃ��¬�æ��½�õ�½Þ�

used as a warehouse/storage area. The building is sited at the periphery of the industrial park in Luqa/Marsa. The property is 100% leased out, 

predominantly to a number of companies forming part of the Hili Ventures group.
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(xiv) Transport House, Triq San Frangisk, Floriana, Malta

The property is located in a central area in Floriana and comprises of a three-storey building, a receded penthouse, and two interconnected 

�×�ÚæÃ�ÄæÞ�ËÄ�æ©��ĈÚÞæ��Ä��Þ��ËÄ��ĉËËÚÞɇ��½½�£ËÚ�êÞ���Þ�ËĆ���Þ×���Ɍ

(xv) Villa Marika, High Ridge, Madliena

c©��×ÚË×�Úæü��ËÄÞ¬ÞæÞ�Ë£���£ê½½üɬ��æ��©����êÄ¤�½Ëö�½Ë��æ���¬Ä���×Ú¬Ã��½Ë��æ¬ËÄ�¬Ä�+¬¤©�Y¬�¤�ɇ�C��½¬�Ä��ö¬æ©���Þê×�ÚĈ�¬�½��Ú���Ë£�circa 1,250m. The 

Group intends to dispose of this property by the end of 2022.

ɚûõ¬ɛ�Y�Þæ�êÚ�Äæ��Ä��Ëõ�Ú½ü¬Ä¤�ËĆ��ɇ�]½¬�Ã�ɇ�C�½æ�

c©��×ÚË×�Úæü�¬Ä�]½¬�Ã��¬Þ�½��Þ����Þ��Ä�Ëêæ½�æ��æ�¤ÚËêÄ���Ä��Ã�āā�Ä¬Ä��½�õ�½Þɇ��Ä��æ©��ĈÚÞæ�ĉËËÚ�¬Þ��ËÃ×½�æ����Þ�ËĆ���Þ×�����Ä��Ú�Äæ���Ëêæ�æË���æ©¬Ú��

party. The premises forms part of a development block overlooking two streets, namely The Strand, Sliema at the waterfront and Sqaq il-Fawwara, 

Sliema at the back of the property.

(xvii) Selgros Restaurant, Bucharest, Romania

The Berceni Selgros restaurant commenced operations on 21 November 2018. It is a drive-thru restaurant located in a busy area in the 4th district 

of Bucharest.

(xviii) Bragadiru, Bucharest, Romania

The Bragadiru restaurant is a drive-thru restaurant located on a busy road in a town called Bragadiru, which is 10km from Bucharest. The restaurant 

initiated operations on 31 December 2018.

(xix) Alba lulia Restaurant, Alba, Romania

The Alba lulia restaurant commenced operations on 21 December 2019. It is a drive-thru restaurant located near the city centre of Alba lulia, in the 

×Ú�Ã¬Þ�Þ�Ë£�;�êĉ�Ä��×�Úº¬Ä¤��Ú��ɇ�¬Ä�æ©����ÄæÚ�½�×�Úæ�Ë£�æ©���ËêÄæÚüɇ�¬Ä��½����ËêÄæüɌ

(xx) Satu Mare Restaurant, Satu Mare, Romania

The Satu Mare restaurant commenced operations on 30 December 2019. It is a drive-thru restaurant located near the city centre of Satu Mare in the 

northern part of the country, in Satu Mare County.

(xxii) Brasov-Coresi Restaurant, Turnului, Romania

The Coresi Brasov restaurant commenced operations on 31 March 2021. It is a drive-thru restaurant near the city centre of Brasov, in the central part 

of the country, in Coresi District, in Brasov County.

(xxi) ART Business Centre, Bucharest, Romania

c©��×ÚË×�Úæü�¬Þ�½Ë��æ���¬Ä�æ©���ćê�Äæ�DËÚ�ê½ê¬�Ä�¬¤©�ËêÚ©ËË��¬Ä�ÄËÚæ©�ÚÄ��ê�©�Ú�ÞæɌ�c©��Ä¬Ä�ɬÞæËÚ�ü�×ÚË×�Úæü�©�Þ���£ËËæ×Ú¬Äæ�Ë£�ǿɇȀǼǼÃȰ��Ä��

comprises of circa 24,000m² of gross leasable area of circa 5,000m2�Ë£�Ë£�ö©¬�©�¬Þ�ÞæËÚ�¤��Þ×���Ɍ�c©��æ©Ú���êÄ��Ú¤ÚËêÄ��ĉËËÚÞ����ËÃÃË��æ��ȀǼȃ�

parking spaces. The property is fully leased out and its anchor tenant is Ponderas Academic Hospital which was recently taken over by the Regina 

Maria Private Healthcare Network, Romania’s largest private health care network. It is to be noted that there is a discrepancy between the built area of 

the building and the area authorised under the relevant building permit. However, the building’s compliance with the construction requirements has 

been ascertained by the local authorities and the building and ownership rights thereon are duly registered with the Land Book. Following a thorough 

assessment, it was concluded that the likelihood of issues arising from the aforementioned discrepancy is remote.

Harbour (APM) Investments Limited

As further explained in section 4.2 of this Registration Document, Harbour (APM) Investments Limited, a Hili Ventures group company, owns land 

Benghajsa, Malta. The property, which measures circa�ȅǾɇǼǼǼÃȰɇ��ËÃ×Ú¬Þ�Þ���ÄêÃ��Ú�Ë£�Þ¬æ�Þ��æ���Ä¤©�·Þ���Ä��¬Þ�ĉ�Äº����ü�æ©��%Ú��×ËÚæ��Ä��¬æÞ�

Þ�Úõ¬���ÚË���æË�æ©��DËÚæ©��Þæɇ��ü�+�½�%�Ú�YË���æË�æ©��DËÚæ©ö�Þæɇ��ü�æ©��Ä�ö�=V&���×Ëæ��Ä��%ËÚæ���Ä¤©�·Þ��æË�æ©��]Ëêæ©��Ä���ü��¤Ú¬�ê½æêÚ�½�Ĉ�½�Þɇ�

Benghajsa village and Hal Far Industrial Estate beyond to the South.

4.2 INVESTMENTS OF THE COMPANY 

�êÚ¬Ä¤�æ©��ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�ü��Ú��Ä�¬Ä¤�ǿǽ�����Ã��Ú�ǾǼǾǼɇ�æ©��&ÚËê×��¬��ÄËæ���ÚÚü�Ëêæ��Äü�Ã�·ËÚ�¬Äõ�ÞæÃ�Äæ�æÚ�ÄÞ��æ¬ËÄÞ��êæ�©���æ©��£Ë½½Ëö¬Ä¤�ËêæÞæ�Ä�¬Ä¤�

commitments. 

On 25 August 2015, the Company entered into a promise of share purchase agreement (as subsequently amended) whereby it undertook to accept, 

purchase and acquire, 100% of the shares in Harbour (APM) Investments Limited for the sum of €25,000,000. Harbour (APM) Investments Limited 

ËöÄÞ�½�Ä���æ���Ä¤©�·Þ�ɇ�C�½æ�ɇ�õ�½ê����æ�æ©���£ËÚ�Ã�Äæ¬ËÄ���×êÚ�©�Þ��×Ú¬��Ɍ�c©��Þ¬æ�Þ�Ã�¬Ä½ü��ËÄÞ¬Þæ�Ë£�êÄ��õ�½Ë×����¤Ú¬�ê½æêÚ�½�Ĉ�½�Þ�©�õ¬Ä¤���

cumulative total area of approximately 92,000m². 
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In 2015, a 50% deposit was paid. In 2017, €12,000,000 of the remaining balance was settled, €5,000,000 of which was settled in cash and €7,000,000 

was settled pursuant to an assignment of debt to Hili Ventures Limited and subsequently capitalised in the share capital of the company.

�c©��ĈÄ�½������£ËÚ�æ©��æÚ�ÄÞ£�Ú�Ë£�Þ©�Ú�Þ�¬Þ�æË�����û��êæ����ü�ÄË�½�æ�Ú�æ©�Ä�æ©���Ä��Ë£�Xǽ�ǾǼǾǾɌ�]©Ëê½��æ©��õ�Ä�ËÚ�£�¬½�æË��××��Ú�ËÄ�æ©��ĈÄ�½�����ɇ�ËÚ�

Þ©Ëê½��æ©��ĈÄ�½������ÄËæ�����û��êæ���£ËÚ��Äü�Ú��ÞËÄ��ËÄæ�Ã×½�æ���¬Ä�æ©��×ÚËÃ¬Þ��Ë£�Þ�½���¤Ú��Ã�Äæɇ��½½�×�Úæ¬�Þ��Ú��æË�êÞ��Ú��ÞËÄ��½���Ä���õËêÚÞ�

to return the parties to their position prior to the contract, including the return of amounts paid on account of the price.

5.  TREND INFORMATION 

5.1  ANALYSIS OF CURRENT TRENDS IMPACTING THE BUSINESS AND THE MARKET

The Group is actively involved in the Baltics, Romania and the local market.

The Latvian real estate market1 has had its challenges over the past year. National restrictions on trade and services in response to the spread of the 

COVID-19 pandemic have hit restaurants and cafes, hotels, sports clubs, beauty salons and virtually all non-food stores particularly hard. 

%ÚËÃ�æ©��&ÚËê×ɹÞ�×�ÚÞ×��æ¬õ��æ©�Þ��Ú�ÞæÚ¬�æ¬ËÄÞ�©�õ��ÄËæ�©�����Þ¬¤Ä¬Ĉ��Äæ�¬Ã×��æ�ËÄ�æ©��æ�Ä�ÄæÞ�Ë��ê×ü¬Ä¤�æ©��Ú�æ�¬½�Ã�½½Þ�¬Ä�=�æõ¬�ɇ�¤¬õ�Ä�æ©�æ�æ©��

tenants occupying these properties are very strong.

With the increasing size of commercial centres and the changing habits of shoppers in recent years, it has already been observed that many traders 

and service providers prefer to locate their sales or service outlets directly in shopping malls. 2020 was no exception to the development of this 

æÚ�Ä�Ɍ�c©��Þ×Ú����Ë£�æ©���Jr.�ɬǽȅ�õ¬ÚêÞ��Ëê×½���ö¬æ©�æ©���ËÄæ¬Äê���Ú¬Þ��Ë£��ɬ�ËÃÃ�Ú���©�Þ�Ú�Þê½æ���¬Ä�£êÚæ©�Ú�¤ÚËöæ©�Ë£�æ©¬Þ�æÚ�Ä�ɇ�ö¬æ©�æ©���ą��æ�

that many outlets in individual stores not located in shopping centres remained empty throughout the year. This trend is expected to continue during 

2021 and beyond. 

The second largest market for the Group is the Romanian market, where the current portfolio comprises of restaurants and a hospital. 

Over the past year, the Romanian real estate market2 has been slowly adjusting after the COVID-19 impact and trying to identify a new direction 

æË�£Ë½½ËöɌ�%ËÚ���ÞæÞ�£ËÚ�ǾǼǾǽ��Ú����êæ¬ËêÞ½ü�×ËÞ¬æ¬õ���Þ�½�Ú¤��ËĆ������½Þ�©�õ���½Ú���ü����Ä��½ËÞ��Ɍ�.Äõ�ÞæËÚÞ��Ú���½ÞË�º��Ä�ËÄ���Ùê¬Ú¬Ä¤�¬Ä�êÞæÚ¬�½�

properties and here, a number of transactions are also at various stages. The Group has not seen any negative impacts from this market arising from 

the current tenants in Romania. At the end of 2020 a piece of land was acquired by the Group on which another restaurant was built and handed 

over to the tenant in the current year. 

��æ��Þ×��¬Ĉ��½½ü�Ú�½�æ���æË��ËÃÃ�Ú�¬�½�×ÚË×�Úæü�¬Ä�C�½æ��¬Þ�½¬Ã¬æ��ɇ�Ã�º¬Ä¤�¬æ�ÃËÚ���©�½½�Ä¤¬Ä¤�æË�¬��Äæ¬£ü�æ©���û��æ�Þæ�æ��Ë£�æ©¬Þ�Ã�Úº�æɌ�D�õ�Úæ©�½�ÞÞɇ�

¬æ�¬Þ��õ¬��Äæ�æ©�æ�C�½æ��©�Þ�Ëõ�Ú�Ú���Äæ�ü��ÚÞ��ËÃ×½�æ�½ü��õË½õ����Ä���ËÄæ¬Äê�Þ�æË��ææÚ��æ�ÄêÃ�ÚËêÞ�£ËÚ�¬¤Ä��ËÃ×�Ä¬�Þ�×�Úæ¬�ê½�Ú½ü�¬Ä�æ©��Ĉ�½�Þ�Ë£�

ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�Þ�Úõ¬��Þɇ�¤�Ã¬Ä¤��Ä��.cɌ�.æ�¬Þ�æ©�Ú�£ËÚ���½��Ú�æ©�æ�æ©����Ã�Ä��£ËÚ�¤ËË���ËÃÃ�Ú�¬�½�×ÚË×�Úæü�©�Þ��Ú�Þæ¬��½½ü�¬Ä�Ú��Þ��ɇ��Þ�C�½æ�ɹÞ�×ÚË×�Úæü�

sector has been dominated by a situation of demand which appears to exceed supply. Consequently, the majority of high-quality commercial 

developments are currently fully let. The Group’s position in the market is quite stable with no expectation of changes over the coming years.

5.2  THE ISSUER’S STRATEGY AND IMMINENT INVESTMENTS

5.2.1  Strategy

The primary objective of the Issuer is to provide attractive risk-adjusted total returns to shareholders derived from: 

Ʌ� Þæ��½��ü¬�½��Þê××ËÚæ����ü�¬æÞ��êÚÚ�Äæ�×ËÚæ£Ë½¬ËɹÞ�½ËÄ¤ɬæ�ÚÃ��ËÄæÚ��æ�����Þ©�ĉËöÞɑ�

• income growth that is embedded in its current portfolio through contractual rent escalations; 

Ʌ� ��Ùê¬Þ¬æ¬ËÄÞ�æ©ÚËê¤©�Ä�ö½ü�¬��Äæ¬Ĉ����ÞÞ�æÞɑ��Ä��

• asset value appreciation, through continuous management and upkeep of its properties. 

The Group seeks to achieve these objectives through the performance of its current portfolio, driven by proactive portfolio management, maintaining 

a prudent capital structure, implementing corporate governance framework aligned with best market practices. To execute its strategy, the Group 

leverages on its on-ground professional management team with industry experience and a track record of value creation.

The Issuer’s strategic expansion strategy for the future aims to enhance its property portfolio, primarily with well-located institutional and high 

quality, income-producing investment properties to deliver income and capital growth through active asset management.

1 Real Estate Market Report 2021 (Ober-Haus, Sorainen)
2 Romania Real Estate Market Outlook 2021 (CBRE Research)
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Based on its long standing experience within the industry, the intention of the Issuer is to source its investment opportunities through its extensive 

network of relationships, which includes corporate and private landlords, brokers, domestic banks and others. The Issuer expects to create both 

sustainable income and strong capital returns for the Group.

The investment decisions carried out by the Board in relation to investment property acquisitions are primarily based on a number of property 

characteristics which are deemed to be aligned to the strategic goals of the Group. A number of these characteristics are as set out below:

• retail properties in city centres and certain suburban areas including shopping retail malls and high street retail outlets;

• commercial real estate properties, including warehousing, industrial and distribution facilities; 

Ʌ� ËĆ���×ÚË×�Úæ¬�Þ�Þ¬æê�æ���¬Ä�ÞËê¤©æɬ�£æ�Ú�×Ú¬Ã��½Ë��æ¬ËÄÞ�ö¬æ©���©¬¤©�×Ëæ�Äæ¬�½�Ë£��ææÚ��æ¬Ä¤�¬Äæ�Ú�Þæ�£ÚËÃ�æ�Ä�ÄæÞɑ��Ä��

• other types of buildings or properties which are deemed by the Issuer to result into an attractive investor return.

.Ä���ÚÚü¬Ä¤�Ëêæ� ¬Äõ�ÞæÃ�Äæ����¬Þ¬ËÄÞɇ�æ©�� .ÞÞê�Ú��ËÄ��ÄæÚ�æ�Þ�ËÄ��ÞÞ�æÞ�×Ú¬�����æ�Þ¬¤Ä¬Ĉ��Äæ��¬Þ�ËêÄæÞ�æË�£�¬Ú�õ�½ê��ËÚ��ÞÞ�æÞ�ö¬æ©���æ¬õ���ÞÞ�æ�

management opportunities, for example through repositioning, rental extension or rental optimisation, and keeps monitoring the market with regards 

æË���õ�½Ë×Ã�Äæ�Ë××ËÚæêÄ¬æ¬�Þ�¬Ä�æ©���ËÄæ�ûæ�Ë£�æ©��ö©Ë½��×ËÚæ£Ë½¬Ë��Þ�æ©���ËÃ×�ÄüɹÞ�×Ú¬Ã�Úü�£Ë�êÞ�¬Þ�ËÄ���Þ©�ĉËö��Ä����æ¬õ���ÞÞ�æ�Ã�Ä�¤�Ã�ÄæɌ

5.2.2  Imminent investments

As at the date of the Prospectus, the Issuer is in advanced discussions to acquire properties in the Baltics and in Poland. It is to be noted however 

that as at this stage, no legally binding purchase agreements have been entered into.

Commercial Property located in Warsaw, Poland

The Group has been selected to enter into exclusive discussions for the acquisition of a strategically positioned property that hosts an international 

ÞæÚËÄ¤��.y�Ú�æ�¬½�Ë×�Ú�æËÚɌ�c©¬Þ�×ÚË×�Úæü�©�Þ����Ä���ÚÃ�Úº����Þ�æ©��ĈÚÞæ�×ÚË×�Úæü�¬Äõ�ÞæÃ�Äæ�Ë£�æ©��&ÚËê×�¬Ä�VË½�Ä�ɇ�æË�Þê××ËÚæ�¬æÞ��û×�ÄÞ¬ËÄ�ÞæÚ�æ�¤ü�

to more EU countries that present stable economic growth and potential.

Highlights of the property:

• strategic location, on one of the main exit arteries of Warsaw having close vicinity to residential areas and great access both by car and  

 public transportation;

• long lease duration of 9 years and additional extension options;

• strong tenant, leader in its industry; and

• newly reconstructed property.

The Group sees great potential in expanding its presence and investments in Poland, being one of the most attractive places for investment in 

Central and Eastern Europe, with stable economic growth, strong internal and international demand, proximity to major European markets, access 

æË�Ùê�½¬Ĉ���©êÃ�Ä���×¬æ�½��Ä���õ�Úɬ¬Ä�Ú��Þ¬Ä¤�Ùê�½¬æü�Ë£�¬Ä£Ú�ÞæÚê�æêÚ�Ɍ

Industrial Property located in Lithuania

Following an international tender process, the Group has been selected and is in advanced discussions for the acquisition of a newly built industrial 

property in Lithuania. 

Highlights of the property:

• strategic location;

• excellent access to key cargo routes;

• strong international tenant; 

• indissoluble 20-year lease agreement with a single tenant 100% occupancy;

• newly built property; and

• value add / expansion potential.

The Group relies on its experience in the industry and banks on the extensive network of relationships in identifying investments opportunities. This 

allows the Group to have a healthy pipeline of future acquisitions, expecting to create both sustainable income and strong capital returns.
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5.3  LONG TERM TRENDS AND GROWTH POTENTIAL

The Issuer is constantly monitoring evolving trends shaping the property industry and calibrates its strategy to grow the return of its 
investments.

Where appropriate, the intention of the Issuer is to implement improvements to the Group’s property portfolio through proactive asset 
management techniques which include:

• Renegotiating or surrendering leases;

Ʌ� .Ã×ÚËõ¬Ä¤�½��Þ��æ�ÚÃÞ��êÚ�æ¬ËÄ��Ä��æ�Ä�Äæ�×ÚËĈ½�ɑ

• Carrying out structural improvements to the building when and where considered appropriate; 

Ʌ� .Ã×ÚËõ¬Ä¤�½�üËêæÞ��Ä��Þ×�����Ć�¬�Ä�ü�Ë£�Þ×��¬Ĉ���ÞÞ�æÞɑ

• Ensuring an appropriate mix and well-structured tenant mix within certain properties;

• Maintaining dialogue with tenants to assess their requirements;

• Taking advantage of planning opportunities where appropriate; and

• Repositioning and upgrading assets.

Additionally, through the acquisitions of new assets, the Group will broaden its portfolio achieving higher resilience to market uncertainties. 

c©���êÚÚ�Äæ�×ËÚæ£Ë½¬Ë�æË¤�æ©�Ú�ö¬æ©�Ä�ö½ü���Ùê¬Ú����ÞÞ�æÞɇ�ö¬½½�×ÚËõ¬���Þæ��½��ü¬�½���ê��æË� ½ËÄ¤ɬæ�ÚÃ��ËÄæÚ��æ�����Þ©�ĉËöÞ��êæ��½ÞË�
appreciate over time through continuous management and upkeep of the properties. 

6.  ADMINISTRATIVE, MANAGEMENT AND SUPERVISORY BODIES AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

6.1  THE BOARD

The Company is currently managed by a Board of Directors consisting of six (6) directors who are entrusted with the overall direction, administration 

and management of the Company. 

As at the date of this Registration Document, the Board of Directors of the Company is constituted by the following persons:

Directors 

Pier Luca Demajo (ID 578465M) Chairman and Non-Executive Director*

Georgios Kakouras (ID 105517A) Executive Director

Peter Hili (ID 173093M) Non-Executive Director

Eddy Vermeir (ID 5924038504-87) Non-Executive Director

David Aquilina (ID 478174M) Non-Executive Director*

Laragh Cassar (ID 455693M) Non-Executive Director*

* Independent

The Company Secretary is Dr Melanie Miceli Demajo (ID 548678M).

The business address of the Directors and the Company Secretary is the same as that of the Company.

The following is a curriculum vitae of each of the board members.

Pier Luca Demajo

Pier Luca Demajo was appointed Chairman and Non-Executive Director of the Company in September 2020. He holds years of commercial experience 

and insight and, throughout his career, has created and managed several companies operating in diverse sectors in Malta, including technology, 

Ã�Äê£��æêÚ¬Ä¤ɇ�æËêÚ¬ÞÃɇ��¬ÞæÚ¬�êæ¬ËÄɇ��ËÄæÚ��æ¬Ä¤��Ä��ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�Þ�Úõ¬��ÞɌ�CÚ���Ã�·Ë�Þ�Úõ����Þ��©¬�£��û��êæ¬õ��JĆ��Ú�Ë£�æ©��CɌ���Ã�·Ë�&ÚËê×�£ÚËÃ�

2008 to 2019 and is now a Group Director. Mr Demajo joined the board of iSpot Holdings, a subsidiary of 1923 Investments plc, in November 2019 as 

Non-Executive Director. He is also the Honorary Consul of Canada.

Georgios Kakouras

Georgios Kakouras joined the Company as Managing Director in August 2020, from Apco Systems Limited, a subsidiary of Harvest Technology plc, 

where he was Managing Director. Earlier in his career, Mr Kakouras gained extensive international management and leadership experience at Intralot 

¤ÚËê×��Ä��C�½æ�Ë�=Ëææ�Ú¬�Þɇ�ö©�Ú��©��ö�Þ��©¬�£�J×�Ú�æ¬Ä¤�JĆ��Ú��Ä����Ã�Ã��Ú�Ë£�æ©���Ë�Ú�Ɍ�CÚ�;�ºËêÚ�Þ�©Ë½�Þ����]���Ä���Ä�C�Ä¤�¬Ä��½��æÚ¬��½��Ä��

Computer Engineering and an MBA in Engineering Economics Systems from the National Technical University of Athens.
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Peter Hili

V�æ�Ú�+¬½¬�¤Ú��ê�æ���£ÚËÃ�æ©��gÄ¬õ�ÚÞ¬æü�Ë£�C�½æ��¬Ä�ǾǼǽȂ�ö¬æ©��Ä�+ËÄËêÚÞ���¤Ú���¬Ä�.Äæ�ÚÄ�æ¬ËÄ�½�Y�½�æ¬ËÄÞɌ��£æ�Ú�ÞËÃ��æ¬Ã��£ËÚÃ¬Ä¤�×�Úæ�Ë£�æ©��Þæ�ą�

Ë£�æ©���Ã��ÞÞü�Ë£�C�½æ��¬Ä�s�Þ©¬Ä¤æËÄ�����Þ���VË½¬�ü�JĆ��Úɇ�©��·Ë¬Ä���+¬½¬�r�ÄæêÚ�Þɇ�æ©���ËÃ×�ÄüɹÞ�×�Ú�Äæ��ËÃ×�Äüɇ��Þ���Ã�Ä�¤�Ã�Äæ�æÚ�¬Ä��Ɍ�.Ä�

2017 Mr Hili relocated to Canada for a placement with McDonald’s in Ottawa and was appointed Restaurant Manager at McDonald’s at Bay Street in 

Malta the following year. He was named Business Consultant at Premier Restaurants Malta Limited, the operator of McDonald’s in Malta in 2019 and 

was promoted to Managing Director in 2020.

Eddy Vermeir

Eddy Vermeir joined Hili Ventures in 2018 as Senior Director for Business Transformation, after having successfully redesigned the strategic path 

and completed the recruitment of a new senior executive team at iSpot Holdings, a Hili Ventures company encompassing Apple Premium Resellers 

in Poland and Hungary. He is currently responsible for leading the design and implementation of a customised Enterprise Risk Management 

�Äõ¬ÚËÄÃ�Äæ���ÚËÞÞ��½½��¬õ¬Þ¬ËÄÞ��Ä���êÞ¬Ä�ÞÞ�êÄ¬æÞɌ�CÚ�r�ÚÃ�¬ÚɹÞ�ĈÚÞæ�ÚË½���æ�+¬½¬�r�ÄæêÚ�Þ���£�ö�ü��ÚÞ����º�ö�Þ�æË��û�Ã¬Ä���êÞ¬Ä�ÞÞ�×Ú��æ¬��Þ�

and devise optimisation strategies so that the group could derive the best outcome for every activity it is engaged in. He was appointed Managing 

�¬Ú��æËÚ��æ�¬]×Ëæ�+Ë½�¬Ä¤Þ�¬Ä�ǾǼǽȃɇ��Ú¬Ä¤¬Ä¤�Ǿȁ�ü��ÚÞ�Ë£��û×�Ú¬�Ä���¬Ä�¬Äæ�ÚÄ�æ¬ËÄ�½�ĈÄ�Ä���£ÚËÃ�©¬Þ�×Ú�õ¬ËêÞ�ÚË½�Þ�ö¬æ©�C��ËÄ�½�ɹÞɇ�ö©�Ú��©��©�½��

õ�Ú¬ËêÞ�ĈÄ�Ä���ÚË½�Þ�¬Ä�½ê�¬Ä¤�]�Ä¬ËÚ��¬Ú��æËÚ�Ë£�&½Ë��½�%¬Ä�Ä���V�Ë×½����õ�½Ë×Ã�Äæ��æ�C��ËÄ�½�ɹÞ��ËÚ×ËÚ�æ¬ËÄ��Ä��]�Ä¬ËÚ�%¬Ä�Ä����¬Ú��æËÚ�£ËÚ�

McDonald’s in Europe. He pursued his post-graduate studies in Corporate Finance at Vlekho Business School in Brussels.

David Aquilina

David Aquilina has extensive experience in property and construction. He is an executive director at Belair Property, a Maltese real estate agency, 

and holds directorships at various construction companies involved in the development of a range of properties in Malta, including high-end capital 

×ÚË·��æÞɌ�CÚ��Ùê¬½¬Ä��¬Þ��½ÞË����¬Ú��æËÚ�Ë£���£Ú�Ä�©¬Þ��Ë×�Ú�æ¬ËÄ�¬ÄõË½õ¬Ä¤�æöË�£�Þ©¬ËÄ��Ú�Ä�Þ�¬Ä�C�½æ�Ɍ�+��¬Þ���Ùê�½¬Ĉ������ËêÄæ�Äæ��Ä��×Ú�õ¬ËêÞ½ü�

worked with Deloitte Malta.

Laragh Cassar

Laragh Cassar obtained a degree in Law from the University of Malta in 2002 and a postgraduate Master’s in Banking and Finance from the 

University of London in 2003. She started her career with Camilleri Preziosi in 2003 and was admitted to partnership in 2009, overseeing the 

investment services department. Over the years, Dr Cassar has been actively involved in a large number of bond and equity listings on the 

regulated market of the Malta Stock Exchange as well as assisting with the ongoing obligations of listed companies. In June 2015, she co-

£ËêÄ������Ã¬½½�Ú¬���ÞÞ�Ú���õË��æ�Þɇ����ËÃÃ�Ú�¬�½��Ä���¬õ¬½�½�ö�ĈÚÃɌ��Ú���ÞÞ�Ú�¬Þ�Ú�Þ×ËÄÞ¬�½��£ËÚ�æ©����×¬æ�½�Ã�Úº�æÞ��Ä��¬Äõ�ÞæÃ�Äæ�Þ�Úõ¬��Þ�

�Ú��Þ�Ë£�×Ú��æ¬���Ë£�æ©��ĈÚÃɌ

6.2  SENIOR MANAGEMENT OF THE COMPANY

In addition to the executive Director, the senior management of the Company comprises of the following persons:

Managing Director: Georgios Kakouras

�©¬�£�%¬Ä�Ä�¬�½�JĆ��ÚɆ� ��Ä¬�½��V�õ¬�

Properties Project Manager: Aivars Barbals

The curriculum vitae for Georgios Kakouras is included in section 6.1 above. 

Daniela Pavia

��Ä¬�½��V�õ¬��·Ë¬Ä���æ©���ËÃ×�Äü��Þ��©¬�£�%¬Ä�Ä�¬�½�JĆ��Ú�¬Ä�%��Úê�Úü�ǾǼǾǼ��Ä��¬Þ�Ú�Þ×ËÄÞ¬�½��£ËÚ�½���¬Ä¤�æ©���ËÃ×�ÄüɹÞ�ĈÄ�Ä���£êÄ�æ¬ËÄɌ�

She joined Hili Ventures in May 2015 as Finance Manager Budgeting & Reporting and was promoted to Director of Finance in June 2016. She 

ö�Þ�×Ú�õ¬ËêÞ½ü��ê�¬æ�C�Ä�¤�Ú��æ�ËÄ��Ë£�æ©���¬¤�£ËêÚ��ê�¬æ�ĈÚÃÞ�¬Ä�C�½æ�Ɍ�CÞ�V�õ¬��©Ë½�Þ������ɚ+ËÄÞɛ�¬Ä����ËêÄæ�Ä�ü��Ä�����¬×½ËÃ��¬Ä�c�û�æ¬ËÄ�

from the University of Malta.

Aivars Barbals

Aivars Barbals joined the Company as Properties Project Manager in December 2015 and is responsible for the operational management of the 

Company’s portfolio as well its expansion and repositioning. Previously, for more than thirteen years, he was the Director of the Real Estate 

department of Maxima in Latvia, one of the largest supermarket chains in the Baltics. Prior to that, he managed his own company for ten years, 

ö©¬�©�ËÚ¤�Ä¬ā���æ©����õ�½Ë×Ã�Äæ�Þ�Úõ¬��Þ�Ë£���æ�Ú¬Ä¤ɇ�æÚ�����Ä��£ËË��æ��©ÄË½Ë¤¬�Þ��ËÃ×�Ä¬�Þ�¬Ä�æ©����½æ¬��Þæ�æ�Þ��Ä��YêÞÞ¬�Ɍ�CÚ���Ú��½Þ�©�Þ�

studied Food Technology, as well as Business and Management.

��£ê½½�½¬Þæ�Ë£�æ©���¬Ú��æËÚÞ©¬×Þ�©�½��¬Ä�æ©��×Ú�õ¬ËêÞ�Ĉõ��ü��ÚÞ��ü�æ©��¬Ä�¬õ¬�ê�½Þ�Ã�Äæ¬ËÄ���¬Ä�Þ��æ¬ËÄ�ȂɌǽ��Ä��Þ��æ¬ËÄ�ȂɌǾ�¬Þ��ËÄæ�¬Ä���¬Ä��ÄÄ�û�

I of this Registration Document.
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6.3  POTENTIAL CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

V�æ�Ú�+¬½¬�¬Ä�¬Ú��æ½ü�©Ë½�Þ�ȅʦ�Ë£�æ©��Þ©�Ú�Þ�¬Ä�æ©���ËÃ×�ÄüɌ��Þ�Þê�©ɇ�©��Ã�ü����ÞêÞ��×æ¬�½��æË��ËÄĉ¬�æÞ���æö��Ä�æ©��×Ëæ�Äæ¬�½½ü��¬õ�Ú¤¬Ä¤�¬Äæ�Ú�ÞæÞ�

of the Company and its direct and/or indirect shareholder/s.

]�õ��£ËÚ�æ©��Ã�ææ�ÚÞ��¬Þ�½ËÞ�����Ëõ�ɇ�æ©�Ú���Ú��ÄË�×Ëæ�Äæ¬�½��ËÄĉ¬�æÞ�Ë£�¬Äæ�Ú�ÞæÞ���æö��Ä��Äü��êæ¬�Þ�æË�æ©���ËÃ×�Äü�Ë£�æ©��×�ÚÞËÄÞ�Ú�£�ÚÚ���æË�

above under the respective headings “Board of Directors” and “Senior Management” and their private interests and/or other duties.

6.4  DECLARATION

None of the Directors, members of the board committees or members of management referred to in section 6 of this Registration Document have, 

¬Ä�æ©��½�Þæ�Ĉõ��ü��ÚÞɆ

¬Ɍ� ���Ä�æ©��Þê�·��æ�Ë£��Äü��ËÄõ¬�æ¬ËÄÞ�¬Ä�Ú�½�æ¬ËÄ�æË�£Ú�ê�ê½�Äæ�Ëą�Ä��Þɑ

ii. been associated with bankruptcies, receiverships or liquidations (other than voluntary) in respect of entities of which they were members  

 of administrative, management or supervisory bodies, partners with unlimited liability (in the case of a limited partnership with a share capital),  

 founders or members of senior management; 

¬¬¬Ɍ� ���Ä�æ©��Þê�·��æ�Ë£��Äü�ËĆ�¬�½�×ê�½¬��¬Ä�Ú¬Ã¬Ä�æ¬ËÄ��Ä�ɒËÚ�Þ�Ä�æ¬ËÄÞ��ü�Þæ�æêæËÚü�ËÚ�Ú�¤ê½�æËÚü��êæ©ËÚ¬æ¬�Þ�ɚ¬Ä�½ê�¬Ä¤���Þ¬¤Ä�æ���×ÚË£�ÞÞ¬ËÄ�½� 

 bodies); or

¬õɌ� ���Ä��¬ÞÙê�½¬Ĉ����ü����ËêÚæ�£ÚËÃ���æ¬Ä¤��Þ���Ã�Ã��Ú�Ë£�æ©����Ã¬Ä¬ÞæÚ�æ¬õ�ɇ�Ã�Ä�¤�Ã�Äæ�ËÚ�Þê×�Úõ¬ÞËÚü��Ë�¬�Þ�Ë£����ËÃ×�Äü�ËÚ�£ÚËÃ���æ¬Ä¤� 

� ¬Ä�æ©��Ã�Ä�¤�Ã�Äæ�ËÚ��ËÄ�ê�æ�Ë£�æ©���ą�¬ÚÞ�Ë£��Äü��ËÃ×�ÄüɌ

7.  MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS

No. of Shares %

Hili Ventures Limited 299,999,990 99.99

The Directors consider the ultimate controlling party of the Company to be Mr Carmelo sive Melo Hili, who indirectly holds over 50% of the voting 

rights in Hili Ventures. 

All Existing Ordinary Shares and New Ordinary Shares do and will rank pari passu in all respects and each share will confer the right to one vote at 

general meetings of the Company. 

The following measures are in place to ensure that control exercised by Hili Ventures as major shareholder is not abused: 

a. despite the fact that Hili Ventures has the ability to appoint directors, a Director shall not vote at a meeting of Directors in respect of any  

 contract, arrangement or proposal in which they have a material interest; 

b. the audit committee is tasked with the review of transactions and arrangements between the Company and a related party, which may also 

 include the major shareholder; and

c. measures in line with the Code of Principles of Good Corporate Governance to ensure that the relationship with Hili Ventures is retained at  

 arm’s length. 

To the best of the Company’s knowledge, there are no arrangements in place as at the date of the Prospectus the operation of which may, at a 

subsequent date, result in a change in control of the Company.

8.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related party transactions are primarily carried out between the Company and other members of the Group. All related party transactions entered 

¬ÄæË��ü�æ©���ËÃ×�Äü��Ú���¬Þ�½ËÞ���¬Ä�æ©���ËÃ×�ÄüɹÞ�ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�Ú�×ËÚæÞ��Þ�£Ë½½ËöÞɆ

Historical Financial Period Note to the Accounts

Financial Year ended 31 December 2019 22, 24, 25, 26 & 37

Financial Year ended 31 December 2020 22, 24, 25, 26, 36 & 37

Half Year 01 January 2021 to 30 June 2021 10
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During the three months ended 30 September 2021, the Company was party to the following related party transactions:

1 Jul - 30  September 2021
Unaudited

Related
party

activity

Total
activity

€ € %

Administrative expenses:

Related party
transactions with:

Parent company 350,000 

350,000 1,126,750 31%

Finance income:

Related party
transactions with:

Subsidiaries 196,637 

196,637 196,637 100%

Finance costs:

Related party
transactions with:

Subsidiaries 187,830 

Other related parties 9,097 

196,927 632,332 31%

9.  FINANCIAL INFORMATION

c©���ËÃ×�ÄüɹÞ�©¬ÞæËÚ¬��½��ê�¬æ���ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�Þæ�æ�Ã�ÄæÞ�£ËÚ�æ©��ü��ÚÞ��Ä����ǿǽ�����Ã��Ú�ǾǼǽȅ��Ä��ǾǼǾǼɇ��½½�Ë£�ö©¬�©��Ú�ɇ�¬Ä����ËÚ��Ä���ö¬æ©��Úæ¬�½��

19(1) of the Regulation, incorporated by reference in this Registration Document are also available on the Company’s website and at the registered 

ËĆ���Ë£�æ©���ËÃ×�Äü��Þ���Þ�Ú¬����¬Ä�Þ��æ¬ËÄ�ǽȀ�Ë£�æ©¬Þ�Y�¤¬ÞæÚ�æ¬ËÄ��Ë�êÃ�ÄæɌ�c©���ê�¬æ�Ú�×ËÚæÞ�Ë£�æ©�Þ��æöË�ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�ü��ÚÞ��Ë�ÄËæ��ËÄæ�¬Ä��Äü�

Ùê�½¬Ĉ��æ¬ËÄɇ�ÃË�¬Ĉ��æ¬ËÄ�Ë£�Ë×¬Ä¬ËÄɇ��¬Þ�½�¬Ã�ÚÞ�ËÚ��Ã×©�Þ¬Þ�Ë£�Ã�ææ�ÚɌ

c©���ËÃ×�ÄüɹÞ�¬Äæ�Ú¬Ã�ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�¬Ä£ËÚÃ�æ¬ËÄ��Ëõ�Ú¬Ä¤�æ©��×�Ú¬Ë�Þ���æö��Ä�ǽ�9�Äê�Úü�ǾǼǾǼ��Ä��ǿǼ�9êÄ��ǾǼǾǼ��Ä����æö��Ä�ǽ�9�Äê�Úü�ǾǼǾǽ��Ä��ǿǼ�

June 2021, all of which are, in accordance with Article 19(1) of the Regulation, incorporated by reference in this Registration Document and are also 

�õ�¬½��½��ËÄ�æ©���ËÃ×�ÄüɹÞ�ö��Þ¬æ���Ä���æ�æ©��Ú�¤¬Þæ�Ú���ËĆ���Ë£�æ©���ËÃ×�Äü��Þ���Þ�Ú¬����¬Ä�Þ��æ¬ËÄ�ǽȀ�Ë£�æ©¬Þ�Y�¤¬ÞæÚ�æ¬ËÄ��Ë�êÃ�ÄæɌ�

c©��£Ë½½Ëö¬Ä¤��Ú����½¬Þæ�Ë£��ÚËÞÞɬÚ�£�Ú�Ä��Þ�æË�Þ×��¬Ĉ��¬æ�ÃÞ�Ë£�¬Ä£ËÚÃ�æ¬ËÄ�¬Ä�æ©���ËÃ×�ÄüɹÞ��ê�¬æ���ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�Þæ�æ�Ã�ÄæÞ�ɚö©¬�©��Ú���õ�¬½��½��

ËÄ��¬Þ×½�ü��Þ���æ�¬½���¬Ä�Þ��æ¬ËÄ�ǽȀ�Ë£�æ©¬Þ�Y�¤¬ÞæÚ�æ¬ËÄ��Ë�êÃ�Äæɛ�£ËÚ�ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�ü��ÚÞ��Ä����ǿǽ�����Ã��Ú�ǾǼǽȄɇ�ǿǽ�����Ã��Ú�ǾǼǽȅ��Ä��ǿǽ�

December 2020:

V�¤��ÄêÃ��Ú�¬Ä��ê�¬æ���ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�Þæ�æ�Ã�ÄæÞ

%¬Ä�Ä�¬�½�ü��Ú��Ä����
ȀǾ�����Ã��Ú�ǿǽǾȅ�

%¬Ä�Ä�¬�½�ü��Ú��Ä����
ȀǾ�����Ã��Ú�ǿǽǾȆ�

%¬Ä�Ä�¬�½�ü��Ú��Ä����
ȀǾ�����Ã��Ú�ǿǽǿǽ�

Independent Auditors’ Report 87-92 91-95 87-91

Statement of Financial Position  13-14 15-16 15-16

Income Statement 12 14 14

Statement of Cash Flows 17-18 19-20 19-20

Notes to Financial Statements  19-86 21-90 21-86
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c©��ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�Þæ�æ�Ã�ÄæÞ�Ú�£�ÚÚ���æË�¬Ä�æ©¬Þ�Þ��æ¬ËÄ�ȅ���Ä��������ÞÞ���êÞ¬Ä¤�æ©��£Ë½½Ëö¬Ä¤�½¬ÄºɆ

©ææ×ÞɆɒɒ©¬½¬×ÚË×�Úæ¬�ÞɌ�ËÃɒ�ËÃ×�ÄüÞɬĈÄ�Ä�¬�½ɬÞæ�æ�Ã�ÄæÞɒ

9.1  HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

c©��ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�¬Ä£ËÚÃ�æ¬ËÄ�¬Ä�½ê����©�Ú�¬Ä�£æ�Ú�¬Þ��ûæÚ��æ���£ÚËÃ�æ©���ê�¬æ����ËÄÞË½¬��æ���ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�Þæ�æ�Ã�ÄæÞ�Ë£�æ©��&ÚËê×�£ËÚ�æ©��ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�ü��ÚÞ�

�Ä����ǿǽ�����Ã��Ú�ǾǼǽȅ��Ä��ǾǼǾǼɇ��½½�Ë£�ö©¬�©��Ú��¬Ä�ËÚ×ËÚ�æ����ü�Ú�£�Ú�Ä���¬Ä�æ©¬Þ�Y�¤¬ÞæÚ�æ¬ËÄ��Ë�êÃ�ÄæɌ�c©��ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�Þæ�æ�Ã�ÄæÞ��Ú���õ�¬½��½��

£ËÚ�¬ÄÞ×��æ¬ËÄ��æ�æ©���ËÃ×�ÄüɹÞ�Ú�¤¬Þæ�Ú���ËĆ����Ä��ËÄ�æ©���ËÃ×�ÄüɹÞ�ö��Þ¬æ��öööɌ©¬½¬×ÚË×�Úæ¬�ÞɌ�ËÃɌ�c©�Þ��ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�Þæ�æ�Ã�ÄæÞ�©�õ�����Ä�

drawn up in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU.

c©��ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�Þæ�æ�Ã�ÄæÞ�©�õ�����Ä��ê�¬æ����ü�&Ú�Äæ�c©ËÚÄæËÄ��Ä��ÄËÄ��Ë£�æ©���ê�¬æËÚÞɹ�Ú�×ËÚæÞ�æ©�Ú�¬Ä�¬Ä�½ê�����ÃË�¬Ĉ����ê�¬æ�Ë×¬Ä¬ËÄɌ

c©��£ê½½��ËÄÞË½¬��æ���ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�Þæ�æ�Ã�ÄæÞ���Ä����£ËêÄ��¬Ä�æ©���ÄÄê�½�Y�×ËÚæÞ�×ê�½¬Þ©����ü�æ©���ËÃ×�Äü�ö©¬�©��Ú���õ�¬½��½��ËÄ��¬Þ×½�ü��Þ���æ�¬½���

in section 14 of this Registration Document.

SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS

Hili Properties p.l.c. Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 
31 December

2019 2020

€'000s €'000s

Revenue 9,153 8,112

Net operating expenses (2,954) (2,973)

EBITDA * 6,199 5,139

Depreciation and amortisation (150) (158)

EBIT ** 6,049 4,981

Net investment income 3,942 3,575

D�æ�ĈÄ�Ä����ËÞæÞ� (3,758) (3,344)

VÚËĈæ���£ËÚ��æ�û� 6,233 5,212

Income tax (779) (1,116)

VÚËĈæ��£æ�Ú�æ�û 5,454 4,096

Other comprehensive income 

�û�©�Ä¤���¬ą�Ú�Ä��Þ�ɬ�£ËÚ�¬¤Ä�Ë×�Ú�æ¬ËÄÞ� - (5)

Total comprehensive income 5,454 4,091

* EBITDA – earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation

** EBIT – earnings before interest and taxation

Over the past two years, the Group has been subject to property disposals with the aim of re-positioning the portfolio to a more advantageous one. 

%Ë½½Ëö¬Ä¤�æ©��Þæ�Úæ�Ë£�æ©��×�Ä��Ã¬��¬Ä�ǾǼǾǼɇ�ÄË�Þ¬¤Ä¬Ĉ��Äæ�¬Äõ�ÞæÃ�ÄæÞ�©�õ�����Ä�êÄ��Úæ�º�Ä��ü�æ©��¤ÚËê×�æË�Ú�×½����æ©�Þ���ÞÞ�æÞɌ�c©¬Þ��û×½�¬ÄÞ�

the decrease in revenues and overall results between the audited results published in 2019 and 2020. Going forward, as described more extensively 

¬Ä�Þ��æ¬ËÄ�ȁɌǾ�Ë£�æ©¬Þ�Y�¤¬ÞæÚ�æ¬ËÄ��Ë�êÃ�Äæɇ�æ©��&ÚËê×�¬Þ��û×��æ���æË�¬Äõ�Þæ�Þ¬¤Ä¬Ĉ��Äæ½ü�Ëõ�Ú�æ©��Ä�ûæ�ü��ÚÞɌ�

D�æ�¬Äõ�ÞæÃ�Äæ�¬Ä�ËÃ���ÃËêÄæ���æË�ʆǿɌȂÃ��êÚ¬Ä¤�æ©��×Ú�õ¬ËêÞ�ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�ü��Ú��Ä��Ã�¬Ä½ü�Ú�½�æ�Þ�æË�Ä�æ�¬Ä�Ú��Þ�Þ�¬Ä�£�¬Ú�õ�½ê��¤�¬ÄÞ�ËÄ�æ©��×ÚË×�Úæ¬�Þ�

located in Malta, Romania and the Baltic countries. 
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SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Hili Properties p.l.c. Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2019 2020

€'000s €'000s

Assets

Total non-current assets 141,255 144,912

Total current assets 9,223 4,727

Total assets 150,478 149,639

Equity 

Total equity attributable to the owners of the company 57,121 62,280

Non-controlling interests 514 395

Total equity 57,635 62,675

Liabilities 

Total non-current liabilities 84,737 77,694

Total current liabilities 8,106 9,270

Total liabilities 92,843 86,964

Total equity and liabilities 150,478 149,639

�Þ�×�Ú�æ©��ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�Þæ�æ�Ã�ÄæÞ�£ËÚ�æ©��ü��Ú��Ä�¬Ä¤�ǿǽ�����Ã��Ú�ǾǼǾǼɇ�æ©��&ÚËê×ɹÞ�æËæ�½��ÞÞ�æÞ��ÃËêÄæ���æË��ÚËêÄ��ʆǽȀȅɌȂÃ�ɚǾǼǽȅɆ�ʆǽȁǼɌȁÃɛ��Ä��

primarily consisted of investment properties and property held for sale, which on aggregate amounted to circa 75.5% of total assets. 

c©��&ÚËê×ɹÞ�æËæ�½�ÄËÄɬ�êÚÚ�Äæ��ÞÞ�æÞ��Ú���½ÞË��ËÃ×ËÞ���Ë£�Ëæ©�Ú�ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½��ÞÞ�æÞɇ�Ã�¬Ä½ü�æ©����×ËÞ¬æ�ËÄ�Þ�½��Ë£�¬Äõ�ÞæÃ�Äæ�Ë£�ʆǾȀɌȁÃɌ�c©¬Þ���×ËÞ¬æ�

refers to the promise of sale entered by the company for the purchase of shares in Harbour (APM) Investments, which in turns owns land at 

Benghajsa, Malta. More details on this investment can be found in section 4.2 of this Registration Document. 

c©��&ÚËê×ɹÞ��êÚÚ�Äæ��ÞÞ�æÞ��ÃËêÄæ���æË�ʆȀɌȃÃ��êÚ¬Ä¤�æ©��ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�ü��Ú�ǾǼǾǼ��Ä��Ã�¬Ä½ü��ËÄÞ¬Þæ�Ë£�Ëæ©�Ú��ÞÞ�æÞ��Ä����Þ©��Ä����Þ©��Ùê¬õ�½�ÄæÞɌ�

Following the disposal of a major investment in 2019, the Group utilised part the said proceeds to settle its short-term outstanding bank loans and 

Ëæ©�Ú�ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�½¬��¬½¬æ¬�ÞɌ�

Group equity as of 31 December 2020 amounted to €62.6m, of which around €62.2m was attributable to the shareholders of the Company. Over 

the course of 2020 the Group’s share capital increased by circa €1.2m, primarily through capitalisation of a loan advanced from the ultimate parent 

company of the Group. 

Jæ©�Ú�æ©�Ä��Ùê¬æüɇ�æ©��&ÚËê×�¬Þ�ĈÄ�Ä����æ©ÚËê¤©���Äº�½Ë�ÄÞ��Ä���ËÄ�Þ�ö©¬�©ɇ��Þ��æ�ǿǽÞæ�����Ã��Ú�ǾǼǾǼɇ��ÃËêÄæ���æË�ʆȃȃɌȀÃ�ɚǾǼǽȅɆ�ʆȄǽɌȅÃɛɌ�c©��

Group’s bank borrowings are secured by general hypothecs, pledges and guarantees provided by Group companies. The bonds constitute unsecured 

obligations of the Company, and rank equally without priority or preference with all other present and future unsecured and unsubordinated 

obligations of the Company. 

SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED CASHFLOWS

Hili Properties p.l.c. Cash Flows Statement for the year ended 31 December 2019 2020

€'000s €'000s

��Þ©�ĉËöÞ�£ÚËÃ�Ë×�Ú�æ¬Ä¤���æ¬õ¬æ¬�Þ 4,724 4,529

Interest paid (3,458) (3,340)

Income tax paid (1,061) (520)

D�æ���Þ©�ĉËöÞ�¤�Ä�Ú�æ���£ÚËÃ�Ë×�Ú�æ¬Ä¤���æ¬õ¬æ¬�Þ 205 669
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D�æ���Þ©�ĉËöÞ�¤�Ä�Ú�æ���£ÚËÃ�¬Äõ�Þæ¬Ä¤���æ¬õ¬æ¬�Þ 8,053 4,588

D�æ���Þ©�ĉËöÞ�¤�Ä�Ú�æ���£ÚËÃ�ɒ�ɚêÞ���¬Äɛ�ĈÄ�Ä�¬Ä¤���æ¬õ¬æ¬�Þ (4,003) (9,334)

Movement in cash and cash equivalents 4,255 (4,077)

Cash and cash equivalents at start of year 2,886 7,141

Foreign exchange adjustment - (5)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 7,141 3,059

c©��&ÚËê×ɹÞ���Þ©�ĉËö�Þæ�æ�Ã�ÄæÞ�Þ©Ëö�æ©�æ���Þ©�¤�Ä�Ú�æ���£ÚËÃ�Ë×�Ú�æ¬Ä¤���æ¬õ¬æ¬�Þ��êÚ¬Ä¤�ǾǼǽȅ��Ä��ǾǼǾǼ��ÃËêÄæ���æË��ÚËêÄ��ʆǼɌȅÃɌ�c©�Þ��

Ã�¬Ä½ü��ËÃ×Ú¬Þ�����Þ©�¤�Ä�Ú�æ���£ÚËÃ�Ë×�Ú�æ¬ËÄÞ�Ë£�ʆȅɌǾÃɇ�ʆȂɌȄÃ�Ä�æ���Þ©�ËêæĉËö�ö¬æ©�Ú�Þ×��æ�æË�¬Äæ�Ú�Þæ�×�üÃ�ÄæÞ��Ä��Ä�æ���Þ©�ËêæĉËöÞ�

resulting from taxes paid of about €1.6m.

s¬æ©�Ú�Þ×��æ�æË�¬Äõ�Þæ¬Ä¤���æ¬õ¬æ¬�Þɇ�Ä�æ���Þ©�¬ÄĉËöÞ��êÚ¬Ä¤�æ©��ü��Ú��Ä����ǿǽÞæ�����Ã��Ú�ǾǼǾǼɇ��ÃËêÄæ���æË��ÚËêÄ��ʆȀɌȂÃ�ɚǾǼǽȅ�ɫ��ÚËêÄ��ʆȄÃɛ�

and mainly include proceeds of €5.8m received from sale of investment property and subsidiary company, less capital expenditure of about €1.1m. 

D�æ���Þ©�êÞ���¬Ä�ĈÄ�Ä�¬Ä¤���æ¬õ¬æ¬�Þ��ÃËêÄæ���æË��ÚËêÄ��ʆȅÃ��êÚ¬Ä¤�æ©��ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�ü��Ú��Ä����ǿǽÞæ�����Ã��Ú�ǾǼǾǼ�ɚǾǼǽȅ�ɫ��ÚËêÄ��ʆȀÃɛɌ�Jõ�Ú�æ©��

�ËêÚÞ��Ë£�æ©��½�Þæ�ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�ü��Úɇ�æ©��¤ÚËê×�Ú�×�¬��ʆȀɌȂÃ�¬Ä���Äº�½Ë�ÄÞɇ�ö©¬½���ÃËêÄæÞ�æÚ�ÄÞ£�ÚÚ���æË�Ú�½�æ���×�Úæ¬�Þ��Ä��Ú�ÞæÚ¬�æ�����Þ©��ÃËêÄæ���

to €4.5m.

Closing cash balances at 31 December 2020 stood at around €3m.

DË��¬õ¬��Ä��ö�Þ�×�¬��Ëêæ�¬Ä�Ú�Þ×��æ�Ë£�æ©��ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�ü��Ú��Ä����ǿǽ�����Ã��Ú�ǾǼǾǼɌ

9.2  INTERIM INFORMATION

This section summarises the Group’s unaudited interim consolidated Income Statements and consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the six-

month period from 1 January 2021 to 30 June 2021 and the comparable period from 1 January 2020 to 30 June 2020. This section also includes 

the unaudited consolidated Statement of Financial Position of the Group as at 30 June 2021 and the comparative audited Statement of Financial 

Position as at 31 December 2020.

A.  SUMMARY OF INTERIM CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

The table below sets out extracts from the unaudited interim consolidated Income Statements of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2021.

Hili Properties p.l.c. Statement of Comprehensive Income for the period ended 
30 June

2020 2021

€'000s €'000s

Revenue 4,012 3,817

Net operating expenses (1,552) (1,561)

EBITDA * 2,460 2,256

Depreciation and amortisation (45) (28)

EBIT ** 2,415 2,228

Net investment income (109) (1)

D�æ�ĈÄ�Ä����ËÞæÞ� (1,733) (1,532)

VÚËĈæ���£ËÚ��æ�û� 573 695

Income tax (216) (170)

VÚËĈæ��£æ�Ú�æ�û 356 525

Other comprehensive income 

�û�©�Ä¤���¬ą�Ú�Ä��Þ�ɬ�£ËÚ�¬¤Ä�Ë×�Ú�æ¬ËÄÞ� (33) (37)

Total comprehensive income 323 488

* EBITDA – earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation

** EBIT – earnings before interest and taxation
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�êÚ¬Ä¤�æ©��ĈÚÞæ�Þ¬û�ÃËÄæ©Þ�æË�ǿǼ�9êÄ��ǾǼǾǽɇ�æ©��&ÚËê×�©�Þ�Ú�¤¬Þæ�Ú���æËæ�½�Ú�õ�Äê�Þ�Ë£��ÚËêÄ��ʆǿɌȄÃ��ËÃ×�Ú���æË���Ëêæ�ʆȀÃ�¬Ä�æ©��×Ú�õ¬ËêÞ�

period. Over the comparable periods, the main changes in operations related to the disposal of an asset in 2021, which was generating revenues 

and EBITDA over the preceding period, which was not replaced for the period ending 30 June 2021. In addition, other operating income pertaining 

to costs recharged over the period January to June 2020 were not repeated in the period ending June 2021.

Given the strong tenants and strategic position of the Group’s assets, no major impacts have been felt throughout the COVID-19 pandemic. 

Nevertheless, the Group felt it appropriate to grant discounts to some of the tenants that were forced to close their business during this period. 

These discounts are included within the results for the period ending June 2021.

EBITDA generated during the period January to June 2021 amounted to around €2.2m as compared to around €2.4m for the comparable period. 

VÚËĈæ��¬½¬æü�£ËÚ�æ©��×�Ú¬Ë��9�Äê�Úü�æË�9êÄ��ǾǼǾǽ�¬Ã×ÚËõ���Ëõ�Ú�æ©��×Ú����¬Ä¤�×�Ú¬Ë���ê��æË������Ú��Þ��¬Ä��û×�ÄÞ�ÞɌ�c©��×ÚËĈæ��¬½¬æü�Ë£�æ©���ËÃ×�Äü�

is expected to be strengthened further via the planned investments in the currently in the pipeline. 

V�Ú£ËÚÃ�Ä���¬Ä�æ©��ĈÚÞæ�Þ¬û�ÃËÄæ©Þ�Ë£�ǾǼǾǽ�©�Þ����Ä�õ�Úü�Ãê�©�¬Ä�½¬Ä��ö¬æ©�æ©��&ÚËê×ɹÞ��Jr.�ɬǽȅ���·êÞæ���£ËÚ���ÞæÞ�£ËÚ�æ©��ü��ÚɌ

B.  SUMMARY OF INTERIM CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

The table below sets out extracts from the unaudited interim consolidated Statements of Financial Position of the Company as of 30 June 2021.

Hili Properties p.l.c. Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2020 2021

€'000s €'000s

Assets

Total non-current assets 144,911 145,889

Total current assets 4,728 6,950

Total assets 149,639 152,839

Equity 

Total equity attributable to the owners of the company 62,280 62,737

Non-controlling interests 395 425

Total equity 62,675 63,162

Liabilities 

Total non-current liabilities 77,694 83,578

Total current liabilities 9,270 6,098

Total liabilities 86,964 89,676

Total equity and liabilities 149,639 152,838

All components of assets, liabilities and equity are in line and consistent with those of years 2019 to 2020. The Statement of Financial Position as 

of 30 June 2021 shows a net current asset position of €0.9m. This is in line with the Group’s estimates for the period and is expected to continue in 

£êæêÚ��×�Ú¬Ë�Þ�ö©�Ä�æ©��&ÚËê×�Ú��×Þ���Ä�ĈæÞ�£ÚËÃ�¬æÞ��êÚÚ�Äæ�¬Äõ�ÞæÃ�ÄæÞɌ

C.  SUMMARY OF INTERIM CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Hili Properties p.l.c. Cash Flows Statement for the period ended 30 June 2020 2021

€'000s €'000s

��Þ©�ĉËöÞ�£ÚËÃ�Ë×�Ú�æ¬Ä¤���æ¬õ¬æ¬�Þ 2,437 2,502

Interest paid (723) (692)

Income tax paid (184) (326)

D�æ���Þ©�ĉËöÞ�¤�Ä�Ú�æ���£ÚËÃ�Ë×�Ú�æ¬Ä¤���æ¬õ¬æ¬�Þ 1,530 1,484
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D�æ���Þ©�ĉËöÞ�ɚêÞ���¬Äɛ�¬Äõ�Þæ¬Ä¤���æ¬õ¬æ¬�Þ (4,051) (695)

D�æ���Þ©�ĉËöÞ�¤�Ä�Ú�æ���£ÚËÃ�ɒ�ɚêÞ���¬Äɛ�ĈÄ�Ä�¬Ä¤���æ¬õ¬æ¬�Þ (1,969) 1,730

Movement in cash and cash equivalents (4,490) 2,519

Cash and cash equivalents at start of year 7,141 3,058

Foreign exchange adjustment (33) (37)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 2,618 5,540

cËæ�½���Þ©�¤�Ä�Ú�æ���£ÚËÃ�Ë×�Ú�æ¬Ä¤���æ¬õ¬æ¬�Þ�¬Ä�æ©��ĈÚÞæ�Þ¬û�ÃËÄæ©Þ�Ë£��Ëæ©�ǾǼǾǼ��Ä��ǾǼǾǽ��ÃËêÄæ���æË��ÚËêÄ��ʆǽɌȁÃɌ

��Þ©�êÞ���¬Ä�¬Äõ�Þæ¬Ä¤���æ¬õ¬æ¬�Þ�¬Ä�æ©��ĈÚÞæ�Þ¬û�ÃËÄæ©Þ�Ë£�ǾǼǾǼ�¬Ä�½ê��Þ���õ�Ä��Þ�æË�Ú�½�æ���×�Úæ¬�Þ�Ë£��ÚËêÄ��ʆȀÃɇ�ö©¬�©�ö�Ú��ÄËæ�Ú�×��æ���£ËÚ�

the current six months in 2021. In the period ending June 2021 the Group incurred expenditure in relation to the construction of a restaurant in 

YËÃ�Ä¬�ɇ�ö©¬�©��ÃËêÄæ���æË��ÚËêÄ��ʆǼɌȃÃ�¬Ä���×¬æ�½��û×�Ä�¬æêÚ�Ɍ���Þ©�¤�Ä�Ú�æ���£ÚËÃ�ĈÄ�Ä�¬Ä¤���æ¬õ¬æ¬�Þ�¬Ä�æ©��ĈÚÞæ�Þ¬û�ÃËÄæ©Þ�Ë£�ǾǼǾǽ�¬Ä�½ê���

proceeds received from local banks of €4m, before factoring in repayment of third-party loans and loan repayments. The comparative amount of 

ʆǽɌȅÃ�ËêæĉËöÞ�£ËÚ�æ©��×�Ú¬Ë���Ä�¬Ä¤�ǿǼ�9êÄ��ǾǼǾǼ�¬Ä�½ê��Þ�Ú�×�üÃ�ÄæÞ�Ë£���Äº��ËÚÚËö¬Ä¤ÞɌ�

Closing cash balances as at 30 June 2021 stood at around €5.5m.

9.3  PROFIT FORECASTS

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

The table below reproduces the consolidated income statements of the Group for the period 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020 as disclosed in 

section 7 of this Registration Document. It includes the consolidated forecast income statement of the Group for the year ending 31 December 2021, 

and the projected income statements of the Group for the period 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2024.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Hili Properties p.l.c. Statement of Comprehensive 
Income for the year ended 31 December

2020
Audited

2021
Projected

2022
Projected

2023
Projected

2024
Projected

€'000s €'000s €'000s €'000s €'000s

Revenue 8,112 8,110 10,649 11,639 12,122

Net operating expenses (2,973) (3,211) (3,396) (2,685) (2,724)

EBITDA * 5,139 4,899 7,253 8,954 9,398

Depreciation and amortisation (158) (55) (56) (58) (57)

EBIT ** 4,981 4,844 7,196 8,896 9,341

Net investment income 3,575 1,435 347 (26) 1,262

D�æ�ĈÄ�Ä����ËÞæÞ� (3,344) (3,490) (3,374) (3,604) (3,196)

VÚËĈæ���£ËÚ��æ�û� 5,212 2,789 4,169 5,266 7,407

Income tax (1,116) (773) (2,164) (2,170) (1,599)

VÚËĈæ��£æ�Ú�æ�û 4,096 2,016 2,006 3,096 5,808

* EBITDA – earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation

** EBIT – earnings before interest and taxation

REVENUE

%ËÚ���Þæ���Ú�õ�Äê�Þ�£ËÚ�ǾǼǾǽ��Ú���û×��æ���æË����¬Ä�½¬Ä��ö¬æ©�æ©ËÞ��Ú�×ËÚæ����Ä���ê�¬æ���¬Ä�æ©��×Ú�õ¬ËêÞ�ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�ü��ÚɌ�cËö�Ú�Þ�æ©���Ä��Ë£�æ©��

ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�ü��Ú�ǾǼǾǽɇ���Ùê¬Þ¬æ¬ËÄÞ�Ë£��ÚËêÄ��ʆǽȄÃ��Ú���û×��æ���æË�����ËÄ�½ê�����ü�æ©��¤ÚËê×Ɍ

Revenues in 2022 are estimated to increase by around €2.5m over those of 2021, on the assumption that acquisitions amounting to €30m will 
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be added to the Group’s asset portfolio at the beginning of 2022, and on account of the acquisitions made in 2021 are now operating over a full 

year in 2022.

Negotiations related to these acquisitions are well underway at the time of preparing this Registration Document. These acquisitions are 

expected to generate a yield of around 6.5% and are assumed to be made in Euro. 

A third sizable acquisition is earmarked for 2023. This asset is estimated to further increase revenues from around €10.6m in 2022 to €11.6m in 2023. 

This investment, which will be of around €47m, is also expected to yield income of around 6.5% per annum in Euro. In the same year an additional 

restaurant is also planned to be opened, for a value of around €1.7m.

Revenues in 2024 are then expected to amount to around €12m. No acquisitions are planned for 2024. 

NET OPERATING EXPENSES

Net operating expenses include costs related to the managed properties, which are not rechargeable to tenants occupying these properties. 

The Group foresees a marginal increase in these expenses for the year ending 31 December 2021, but plans to maintain such costs at circa €3m 

æ©ÚËê¤©Ëêæ�æ©��ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�ü��ÚÞ�ǾǼǾǾ�æË�ǾǼǾȀɌ�c�Ú¤�æ�����Ùê¬Þ¬æ¬ËÄÞ�ö¬½½��ÞÞêÃ����æÚ¬×½��Ä�æ�½��Þ��ÃË��½ɇ�êÄ��Ú�ö©¬�©��ËÞæÞ�Ú�½�æ���æË�Ã�Ä�¤¬Ä¤�æ©�Þ��

×ÚË×�Úæ¬�Þ�ö¬½½�����Äæ¬Ú�½ü�Ú��©�Ú¤���½��æË�æ©��æ�Ä�ÄæÞ�Ë��ê×ü¬Ä¤�æ©�ÃɌ�c©¬Þ�ÞæÚ�æ�¤ü�ö¬½½�£ê½Ĉ½�æ©��&ÚËê×ɹÞ�Ë�·��æ¬õ��æË�Ã�¬Äæ�¬Ä�Þæ��¬½¬Þ����ËÞæÞ��æ�

circa €3m.

EBITDA

c©��&ÚËê×��û×��æÞ���.c���æË��ÃËêÄæ�æË��ÚËêÄ��ʆȀɌȅÃ�£ËÚ�æ©��ü��Ú��Ä�¬Ä¤�ǿǽ�����Ã��Ú�ǾǼǾǽɌ�c©�����Ú��Þ��¬Ä���.c���Ëõ�Ú�æ©��×Ú����¬Ä¤�ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�

year arises from the higher operating expenses currently foreseen on the properties managed in 2021.

EBITDA is then projected to increase by around €2.4m in 2022 and amount to €9.0m and €9.4m in 2023 and 2024. The increase in projected EBITDA 

arises directly from the acquisitions assumed to be in place within the Group’s portfolio by that time.

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION

Depreciation and amortisation is estimated to decrease substantially for the year ending 31 December 2021 on account of leased property with lease 

terms expiring in 2021. 

Depreciation is then expected to remain constant over the coming years. 

NET INVESTMENT INCOME

Investment income mainly includes non-cash uplifts on the values of the investment properties held by the Group, together with any gains on 

disposal of assets. 

In the year ending 31 December 2020, the entire portfolio held by the Group was subject to external valuations to ensure that the Group was not 

�ą��æ����ü�æ©����ËÄËÃ¬���¬Ú�êÃÞæ�Ä��Þ��Ú¬Þ¬Ä¤�£ÚËÃ�æ©���Jr.�ɬǽȅ�×�Ä��Ã¬�Ɍ�.Ä�£��æɇ�æ©��õ�½ê�æ¬ËÄÞ�Ú�Þê½æ���¬Ä���æËæ�½�¤�¬Ä�Ë£��ÚËêÄ��ʆǿɌȃȁÃ�¬Ä�

the previous year.

For the year ending 31 December 2021 the Group anticipates that the total portfolio values will further increase over the fair values recorded in 2020. 

Throughout the forecasted years the Group foresees that its properties will further appreciate in value by 1%. 

Acquisition costs pertaining to the properties to be acquired over 2021, 2022 and 2023 are included in the net investment income. No acquisition 

costs are forecasted in 2024. 

NET FINANCE COSTS

D�æ�ĈÄ�Ä����ËÞæÞ��Ú���û×��æ���æË�Ú�Ã�¬Ä�Þæ��½��Ëõ�Ú�æ©��£ËÚ���Þæ���ü��ÚÞɌ

TAXATION

Taxation is made up of current taxation and deferred taxation, the latter being taken on the property uplifts by region. 

%½ê�æê�æ¬ËÄ�¬Ä�æ©��æ�û�Ĉ¤êÚ�Þ��Ú¬Þ��£ÚËÃ���×¬æ�½�¤�¬ÄÞ�æ�û�¬Ä�½ê����ö¬æ©¬Ä�æ©��×ÚË·��æ¬ËÄÞɇ�ËÄ��¬Þ×ËÞ�½�Ë£��Äü�¬Äõ�ÞæÃ�Äæ�×ÚË×�Úæ¬�ÞɌ�
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Hili Properties p.l.c. Statement of Financial Position as at 
31 December

2020
Audited

2021
Projected

2022
Projected

2023
Projected

2024
Projected

€'000s €'000s €'000s €'000s €'000s

Assets

Total non-current assets 144,911 161,013 182,844 209,981 213,425

Total current assets 4,728 70,867 36,804 12,795 6,792

Total assets 149,639 231,881 219,648 222,776 220,217

Equity 

Total equity 62,675 133,137 129,903 127,759 128,327

Total equity 62,675 133,137 129,903 127,759 128,327

Liabilities 

Non-current liabilities

Total non-current liabilities 77,694 89,190 65,043 86,136 82,918

Total current liabilities 9,270 9,554 24,702 8,880 8,971

Total liabilities 86,964 98,744 89,745 95,017 91,889

The group’s non-current assets predominantly consist of investment properties, which are expected to increase over 2020 through an acquisition 

planned towards the end of 2021.

Investment property is expected to increase by €30m in 2022 and by a further €48m in 2023 on account of property acquisitions, and the opening 

of new restaurants for the projected period. 

Over the forecasted period presented, the following disposals are being planned by the group:

a) Disposal of investment properties held for sale in 2020, planned for disposal at around the end of 2021;

b) Disposal of a Malta-based asset in 2022; and

c) Disposal of a major asset in Romania in 2023.

These disposals are in line with the re-positioning strategy of the group.

Equity is estimated to increase from €62.6m to around €133m by the end of 2021, which is driven by these factors:

a) Capital injection of €18.4m by Hili Ventures Limited; and

�ɛ� ʆȁǼÃ�¬Ä��Ùê¬æü�êÄ��Ú�æ©��Þ©�Ú��Ëą�Ú���¬Ä¤�Ã����¬Ä�æ©��VÚËÞ×��æêÞɌ

The projections exclude further equity fund raising (after the IPO) which remains a possibility in the future. 

The Group’s working capital (current assets less current liabilities) is expected to grow in line with the growth in the operations of the business. 

=ËÄ¤�æ�ÚÃ��ËÚÚËö¬Ä¤Þ��Ú���û×��æ���æË�ĉê�æê�æ��¬Ä�½¬Ä��ö¬æ©�æ©��×ÚË·��æ���×ÚË×�Úæü���Ùê¬Þ¬æ¬ËÄÞ��Ä���¬Þ×ËÞ�½Þ�Ëõ�Ú�æ©��×ÚË·��æ���æ©Ú��ɬü��Ú�×�Ú¬Ë�Ɍ�
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Hili Properties p.l.c. Cash Flows Statement for the year ended 
31 December

2020
Audited

2021
Projected

2022
Projected

2023
Projected

2024
Projected

€'000s €'000s €’000s €’000s €’000s

��Þ©�ĉËöÞ�£ÚËÃ�Ë×�Ú�æ¬Ä¤���æ¬õ¬æ¬�Þ 4,529 5,617 8,732 9,056 9,358

Interest paid (3,686) (3,413) (3,298) (3,528) (3,119)

Income tax paid (520) (495) (722) (1,755) (1,509)

D�æ���Þ©�ĉËöÞ�¤�Ä�Ú�æ���£ÚËÃ�Ë×�Ú�æ¬Ä¤���æ¬õ¬æ¬�Þ 323 1,708 4,711 3,773 4,730

D�æ���Þ©�ĉËöÞ�¤�Ä�Ú�æ���£ÚËÃ�ɒ�ɚêÞ���¬Äɛ�¬Äõ�Þæ¬Ä¤���æ¬õ¬æ¬�Þ 4,588 (15,032) (24,065) (27,193) (2,210)

D�æ���Þ©�ĉËöÞ�¤�Ä�Ú�æ���£ÚËÃ�ɒ�ɚêÞ���¬Äɛ�ĈÄ�Ä�¬Ä¤���æ¬õ¬æ¬�Þ (8,988) 80,081 (14,489) (5,314) (8,543)

Movement in cash and cash equivalents (4,077) 66,756 (33,843) (23,734) (6,023)

Cash and cash equivalents at start of year 7,141 3,059 69,815 35,972 12,238

Foreign exchange adjustment (5) - - - -

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 3,059 69,815 35,972 12,238 6,214

The Group’s net cash from operations are expected to improve by around €1.4m over the results for the year ended 31 December 2020. This 

improvement is mainly attributable to the increased cash from operating activities. This trend is then expected to be repeated in 2022, with a drop 

in 2023 due to the planned disposal of one of the assets in Romania. There will be recovery to around €4.7m in 2024.

��Þ©�¤�Ä�Ú�æ���£ÚËÃ�¬Äõ�Þæ¬Ä¤���æ¬õ¬æ¬�Þ�Ëõ�Ú�æ©��£ËÚ���Þæ���×�Ú¬Ë��Ú�ĉ��æÞ�æ©����Ùê¬Þ¬æ¬ËÄÞ�×½�ÄÄ���Ëõ�Ú�æ©��ü��ÚÞɇ�½�ÞÞ���Þ©�Ú���¬õ���£ÚËÃ�æ©��

planned disposals to be made. 

]¬Ã¬½�Ú½üɇ� ��Þ©� ¤�Ä�Ú�æ��� £ÚËÃ�ĈÄ�Ä�¬Ä¤� ��æ¬õ¬æ¬�Þ� Ú�ĉ��æÞ� æ©�� ×½�ÄÄ��� ½Ë�ÄÞ� æË� ��� æ�º�Ä� ½�ÞÞ� �ÃËêÄæ� Ú�×�¬�ɇ� ¬Ä� ½¬Ä��ö¬æ©� æ©�� ¤ÚËê×ɹÞ�

investment strategy. 

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRINCIPAL ASSUMPTIONS

c©���û×��æ�æ¬ËÄÞ�Ë£�æ©���¬Ú��æËÚÞ�ö¬æ©�Ú�Þ×��æ�æË�æ©��£êæêÚ��Ë×�Ú�æ¬ËÄÞ�Ë£�æ©��&ÚËê×�£ËÚ�æ©��ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�ü��ÚÞ��Ä�¬Ä¤�ǿǽ�����Ã��Ú�ǾǼǾǽɇ�ǾǼǾǾɇ�

2023, and 2024 are presented in Annex III of this Registration Document. 

c©����Þ¬Þ�Ë£�×Ú�×�Ú�æ¬ËÄ��Ä��æ©��º�ü��ÞÞêÃ×æ¬ËÄÞ�êÄ��Ú½ü¬Ä¤�æ©��VÚËĈæ�%ËÚ���ÞæÞ��Ú��Þ�æ�Ëêæ� ¬Ä���æ�¬½� ¬Ä��ÄÄ�û� ...� Ë£�æ©¬Þ�Y�¤¬ÞæÚ�æ¬ËÄ�

�Ë�êÃ�ÄæɌ�c©��VÚËĈæ�%ËÚ���ÞæÞ�¬Ä�½ê���æ©��£ËÚ���Þæ�£ËÚ�æ©��ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�ü��Ú��Ä����ǿǽ�����Ã��Ú�ǾǼǾǽɌ�c©¬Þ�£ËÚ���Þæ�¬Þ���Þ���ËÄ�æ©��¬Äæ�Ú¬Ã�

results for the Group to 30 June 2021, and the forecast for the period 1 July 2021 to 31 December 2021 based on the results achieved to 

June 2021, and extrapolated until year-end. The forecast has been compiled and prepared on a basis which is both comparable with the 

©¬ÞæËÚ¬��½�ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�¬Ä£ËÚÃ�æ¬ËÄ��Ä���ËÄÞ¬Þæ�Äæ�ö¬æ©�æ©���ËÃ×�ÄüɹÞ����ËêÄæ¬Ä¤�×Ë½¬�¬�ÞɌ�c©��VÚËĈæ�%ËÚ���ÞæÞ�©�õ��ÄËæ����Ä��ê�¬æ��Ɍ

�Ä�¬Ä��×�Ä��Äæ����ËêÄæ�Äæ�Ú�×ËÚæ��ü�&Ú�Äæ�c©ËÚÄæËÄ�¬Ä����ËÚ��Ä���ö¬æ©�.]���ǿȀǼǼ�ɫ�c©���û�Ã¬Ä�æ¬ËÄ�Ë£�VÚËÞ×��æ¬õ��%¬Ä�Ä�¬�½�.Ä£ËÚÃ�æ¬ËÄɇ�

is included in Annex III of this Registration Document

9.4  SIGNIFICANT CHANGE IN THE COMPANY’S FINANCIAL POSITION

c©�Ú��©�Þ����Ä�ÄË�Þ¬¤Ä¬Ĉ��Äæ��©�Ä¤��¬Ä�æ©��ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�×ËÞ¬æ¬ËÄ�Ë£�æ©���ËÃ×�Äü�Þ¬Ä���ǿǽ�����Ã��Ú�ǾǼǾǼɌ

9.5  DIVIDEND POLICY

It is the Board’s objective to distribute a total net dividend to holders of ordinary shares of the Company amounting to an estimated 4% on 

the Issue Price of €0.27. For tax treatment on dividends received investors are urged to refer to section 5.3.2 of the Securities Note.
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c©���Ë�Ú�ɹÞ�×Ë½¬�ü�¬Þ�æË�×�ü��Ä��ÄÄê�½�ĈÄ�½��¬õ¬��Ä�Ɍ�DËæö¬æ©Þæ�Ä�¬Ä¤�æ©���£ËÚ�Þ�¬�ɇ�æ©���Ë�Ú��ö¬½½��õ�½ê�æ��æ©��ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�×ËÞ¬æ¬ËÄ��Ä��×�Ú£ËÚÃ�Ä���

Ë£�æ©���ËÃ×�Äü�£ÚËÃ�æ¬Ã��æË�æ¬Ã���Ä����Ú�£ê½½ü��ËÄÞ¬��Ú�ö©�æ©�Úɇ�¬Ä�½¬¤©æ�Ë£�æ©��ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�Ú�Þê½æÞ�Ë£�æ©���ËÃ×�Äüɇ��Þ�ö�½½��Þ�×Ú�õ�¬½¬Ä¤���ËÄËÃ¬��

conditions, the Board may declare and pay out an interim dividend. The net dividend distributions that have been provided for in the Company’s 

×ÚËÞ×��æ¬õ��ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�¬Ä£ËÚÃ�æ¬ËÄ�¬Ä�½¬Ä��ö¬æ©�æ©����Ëõ��×Ë½¬�ü��Ú��¬½½êÞæÚ�æ�����½ËöɆ

Net Dividend 2023 2024

€'000s €'000s

Final 5,240,000 5,240,000

c©��ĈÚÞæ��¬õ¬��Ä��Ë£�æ©���ËÃ×�Äü�£Ë½½Ëö¬Ä¤�æ©���ËÃ×½�æ¬ËÄ�Ë£�æ©��.ÞÞê��¬Þ��û×��æ���æË�����¬ÞæÚ¬�êæ���£Ë½½Ëö¬Ä¤�æ©���××ÚËõ�½�Ë£�æ©��ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�Þæ�æ�Ã�ÄæÞ�

for the period ending 31 December 2022.

c©���ûæ�Äæ�Ë£��Äü��¬õ¬��Ä���¬ÞæÚ¬�êæ¬ËÄ�ö¬½½���×�Ä��ê×ËÄɇ��ÃËÄ¤Þæ�Ëæ©�Ú�£��æËÚÞɇ�æ©��×ÚËĈæÞ��õ�¬½��½��£ËÚ��¬ÞæÚ¬�êæ¬ËÄ�£ËÚ�æ©��ü��Úɇ�æ©���¬Ú��æËÚÞɹ�õ¬�ö�

ËÄ�æ©��×Ú�õ�¬½¬Ä¤�Ã�Úº�æ�Ëêæ½ËËºɇ��Äü����æ�Þ�Úõ¬�¬Ä¤��Ä��Ú�×�üÃ�Äæ�Ú�Ùê¬Ú�Ã�ÄæÞ�¬Ä�½ê�¬Ä¤�ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½��Ëõ�Ä�ÄæÞ��Ä��Ëæ©�Ú�Ú�ÞæÚ¬�æ¬õ���Ëõ�Ä�ÄæÞɇ�æ©��

��Þ©�ĉËöÞ�£ËÚ�æ©���ËÃ×�Äüɇ�öËÚº¬Ä¤���×¬æ�½�Ú�Ùê¬Ú�Ã�ÄæÞɇ�¬Äõ�ÞæÃ�Äæ�Ë××ËÚæêÄ¬æ¬�Þɇ���×¬æ�½��û×�Ä�¬æêÚ���Ä��æ©��Ú�Ùê¬Ú�Ã�ÄæÞ�Ë£�æ©����æɌ

10.  ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

10.1  LEGAL AND ARBITRATION PROCEEDINGS

Neither the Company nor any member of the Group is engaged in, or so far as the Company or any member of the Group is aware, has pending 

or threatened, any governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings which may have, or have had during the 12 months preceding the date of this 

Y�¤¬ÞæÚ�æ¬ËÄ��Ë�êÃ�Äæɇ���Þ¬¤Ä¬Ĉ��Äæ��ą��æ�ËÄ�æ©���ËÃ×�ÄüɹÞ�ËÚ�æ©��&ÚËê×ɹÞ�ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�×ËÞ¬æ¬ËÄ�ËÚ�×ÚËĈæ��¬½¬æüɌ�

10.2  SHARE CAPITAL

As at the date of this Registration Document:

The authorised share capital of the Company is one hundred and twenty million Euro (€120,000,000) divided into six hundred million (600,000,000) 

ordinary shares of a nominal value of twenty Euro cents (€0.20) each. 

The issued share capital of the Company is sixty million Euro (€60,000,000) divided into three hundred million (300,000,000) ordinary shares of a 

nominal value of twenty Euro cents (€0.20) each fully paid up.

An application has been made for the Shares to be listed on the Malta Stock Exchange. 

There is no capital of the Company which is currently under option.

11.  MATERIAL CONTRACTS

The Company or Group has/have not, in the two (2) years preceding the date of the Prospectus, entered into any contract, not being a contract 

entered into in the Company’s or Group’s ordinary course of business, giving rise to an obligation or entitlement which is material to the Company as 

at the date of the Prospectus.

12.  DISCLOSURE UNDER MARKET ABUSE REGULATIONS

There is no information that has been disclosed under Regulation (EU) No 596/2014 over the last 12 months which is relevant as at the date of the 

Prospectus. 
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13.  THIRD PARTY INFORMATION, STATEMENT BY EXPERTS AND DECLARATIONS OF ANY INTEREST

13.1  PROPERTY VALUATION REPORT

�ê��æË�æ©��£��æ�æ©�æ�æ©��&ÚËê×�¬Þ�æ©��Ú�¤¬Þæ�Ú���ËöÄ�Ú�Ë£���ÄêÃ��Ú�Ë£�×ÚË×�Úæ¬�Þ�¬Ä�õ�Ú¬ËêÞ��ËêÄæÚ¬�Þɇ�Ĉõ��ɚȁɛ��ËÄ��ÄÞ���×ÚË×�Úæü�õ�½ê�æ¬ËÄ�Ú�×ËÚæÞ��½½�

dated between 29 September 2021 and 12 October 2021, have been prepared by the Valuers. A copy of these reports are attached to this Registration 

Document as Annex II and the full property valuation reports are available in accordance with section 14 of this Registration Document.

13.2  ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT

The Issuer engaged Grant Thornton to issue the accountant’s report dated 14 October 2021. The details of the said expert are found in section 3.2 of 

this Registration Document.

13.3  CONFIRMATIONS

The property valuation reports and the accountant’s report have been included in the form and context in which they appear with the authorization 

of the Valuers and Grant Thornton respectively, which have given, and have not withdrawn, their consent to the inclusion of the said reports herein.

c©��r�½ê�ÚÞ��Ä��&Ú�Äæ�c©ËÚÄæËÄ��Ë�ÄËæ�©�õ���Äü�Ã�æ�Ú¬�½�¬Äæ�Ú�Þæ�¬Ä�æ©��.ÞÞê�ÚɌ�c©��.ÞÞê�Ú��ËÄĈÚÃÞ�æ©�æ�æ©��×ÚË×�Úæü�õ�½ê�æ¬ËÄ�Ú�×ËÚæÞ��Ä��æ©��

accountant’s report have been accurately reproduced in the Prospectus, and that there are no facts of which the Issuer is aware, that have been 

omitted and which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.

13.4  INTEREST OF EXPERTS AND ADVISERS

Save for the property valuation reports contained in Annex II of this Registration Document and the accountant’s report contained in Annex III of this 

Registration Document, the Prospectus does not contain any statement or report attributed to any person as an expert. 

14.  DOCUMENTS ON DISPLAY

For the duration period of this Registration Document the following documents shall be available for inspection at the registered address of the 

Company:

(a) Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company;

ɚ�ɛ� �ê�¬æ���ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�Þæ�æ�Ã�ÄæÞ�Ë£�æ©���ËÃ×�Äü��Ëõ�Ú¬Ä¤�æ©��ü��ÚÞ��Ä����ǿǽ�����Ã��Ú�ǾǼǽȅ��Ä��ǿǽ�����Ã��Ú�ǾǼǾǼɇ�æË¤�æ©�Ú�ö¬æ©�æ©���ê�¬æËÚÞɹ� 

 Reports thereon; 

ɚ�ɛ� .Äæ�Ú¬Ã�ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�Þæ�æ�Ã�ÄæÞ�Ë£�æ©���ËÃ×�Äü��Ëõ�Ú¬Ä¤�æ©��×�Ú¬Ë�Þ���æö��Ä�ǽ�9�Äê�Úü�ǾǼǾǼ��Ä��ǿǼ�9êÄ��ǾǼǾǼ��Ä����æö��Ä�ǽ�9�Äê�Úü�ǾǼǾǽ� 

 and 30 June 2021; 

(d)  The Valuers’ property valuation reports dated between 29 September 2021 and 30 September 2021; and

(e) The accountant’s report included as Annex III of this Registration Document.

Documents (a) through (e) above shall also be available on the Investor Relations section of the Company’s website  
https://www.hiliproperties.com  
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The following table lists the details of the other companies the Directors and Senior Management have been members of in terms of their 

��Ã¬Ä¬ÞæÚ�æ¬ËÄ��Ä��Ã�Ä�¤�Ã�Äæ�Ëõ�Ú�æ©��×Ú�õ¬ËêÞ�Ĉõ��ü��ÚÞ��Ä���Ú��ÞË��Þ��æ�æ©����æ��Ë£�æ©¬Þ�Y�¤¬ÞæÚ�æ¬ËÄ��Ë�êÃ�ÄæɆ

PIER LUCA DEMAJO

Present:

Hili Properties plc C 57954

80 Days Limited C 89474

Bajdem Limited C 61869

Bencini Demajo Corporate Services Limited C 57877

Biaritz Ltd C 85674

Exigy Limited C 30110

Fablab Malta Limited C 73250

Forcive AI Limited C 99054

iSpot Poland Sp. z o. o. KRS 0000500329

IoT Malta Limited C 75588

IoT Solutions Limited C 82423

Joeclau Ltd. C 76752

M. Demajo (Timbers) Limited C 750

M. Demajo (Estates) Limited C 3136

M. Demajo (Holdings) Limited C 2517

M. Demajo (Services) Limited C 31465

Multi Packaging Limited C 158

Ozone Limited C 18334

Packprint Limited C 2024

YËÄ�½��C��ËÄ�½��+ËêÞ���©�Ú¬æ¬�Þ�%ËêÄ��æ¬ËÄ�ɫ�C�½æ��ɚYC+��C�½æ�ɛ LPF 84

Smart Technologies (International) Limited C 66181

Smart Technologies Limited C 43711

St Angelo Limited C 4565

Young Presidents Organisation Malta Chapter Foundation LPF 235

Past Five Years:

Air Services International Limited C 4255 ]æÚê�º�Ëą

E-TUV Limited C 59234 ]æÚê�º�Ëą

M. Demajo (Contracting) Limited C 46509 ]æÚê�º�Ëą

M. Demajo Maritime Services Limited C 57255 In liquidation

Online Tourism Platforms Limited C 69983 ]æÚê�º�Ëą

Resort Travel Bureau Limited C 1323 ]æÚê�º�Ëą
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PETER HILI

Present:

Hili Properties plc C 57954

Premier Restaurants Malta Limited C 18843

Premier Arcades Ltd C 51358

Eagle Two Ltd C 81395

LARAGH CASSAR

Present:

Falcon Ventures Limited C 23405

Medserv Operations Limited C 2971

Medserv Libya Limited C 55898

Medserv International Limited C 44846

Medserv ME Limited C 72250

Medserv Africa Limited C 57749

Medserv Eastern Mediterranean Limited C 50453

APS Bank plc C 2192

Hili Properties plc C 57954

See Limited C 81352

Past Five Years:

Sundown Court Limited C 4681 ]æÚê�º�Ëą

Equinox International Limited C 29674

Dizz Finance plc C 71189

GEORGIOS KAKOURAS

Present:

Premier Estates Eesti OU 11740668

UAB “Premier Estates Lietuva” 100005317115

SIA “Premier Estates Ltd” 40003993068

SIA “Apex Investments” 40003612223

SIA “Tirdzniecibas centrs “DOLE”” 40003434873

SIA “Dz78” 40203242104

Premier Assets SRL 38814243

Hili Premier Estates Romania SRL 36741072

Hili Estates Ltd. C 20513

Hili Estates Holdings Co  Ltd. C 58254

Premier Estates Limited C 57813

Harvest Technology plc C 63276

Hili Properties plc C 57954
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Past Five Years:

SIA “TUKUMA PROJEKTS” 40003839145

Maltco Lotteries Limited C 32326

EDDY FELIX FRANCOIS VERMEIR:

Present:

Hili Properties plc C 57954

iSpot Premium Romania SRL 201694

Past Five Years:

iSpot Poland Sp. z o. o. KRS 0000500329

SAD sp. z o.o. 11567

DAVID AQUILINA

Present:

JND Properties Ltd C 5415

Belair Operations Ltd C 73243

Belair Sliema Limited C 88195

Aquilani Developments Ltd C 35632

Trilogy Limited C 42528

Trilogy Two Ltd C 97872

C-Ten Invest. SICAV SCC Ltd SV 567

JND Retail Ltd C 97204

Aquison Holding Ltd C 55000

All-In Property Ltd C 57593

Hili Properties plc C 57954

DANIELA PAVIA

Present:

UAB Premier Estates Lietuva (Lithuania) 302483287
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Origo One 
Satekles 2B 
Riga, LV-1050 
Latvia 
 

Office: +371 6778 3333  
E-mail: colliers.latvia@colliers.com 
www.colliers.com  
 

 

 

 
 

 

29 September 2021 

Hili Properties Plc  
Nineteen Twenty-Three, Valletta Road, Marsa, MRS 3000, Malta 
 
Summary: Hili Properties Baltic portfolio valuation 

Dear Sirs  

 

Valuation of Property: Various Commercial properties owned by special purpose vehicles related to Hili 
Properties Plc 
 
Client: Hili Properties Plc (represented as signing party to the valuation services agreement by Premier 
Estates LTD SIA, 2B Satekles iela, Riga, Latvia) 
 
Acronym Definitions:  

a) GBA Ȃ Gross Building Area 
b) GLA Ȃ Gross Leasable Area 
c) NLA Ȃ Net Leasable Area 

 
 
1. Introduction 

1.1. Colliers International (the Valuer), in the capacity of a professionally qualified real property valuer, 
has been commissioned by Hili Properties Plc (the Client), to carry out a valuation of various 
Commercial properties located in Latvia, Estonia and Lithuania. The purpose of this valuation is for 
the inclusion with the Prospectus or Circular, to be published in connection with the proposed 
public listing of all ordinary shares of Hili Properties Plc, a company registered in the Republic of 
Malta with its registered office at Nineteen Twenty-Three, Valletta Road, Marsa, MRS 3000, Malta. 
The valuation instruction is carried out taking into account the requirements set out within Chapter 
7 of the Capital Markets Rules of the Malta Financial Services Authority published by the Malta 
Financial Services Authority. The effective date of the valuation (value date) is 31/07/2021. 

1.2. The valuation reports on the individual properties are prepared by the Colliers International offices 
in the respective country where the particular property is located.  

1.3. Each valuation is being carried out as at present market conditions. Each valuation is being made 
without a formal structural or technical assessment. Each valuation covers the building as a whole 
in its existing state. The properties are being valued on a Market Value basis, as defined by the Royal 
Ζnstitute of Chartered Surveyors (ȆRΖCSȇ) Valuation Standards, namely, the price at which land and 
buildings could be sold under private contract between a willing seller and an armȇs length buyer 
on the date of valuation, it being assumed that the property is publicly exposed to the market, that 
market conditions permit orderly disposal and that a normal period, having regard to the nature of 
the property, is available for the negotiation of sale.  

1.4. The undersigned declares that all of the properties listed under the scope of this summary were 
accessed and inspected. These visits were intended to better understand the characteristics and 



 
   

 

 
 

 

qualities of the Property and its surroundings, to evaluate the level of finishes it present, to establish 
what could influence the values of the Properties, and to confirm their current uses. 

2. Declaration of Independence 

The Valuer confirms his status as an external independent valuer, without any financial interest (other 
than service fees due to him) in Hili Properties Plc and its related entities. 

3. Valuation Report 

3.1. Contents of the Valuation Report (as specified within 7.4 in the Capital Markets Rules) 

3.1.1. Address Ȃ Each valuation report includes the property address including a façade photo 
showing the property being referred to.  

3.1.2. Nature of Valuerȇs Ζnspection Ȃ An inspection was conducted for each property depending on 
provided access and practical extent of the exercise and was intended to better understand 
the characteristics and qualities of the Property and its surroundings, to evaluate the level of 
finishes it present, to establish what could influence the values of the Properties, and to 
confirm their current uses.  

3.1.3. Description Ȃ Each respective report includes a description of the property being referred to.  

3.1.4. Existing Use Ȃ The main use of property as per permit or as presently established is specified 
within each report.  

3.1.5. Relevant Planning Permissions Ȃ Compliance with relevant planning regulations is checked by 
the Valuer and referred to within each respective report. 

3.1.6. Material contravention of Statutory Requirements Ȃ Where and if present, any contraventions 
of Statutory Requirements were listed within each report.  

3.1.7. Tenure Ȃ Included into each respective report.  

3.1.8. Main terms of tenantsȇ leases or sub-leases Ȃ Included into each respective report.  

3.1.9. Approximate age of the building Ȃ Included into each respective report. 

3.1.10. Present capital value in existing state Ȃ Included into each respective report. 

3.1.11. Terms of any intra-Group lease on Property occupied by the Group (identifying the 
Properties) to the extent that such leases are taken into account in the valuation Ȃ relevant to 
the batch of fast-food restaurants covered by this valuation instruction; the batch includes the 
following restraurants: Vienibas, Ulmana, Imanta in Riga, Latvia; fast food restaurant Parnu in 
Parnu, Estonia; Dainava in Kaunas and Svajone in Vilnius Lithuania. The name of the occupier 
is not mentioned as per instruction of the Client; the occupier, however, is a franchisee 
restaurant operator of a globally well-known fast food restaurant chain. The terms of the 
leases are included into each respective report. Based on the information received as part of 
the current instruction, the Valuer has sufficient grounds to conclude that the present rental 
arrangement (rent conditions) are in line with the market, can be sustained by continued 
Tenantȇs normal business operations, there are sufficient indirect guarantees to the solvency 
of the tenant and solidity of the projected cash flow. Based on the agreed scope for the current 
instruction, the Valuer assumes that the current rental arrangement could and would continue 
in case of a hypothetical sale of the Subject property. 

3.1.12. Other matters which materially affect the value Ȃ Not applicable 

3.1.13. Sources of information Ȃ All information required by the valuer for the purpose of this 
valuation was obtained from the Client and relevant public sources. Areas used for the 
calculation were provided by the client and no measured surveys were done by the 
undersigned.  

3.1.14. Details of registered mortgages and privileges and other charges, real rights thereon 
including details of emphyteutic concessions, easements, and other burdens Ȃ This has been 
included into each report where applicable. 



 
   

 

 
 

 

3.2. Details of the Valuer Ȃ All three Colliers International entities in Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania act as 
co-contractors to this valuation instruction. The respective valuations have been prepared and 
undersigned by Valuerȇs staff with relevant professional qualification, experience, and expertise. 

3.2.1. OU Colliers International Advisors, reg.no. 11330404, with registered office at Valukoja 8, 
11415 Tallinn, Estonia, acts as co-contractor, completing the valuation work related to the 
properties located in Estonia; 

3.2.2. SIA Colliers International Advisors, reg.no. 40003993068, with registered office at Satekles 2B, 
Riga, LV-1050, Latvia, acts as co-contractor, completing the valuation work related to the 
properties located in Latvia; 

3.2.3. UAB Colliers International Advisors, reg.no. 302424118, with registered office at J. Jasinskio g. 
12, Vilnius 01112, Lithuania, acts as co-contractor, completing the valuation work related to 
the properties located in Lithuania. 

3.3. Basis of Valuation and Assumptions made 

3.3.1. Applicable valuation standard: valuations produced by the Valuer are produced compliant with 
the relevant national and international standards (RICS RedBook, IVS); primary applicable 
standard Ȃ RICS Red Book.  

3.3.2. Market Value (AS IS, on the value date) has been adopted as the basis of value in accordance 
with the respective definition set out in the valuation standard, save for the property SC 
Minska, Nicgales 2, Riga, Latvia, where in addition to Market Value also Investment Value is 
reported in order to take into account the value upside potential of the existent additional 
building right.  

3.3.2.1. Market Value is the estimated amount for which an asset should exchange on the 
valuation date between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm's length transaction, 
after proper marketing where the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and 
without compulsion. (see Glossary, RICS Red Book; IVS 104 paragraph 30.1). The 
definition implies the following assumptions:  

3.3.2.1.1. A willing seller; 

3.3.2.1.2. That, prior to the date of valuation, there had been a reasonable period, (having 
regard to the nature of the property and the state of the market) for the proper 
marketing of the interest, for the agreement of price and terms and conditions of 
the sale; 

3.3.2.1.3. That the state of the market, level of values and other circumstances were, on an 
earlier assumed date of exchange of contracts, the same as of date of valuation; 

3.3.2.1.4. That no account is taken of any additional bid by a purchaser with a special 
interest; 

3.3.2.1.5. That both parties to the transaction had acted knowledgeably, prudently and 
without compulsion; 

3.3.2.2. Investment Value is the value of an asset to the owner or a prospective owner for 
individual investment or operational objectives (see see Glossary, RICS Red Book; IVS 
104 paragraph 60.1). 

3.3.2.2.1. As the definition implies, and in contrast to market value, this basis of value does 
not envisage a hypothetical transaction but is a measure of the value of the 
benefits of ownership to the current owner or to a prospective owner, recognising 
that these may differ from those of a typical market participant. It is often used to 
measure performance of an asset against an owner's own investment criteria. 

3.3.3. The following assumptions have been made throughout all object-level reports:  

3.3.3.1. The Valuer draws attention to the fact that valuations stated within this report are 
exclusive of any VAT liability which may be incurred in development or disposal.  



 
   

 

 
 

 

3.3.3.2. Unless otherwise stated, the Valuer has assumed that the freehold or leasehold 
properties are capable of unrestricted transfer to third party purchasers (in the case of 
leasehold properties subject to the lessorsȇ consent, no to be unreasonably withheld). 

3.3.3.3. In the event of a future change in the trading potential, the open market value of the 
existing use could vary.  

3.4. Valuation of the benefit or detriment of contractual arrangements in respect of Property Ȃ Not 
applicable in this case.  

3.5. Directors or promoters have had an interest in any acquisitions or disposals Ȃ Not applicable in this 
case.  

3.6. Other relevant matters Ȃ Valuation of the properties covered by this valuation this is based on open 
market value for existing use (going concern).  

3.7. Valuation Methodology Ȃ For most part, the valuations are based on the Income approach (applying 
discounted cash flow - DCF - method). The income approach provides an indication of value by 
converting future cash flow to a single current value.  

4. Valuation of Property in Course of Development (clause 7.5 of Chapter 7 of the Capital Markets 
Rules)  

4.1. Relevant Planning Permits Ȃ All relevant planning conditions have been referred to and commented 
in relevant detail in each respective valuation report.  

4.2. Completion and occupation date Ȃ Included in the respective valuation reports.  

4.3. Estimate of Completion costs Ȃ Included in the respective valuation reports.  

4.4. Open Market Value of the Property in its Existing State Ȃ Included in the respective valuation reports.  

4.5. Estimated Capital Value Ȃ Included in the respective valuation reports.  

5. Progressive Development (clause 7.6 of Chapter 7 of the Capital Markets Rules) Ȃ Included in the 
respective valuation reports, where applicable.  

6. Properties held for Development (clause 7.7 of Chapter 7 of the Capital Markets Rules), where 
applicable 

6.1. Relevant Planning Permits Ȃ All relevant planning permits have been listed in each respective 
valuation report. If the permit has not been approved or has been withdrawn, this has been 
indicated next to a relevant permit. All other permits which have no such note, have been approved. 
Dates of approval of permit have also been included. These are valid for 5 years since the date of 
issue of the permit.  

6.2. Nature and Description of proposed development Ȃ It has been included within the respective 
valuation reports.  

6.3. Date of Commencement of Development Ȃ It has been included within the respective valuation 
reports.  

6.4. Expected Development Period Ȃ It has been included within the respective valuation reports. 

6.5. Estimate of Completion costs Ȃ It has been included within the respective valuation reports. 

7. Valuation of Properties for Business Use (clause 7.8 of Chapter 7 of the Capital Markets Rules) Ȃ It 
has been included within the relative valuation report, where applicable.  

8. Overseas Property (clause 7.9 of Chapter 7 of the Capital Markets Rules) Ȃ All properties covered by 
this valuation instruction fall in this category (are located outside Malta).  

9. Rentals used in Valuations (clause 7.10 of Chapter 7 of the Capital Markets Rules) Ȃ It has been 
included within the relative valuation report, where applicable.  

10. Summary of valuations:  



 
   

 

 
 

 

In terms of Capital Markets Rule 7.12, due to the large number of properties being valued, a condensed 
format is being provided hereunder so as to simplify assessment. The full valuation report on individual 
property level includes all the details referred to in 3.1. above and is made available for inspection upon 
request to the Company.  
 

Geographical 
category 

Title status Location: 
Country 

Property ID Property Name Location: 
City 

Sum of 
Market 
value [EUR] 

Sum of 
Investment 
value [EUR] 

overseas freehold Estonia EE01 Restaurant Parnu Parnu 1 600 000  

  

Estonia 
Total    1 600 000  

  Latvia LV01 
Restaurant 
Vienibas Riga 2 100 000  

   LV02 
Restaurant 
Ulmana  Riga 1 740 000  

   LV03 
Restaurant 
Imanta Riga 2 160 000  

   LV04 
Nicgales 2 (SC 
Minska) Riga 6 540 000 7 725 000 

   LV05 A.Dombrovska 23 Riga 5 540 000  
   LV06 Dzelzavas 78 Riga 6 730 000  
   LV07 Kreimenu 4a Riga 1 190 000  
   LV08 Vienibas 95 Riga 1 540 000  
   LV09 Maskavas 357 Riga 11 040 000  

  

Latvia 
Total    38 580 000 7 725 000 

  Lithuania LT01 
Restaurant 
Dainava Kaunas 2 200 000  

   LT02 
Restaurant 
Svajone Vilnius 2 520 000  

  

Lithuania 
Total    4 720 000  

 

freehold 
Total     44 900 000 7 725 000 

overseas 
Total      44 900 000 7 725 000 
Grand Total      44 900 000 7 725 000 

 

 

Kind regards 

 

Jānis Ozols MRΖCS  

Colliers International Advisors SIA (Latvia) 

Partner I Valuation & Advisory  

per procura 

RICS registered valuer (No. 6372512) 

Latvian certified real property valuer (cert. No. 98) 



 
   

 

 
 

 

Estonia 

Property ID EE01 

Property Address Parnu Restaurant 

Proprietor Premier Estates Eesti OÜ 

Description The Subject Property consists of a land plot with a fast-food restaurant building, built in 2010. In 
general, the property is in a good technical condition, meeting all requirements of a modern 
retail & fast-food service building requirements.  
The Property is located in Pärnu in Ülejõe city district by Tallinn Road, ca 150 Ȃ 200 m from the 
Via Baltica Road. The city center is ca 2.5 km and the beach area ca 3.5-4 km from The Subject 
Property. 

Typology 

Land area 

GBA 

GLA 

NLA 

Operating fast food restaurant 

4,415 sqm 

490.4 

490.4 

490.4 

Tenure Freehold 

Occupation The Subject property is fully leased in its entirety to tenant Premier Restaurants Eesti OÜ for fast 
food restaurant service line operation. The name of the occupier is not mentioned as per 
instruction of the Client; the occupier, however, is a franchisee restaurant operator of a globally 
well-known fast food restaurant chain. The lease agreement is effective since 2010.06.01, lease 
period 20 years (effective until 2030.05.31). Initial rent for the premises 8,333.33 Eur/month. 
Current rent (indexed) is 9166.33 Eur/month. Rent is indexed every 5 years period. The rent 
indexation has been adjusted by CPI or by 3%, whichever is the higher and applied once in a 5-
year period. Next indexation from 01.06.2026.  

Maintenance/repair The lease agreement places the obligation of all ordinary internal and external maintenance and 
repairs (including replacements) other than structural on the Tenant. As such the property is well 
maintained and in good state of repair. 

Age The property was built in 2010. 

Restrictions, encumbrances, and 
mortgages 

Registered mortgage in favor of AS DNB Bank (reg.No. Estonia 11315936) 

Encumbrances of engineering networks and protection zone along street or road red line.  

Market Value EUR 1 600 000  

Special assumptions x The valuation of the Subject Property shall be viewed in context of the batch of fast food 
restaurants covered by this valuation instruction; the batch includes the following 
restaurants: Vienibas, Ulmana, Imanta in Riga, Latvia; fast food restaurant Parnu in Parnu, 
Estonia; Dainava in Kaunas and Svajone in Vilnius Lithuania; while the reported values for 
each property are determined separately, the underlying considerations are formed in 
context of the portfolio; at the same time any synergistic value elements arising from a 
portfolio setup are disregarded.  

x Valuer is informed that the Landlord and Tenant are related entities on group level. 
Nevertheless, based on the information received as part of the current instruction, the 
Valuer has sufficient grounds to conclude that the present rental arrangement (rent 
conditions) are in line with the market, can be sustained by continued Tenantȇs normal 
business operations, there are sufficient indirect guarantees to the solvency of the tenant 
and solidity of the projected cash flow. Based on the agreed scope for the current 
instruction, the Valuer assumes that the current rental arrangement could and would 
continue in case of a hypothetical sale of the Subject property. 

 

  



 
   

 

 
 

 

Latvia 

Property ID LV01 

Property Address ȊVieQíbaVȋ ReVWaXUaQW, VieQíbaV gaWYe 115A, Ríga, LaWYia 

Proprietor Premier Estates LTD, SIA 

Description The Subject Property consists of a land plot with a fast-food restaurant building, built in 2011. In 
general, the property is in a good technical condition, meeting all requirements of a modern 
retail & fast-food service building requirements.  
The Property is located within neighborhood Atgāzene, at the junction of Vieníbas gatve and 
Kaplavas iela, in close distance from s/c MAXIMA XX and University Turiba. 

Typology 

Land area 

GBA 

GLA 

NLA 

Operating fast food restaurant 

3 497 sqm 

487.4 

487.4 

487.4 

Tenure Freehold 

Occupation The Subject property is fully leased in its entirety to UAB "PREMIER RESTAURANTS" for fast food 
restaurant service line operation. The name of the occupier is not mentioned as per instruction 
of the Client; the occupier, however, is a franchisee restaurant operator of a globally well-known 
fast food restaurant chain. The lease agreement is effective since 2012.04.03, lease period is 20 
years (until 2032.04.03). Initial rent is 9,200 Eur/month (minimal) or 5% of turnover, if exceeding 
the minimal rent. Current rent (indexed) is 12,004 Eur/month. Rent adjusted annually by LV CPI 
for previous year, or by 3%, whichever is the higher.   

Maintenance/repair The lease agreement places the obligation of all ordinary internal and external maintenance and 
repairs (including replacements) other than structural on the Tenant. As such the property is well 
maintained and in good state of repair. 

Age The property was built in 2011. 

Restrictions, encumbrances, and 
mortgages 

Registered mortgage in favor of LUMINOR BANK AS (reg.No. Estonia 11315936) 

Encumbrances of engineering networks and protection zone along street or road red line.  

Market Value EUR 2 100 000  

Special assumptions x The valuation of the Subject Property shall be viewed in context of the batch of fast food 
restaurants covered by this valuation instruction; the batch includes the following 
restaurants: Vienibas, Ulmana, Imanta in Riga, Latvia; fast food restaurant Parnu in Parnu, 
Estonia; Dainava in Kaunas and Svajone in Vilnius Lithuania; while the reported values for 
each property are determined separately, the underlying considerations are formed in 
context of the portfolio; at the same time any synergistic value elements arising from a 
portfolio setup are disregarded.  

x Valuer is informed that the Landlord and Tenant are related entities on group level. 
Nevertheless, based on the information received as part of the current instruction, the 
Valuer has sufficient grounds to conclude that the present rental arrangement (rent 
conditions) are in line with the market, can be sustained by continued Tenantȇs normal 
business operations, there are sufficient indirect guarantees to the solvency of the tenant 
and solidity of the projected cash flow. Based on the agreed scope for the current 
instruction, the Valuer assumes that the current rental arrangement could and would 
continue in case of a hypothetical sale of the Subject property. 

 

  



 
   

 

 
 

 

Property ID LV02 

Property Address  ȊJĭUaVȋ ReVWaXUaQW, KÃUþa UOPaĈa gaWYe 88, Ríga, LaWYia 

Proprietor Premier Estates LTD, SIA 

Description The Subject Property consists of a land plot with a fast-food restaurant building, built in 2015. In 
general, the property is in a good technical condition, meeting all the requirements of a modern 
retail and fast-food service building requirements.  
The Property is located in neighborhood Pleskodāle, Riga, at Kārþa UlmaĈa gatve, in close 
distance from shopping centre MAXIMA XXX and shopping centre Spice. 

Typology 

Land area 

GBA 

GLA 

NLA 

Operating fast food restaurant 

2 000 sqm 

369.9 

369.9 

369.9 

Tenure Freehold 

Occupation The Subject property is fully leased in its entirety to UAB "PREMIER RESTAURANTS" for fast food 
restaurant service line operation. The name of the occupier is not mentioned as per instruction 
of the Client; the occupier, however, is a franchisee restaurant operator of a globally well-known 
fast food restaurant chain. The lease agreement is effective since 2015.06.01, lease period is 20 
years (until 2035.05.31). Initial rent is 8,280 Eur/month (minimal) or 5% of turnover, if exceeding 
the minimal rent. Rent adjusted every three years by LV CPI for previous period.  According to 
information provided by the client, the turnover rent is higher and in 2020 was 125,500 EUR/year.  

Maintenance/repair The lease agreement places the obligation of all ordinary internal and external maintenance and 
repairs (including replacements) other than structural on the Tenant. As such the property is well 
maintained and in good state of repair. 

Age The property was built in 2015. 

Restrictions, encumbrances, and 
mortgages 

Registered mortgage in favor of LUMINOR BANK AS (reg.No. Estonia 11315936) 

Encumbrances of engineering networks and security protection around oil and oil products.  

Market Value EUR 1 740 000   

Special assumptions x The valuation of the Subject Property shall be viewed in context of the batch of fast food 
restaurants covered by this valuation instruction; the batch includes the following 
restaurants: Vienibas, Ulmana, Imanta in Riga, Latvia; fast food restaurant Parnu in Parnu, 
Estonia; Dainava in Kaunas and Svajone in Vilnius Lithuania; while the reported values for 
each property are determined separately, the underlying considerations are formed in 
context of the portfolio; at the same time any synergistic value elements arising from a 
portfolio setup are disregarded.  

x Valuer is informed that the Landlord and Tenant are related entities on group level. 
Nevertheless, based on the information received as part of the current instruction, the 
Valuer has sufficient grounds to conclude that the present rental arrangement (rent 
conditions) are in line with the market, can be sustained by continued Tenantȇs normal 
business operations, there are sufficient indirect guarantees to the solvency of the tenant 
and solidity of the projected cash flow. Based on the agreed scope for the current 
instruction, the Valuer assumes that the current rental arrangement could and would 
continue in case of a hypothetical sale of the Subject property. 

 

  



 
   

 

 
 

 

Property ID LV03 

Property Address  ȊΖPaQWaȋ ReVWaXUaQW, KXU]ePeV SURVSeNWV 3, Ríga, LaWYia 

Proprietor Premier Estates LTD, SIA 

Description The Subject Property is a fast-food restaurant building, built in 2011. In general, the property is 
in a good technical condition, meeting all requirements of a modern retail and food service 
building standards.  
The Property is located in neighborhood Imanta, Riga, at the junction of Kurzemes prospekts 
and Skandu iela, in close distance from s/c MAXIMA XXX. 
Concluded property usage agreement with co-owners, registered in Land Register. 

Typology 

Land area 

GBA 

GLA 

NLA 

Operating fast food restaurant 

2 709 sqm 

453.5 

453.5 

453.5 

Tenure Freehold 

Occupation The Subject property is fully leased in its entirety to UAB "PREMIER RESTAURANTS" for fast food 
restaurant service line operation. The name of the occupier is not mentioned as per instruction 
of the Client; the occupier, however, is a franchisee restaurant operator of a globally well-known 
fast food restaurant chain. The lease agreement is effective since 2011.10.31, lease period is 20 
years (until 2031.10.31). Initial rent is 9,200 Eur/month (minimal) or 5% of turnover, if exceeding 
the minimal rent. Current rent (indexed) is 12,125 Eur/month. Rent adjusted annually by LV CPI 
for previous year, or by 3%, whichever is the higher.    

Maintenance/repair The lease agreement places the obligation of all ordinary internal and external maintenance and 
repairs (including replacements) other than structural on the Tenant. As such the property is 
well maintained and in good state of repair. 

Age The property was built in 2011. 

Restrictions, encumbrances, and 
mortgages 

Registered mortgage in favor of LUMINOR BANK AS (reg.No. Estonia 11315936) 

Encumbrances of engineering networks.  

Market Value EUR 2 160 000    

Special assumptions x The valuation of the Subject Property shall be viewed in context of the batch of fast food 
restaurants covered by this valuation instruction; the batch includes the following 
restaurants: Vienibas, Ulmana, Imanta in Riga, Latvia; fast food restaurant Parnu in 
Parnu, Estonia; Dainava in Kaunas and Svajone in Vilnius Lithuania; while the reported 
values for each property are determined separately, the underlying considerations are 
formed in context of the portfolio; at the same time any synergistic value elements 
arising from a portfolio setup are disregarded.  

x Valuer is informed that the Landlord and Tenant are related entities on group level. 
Nevertheless, based on the information received as part of the current instruction, the 
Valuer has sufficient grounds to conclude that the present rental arrangement (rent 
conditions) are in line with the market, can be sustained by continued Tenantȇs normal 
business operations, there are sufficient indirect guarantees to the solvency of the tenant 
and solidity of the projected cash flow. Based on the agreed scope for the current 
instruction, the Valuer assumes that the current rental arrangement could and would 
continue in case of a hypothetical sale of the Subject property. 

 

 

  



 
   

 

 
 

 

Property ID LV04 

Property Address V/c MiQVNa, NícgaOeV ieOa 2, Ríga, LaWYia 

Proprietor APEX Investments, SIA 

Description The Subject Property is neighborhood shopping center ȊMinskaȋ located in Purvciems, at the 
street quartal of Vējavas- Nícgales Ȃ Dzelzavas iela, good visibility from the street. 
The shopping centre is in appropriate technical condition, built in 1976 and requires capital 
investments for both exterior and interior parts to meet modern shopping centre requirements.  
A valid building permit allows the development of 15-floor residential buildings, which require 
tearing down the existing building 

Typology 

Land area 

GBA 

GLA 

NLA 

Operating shopping centre 

16 785 sqm 

4 617.1 

2 889.9 

2 889.9 

Tenure Freehold 

Occupation The property is almost fully leased (existing vacancy is ~ 0.5% from GLA), current weighted 
average lease term (WALT) is approx. 2.7 years, unbreakable (WAULT) Ȃ approx. 1.9 years. 
Current rent is 52,700 Eur/month. Rent adjusted annually by LV CPI for previous year.  

The largest tenant Ȃ grocery chain Rimi - occupies aprox. 71% of GLA. The agreement with Rimi 
was concluded in Jun 2017 and it is valid until 06 August 2024. The agreement is unbreakable. 
Initial rent rate was fixed as 13.9 EUR/sqm/m. Rent adjusted annually by LV CPI for previous year. 
On value date the rent rate is fixed to 15.1 EUR per sqm/month (or 30 935 EUR/m). Additional to 
the rent Rimi covers also utilities and proportional share of all maintenance costs (Ȇdoble-netȇ 
reimbursement structure). 

Maintenance/repair According to the lease agreement, costs of all ordinary internal and external maintenance and 
repairs (including replacements) other than structural are included in the maintenance fee 
charged from Tenants. While the property is maintained on a daily basis, ageing, wear and tear 
of structural elements and property in general is evident; Capex for refurbishment and upgrade 
are necessary. 

Age The property was built in 1976. 

Restrictions, encumbrances, and 
mortgages 

Registered mortgage in favor of Swedbank AS (reg.No. 40003074764) 

Encumbrances of engineering networks.  

Market Value EUR 6 540 000    

Investment value EUR 7 725 000    

Special assumptions to 
Investment value 

x Estimations are based on the following main Clientȇs instructions: 
x Construction budget (net - VAT) - 23 500 000 EUR (including construction costs, 

infrastructure, design, demolition of the existing building, etc.) 
x GLA - Residential 12 107 sqm; Retail 3 148; 170 underground parkingȇs 
x Rents Ȃ for apartments 12 EUR/ sqm, for retail premises 17 EUR/ sqm, for parking 60 EUR/ 

pcs (net -VAT) 
x Exit yield 6% 
x Construction schedule Ȃ starting in April 2024 and construction up to 24 months. 
x It is assumed that there are no obstacles to proceed with the development of the project 

in the agreed amount and within the specified time schedule. 

 

 

  



 
   

 

 
 

 

Property ID LV05 

Property Address RiPi VecPíOgUÃYiV, AXgXVWa DRPbURYVNa ieOa 23, 32, MeOídaV ieOa 6C, 7B, Ríga, LaWYia 

Proprietor APEX Investments, SIA 

Description The Subject Property is a shopping centre in district Vecmílgrāvis built in the 1980s with anchor 
tenant Rimi. Currently the building is used both as retail and industrial premises. Near the 
building (across the street) there is a vacant land plot used as parking, considered as functionally 
related to Subject Property. Generally, the property is in average technical condition, in mid- to 
long-term perspective refurbishment necessary to improve the technical condition of the 
property, its attractiveness and competitiveness. 
The property is located at the junction Dombrovska and Melídas streets, in commercial active 
quarter of district Vecmílgęāvis. 

Typology 

Land area 

GBA 

GLA 

NLA 

Operating shopping centre 

8 368 sqm 

7 505.4 

4 318.7 

4 094.5 

Tenure Freehold 

Occupation Substantial part of the building area is currently not usable (common-use or auxiliary premises; 
without rental potential), leasable area (NLA) is only 55% of the total interior area of the building. 
Nevertheless, the property is almost fully leased (current area vacancy ~ 0.8% of NLA). The largest 
tenants are Rimi (grocery), Olympic Casino (gambling), Humana (second hand) and Benu aptieka 
(pharmacy). Current weighted average lease term (WALT) is ~ 2.3 years (based on income), 
unbreakable (WAULT) - ~ 1.2 year. All tenants have Ȇdouble-netȇ reimbursement structure, some 
tenants additional cover also proportional share of RE TAX and insurance.  None tenants have 
fixed turnover rent or pay additional marketing costs. 

The largest tenant - Rimi occupies approx. 40% of NLA (1655 sqm) and accounts approx. 50% of 
rental income. The agreement was concluded in December 2012, and it is valid until 31 
December 2022. On value date the rent rate is fixed to 12.05 EUR per sqm/month (or 19 943 
EUR/m). The rent shall be indexed every year by Euro zone HICP. Additional to the rent Rimi cover 
utilities according to meters and proportional share of maintenance costs. 

Maintenance/repair According to the lease agreement, costs of all ordinary internal and external maintenance and 
repairs (including replacements) other than structural are included in the maintenance fee 
charged from Tenants, however, are not fully covered. While the property is maintained on a 
daily basis, ageing, wear and tear of structural elements and property in general is evident; Capex 
for refurbishment and upgrade are necessary. 

Age The property was built in 1983. 

Restrictions, encumbrances, and 
mortgages 

Registered mortgage in favor of Swedbank AS (reg.No. 40003074764) 

Encumbrances of engineering networks; territory with constraints for commercial activities along 
Baltic Sea and Gulf of Riga.  

Market Value EUR 5 540 000    

Special assumptions n/a 

 

 

  



 
   

 

 
 

 

Property ID LV06 

Property Address s/c Rimi, Dzelzavas iela 78, Ríga, LaWYia 

Proprietor Dz 78, SIA 

Description The Subject Property is neighborhood shopping center ȊRimi Dzelzavasȋ located in Purvciems, at 
the junction of Dzelzavas Ȃ Ζlĭkstes iela. The building is in very good technical condition, well 
maintained, built in 2018, commissioned in the beginning of 2019.  

Typology 

Land area 

GBA 

GLA 

NLA 

Operating shopping centre 

8 062 sqm 

3 992.7 

3 443.8 

3 438.1 

Tenure Freehold 

Occupation The property is almost fully leased (existing vacancy is ~ 6% from NLA), current weighted average 
lease term (WALT) is approx. 6.8 years, unbreakable (WAULT) Ȃ approx. 6.6 years. Current rent is 
38,000 Eur/month. Rent adjusted annually by LV CPI for previous year.  

The anchor tenant of the Subject Property is one of the largest grocery retail chains Ȃ RIMI. 
Currently the anchor tenant occupies 41% of NLA and accounts ~ almost 50% of the rental 
income. The agreement with Rimi was concluded in January 2019 and it is valid until 01 February 
2029. The agreement is unbreakable. Initial rent rate was fixed as 13.5 EUR/sqm/m. Rent 
adjusted annually by LV CPI for previous year. On value date the rent rate is fixed to 13.53 EUR 
per sqm/month (or 18 939 EUR/m). Additional to the rent Rimi covers all operating costs (Ȇtriple-
netȇ reimbursement structure).  

Another anchor tenant is My Fitness, SIA which occupies 43% of NLA and accounts ~ 24% of the 
rental income. The agreement with My Fitness was concluded in February 2019 and it is valid 
until 31 October 2030. The agreement is unbreakable. Initial rent rate was fixed as 6.25 
EUR/sqm/m. Rent adjusted annually by LV CPI for previous year. On value date the rent rate is 
fixed to 6.25 EUR per sqm/month (or 9 288 EUR/m). Additional to the rent My Fitness covers all 
operating costs (Ȇtriple-netȇ reimbursement structure). 

  

Maintenance/repair According to the lease agreement, costs of all ordinary internal and external maintenance and 
repairs (including replacements) other than structural are included in the maintenance fee 
charged from Tenants. The property is well maintained and leaves an overall very good 
impression of current technical condition; no evident backlog of repairs. 

Age The property was built in 2018. 

Restrictions, encumbrances, and 
mortgages 

Registered mortgage in favor of Swedbank AS (reg.No. 40003074764) 

Encumbrances of engineering networks.  

Market Value EUR 6 730 000    

Special assumptions n/a 

 

 

  



 
   

 

 
 

 

Property ID LV07 

Property Address s/c Rimi, KUeiPeĈX ieOa 4A, Ríga, LaWYia 

Proprietor APEX Investments, SIA 

Description The Subject property is a neighborhood grocery store building with adjacent parking area located 
in Vecmílgrāvis district of Riga. The property is leased to two tenants - Rimi and DLV (gambling). 
The building was built in 2005 and it is generally in average technical condition. 
The property is located at KreimeĈu iela, between Vijolíģu iela and Meldru iela, in commercially 
less-active part of the neighborhood. 

Typology 

Land area 

GBA 

GLA 

NLA 

Operating shopping centre 

3 733 sqm 

1 073.1 

952.5 

945.3 

Tenure Freehold and leasehold 

Occupation The property is leased to two tenants Ȃ Rimi (grocery; GLA 777.6 sqm, NLA 777.6 sqm) and DSV 
(gambling; GLA 174.9 sqm, NLA 167.7 sqm). 

Initial agreement with Rimi was concluded in February 2004, last amendment about 
prolongation of agreement was made in January 2020 for next 5 years, i.e. current lease term is 
11 May, 2025. The agreement is unbreakable. The rent rate was fixed 9 EUR/sqm/m in May 2015, 
thereafter every year rent rate has been indexed by Euro zone HICP (published by Eurostat). On 
value date the rent rate is fixed to 9.44 EUR per sqm/month (or 7 341 EUR/m). Additional to the 
rent Rimi cover utilities according to meters and pay fixed maintenance fee 1 EUR per 
sqm/month, which actually cover only aprox.40% of operational costs. 

The agreement with DSV was concluded in August 2015, term of agreement 31 July 2026. The 
agreement could be terminated by 6 months prior notice. Initial rent rate was 8.5 EUR/sqm/m, 
which every year has been indexed by LV CPI starting from 2017.  On value date the rent rate is 
fixed to 8.99 EUR/sqm/month (on GLA). Additional to the rent DSV covers also all utilities and 
proportional share of maintenance costs according to meters or with open-book principle. 

Maintenance/repair According to the lease agreement, costs of all ordinary internal and external maintenance and 
repairs (including replacements) other than structural are included in the maintenance fee 
charged from Tenants, however, are not fully covered. While the property is maintained on a 
daily basis, some signs of ageing, wear and tear of structural elements and property in general 
are evident. 

Age The property was built in 2005. 

Restrictions, encumbrances, and 
mortgages 

Registered mortgage in favor of Swedbank AS (reg.No. 40003074764) 

Encumbrances of engineering networks, protection along street or road.  

Market Value EUR 1 190 000    

Special assumptions n/a 

 

 

  



 
   

 

 
 

 

Property ID LV08 

Property Address s/c Rimi, VieQíbaV 95, Ríga, LaWYia 

Proprietor APEX Investments, SIA 

Description The Subject Property is a small shopping centre located in Ziepniekkalns with parking area. The 
building was built in 2000, well maintained, generally the property is in good technical condition, 
however in some premises fit-out upgrade would be desirable. 
The property is located in Vieníbas gatve, between Graudu iela and Atgāzenes iela, in good visible 
place. 

Typology 

Land area 

GBA 

GLA 

NLA 

Operating shopping centre 

6 670 sqm 

1 468.8 

1 291.0 

1 291.8 

Tenure Freehold 

Occupation The property is almost fully leased, existing vacancy consist of one small retail premises with 
area 26.9 sqm (aprox.2% of NLA). There is 1 anchor tenant (Rimi), 4 retail tenants and 4 other 
lessees as ATMȇs or similar. Current weighted average lease term (WALT) is approx. 2.2 years, 
unbreakable (WAULT) Ȃ approx. 1.7 years. 

The largest tenant Ȃ grocery chain Rimi - occupies aprox. 87% of NLA. The agreement with Rimi 
was concluded in September 2013 and it is valid until 06 November 2023. The agreement is 
unbreakable. Initial rent rate was fixed as 7 EUR/sqm/m, which every year has been indexed by 
80% of Euro zone HICP (published by Eurostat). On value date the rent rate is fixed to 7.38 EUR 
per sqm/month (or 8 279 EUR/m). Additional to the rent Rimi covers also utilities and 
proportional share of all maintenance costs (Ȇdoble-netȇ reimbursement structure). 

All other (satellite) agreements could be terminated with 1-6 months prior notice. 

Maintenance/repair According to the lease agreement, costs of all ordinary internal and external maintenance and 
repairs (including replacements) other than structural are included in the maintenance fee 
charged from Tenants, however, are not fully covered. While the property is maintained on a 
daily basis, some signs of ageing, wear and tear of structural elements and property in general 
are evident. 

Age The property was built in 2000. 

Restrictions, encumbrances, and 
mortgages 

Registered mortgage in favor of Swedbank AS (reg.No. 40003074764) 

Encumbrances of engineering networks, protection along street or road.  

Market Value EUR 1 540 000    

Special assumptions n/a 

 

 

  



 
   

 

 
 

 

Property ID LV09 

Property Address V/c DROe, MaVNaYaV ieOa 357, Ríga, LaWYia 

Proprietor Tirdzniecíbas centrs Dole, SΖA 

Description The Subject property is shopping centre ȊDoleȋ with wide parking area and vacant land plot 
located across the street. The building was built in 1986, last major reconstruction works was 
prepared in 1997. Overall, the property is in average technical condition, in next years would be 
worthwhile to carry out significant refurbishment works to upgrade technical condition of the 
building and increase its appearance and competitiveness. 
Vacant land plot (with total area 4 285 sqm) is not functionally necessary for operational of 
shopping centre. It is located in mixed use territory with residential function, max floor height: 
up to 5 floors. The land plot is suitable for new development. 
The Property is located within neighborhood øengarags, at the street quartal of Maskavas iela - 
Eglaines iela - Maltas iela, good visibility from Maskavas iela 

Typology 

Land area:   freehold 

leasehold 

GBA 

GLA 

NLA 

Operating shopping centre 

23 631 sqm 

734 sqm 

16 897.4 

9 483.6 

8 426.3 

Tenure Freehold and leasehold 

Occupation The shopping centre is leased to multiple tenants (aprox.50 tenants), the top 3 largest: grocery 
chain Rimi, ALB (Optimus mēbeles, furniture), Olympic Casino (gambling). Current vacancy in the 
shopping centre is ~4% from leasable area (NLA). Base rent for retail premises is calculated based 
on GLA where mostly a multiplier 1.25 is applied on NLA. All agreements include also a 
component that is linked to the retail turnover (varying between 3% -10%) which takes effect if 
the annually calculated turnover rent amount exceeding the base rent (the additional payment 
is the difference between turnover rent and base rent). Most of the tenants have Ȇdouble-netȇ 
reimbursement structure and fixed marketing fee. 

Rimi occupies approx. 16% of NLA (trade NLA 753.0 sqm, GLA 828.3 sqm support NLA/GLA 623.3 
sqm) and accounts approx. 20% of rental base income; the agreement is valid until 19 August 
2024; the base rent rate on value date 12.76 EUR/sqm/m for trade area and 8.44 EUR/sqm/m for 
support area, the current total rent per month 15 830 EUR. The base rent shall be indexed every 
year by Euro zone HICP. Turnover rent is fixed to 4%. Additional to the rent Rimi covers also 
utilities and proportional share of all maintenance costs (Ȇdoble-netȇ reimbursement structure) 
and marketing costs 854 EUR/m. 

ALB (Optimus mēbeles) agreement is just concluded, lease start date is 15 September 2021, the 
term of agreement is 31 August 2026. The tenant occupies whole 3rd floor of shopping centre 
which is approx. 33% of NLA (trade NLA/GLA 2 550 sqm, support NLA/GLA 257 sqm).  The rent 
rate for 1st lease year is set to 1.5 EUR/sqm/m, for 2nd - 2.5 EUR/sqm/m, starting from 4th lease 
year the rent rate shall be indexed based on LV CPI. No turnover rent is set to the tenant. The 
rental income starting from 2nd year is 7 018 EUR/m which accounts approx. 9% of rental base 
income of the shopping centre. Additional to the rent ALB covers also utilities according to 
meters and pays fixed maintenance fee 2.0 EUR/sqm/m in 1st lease year and 2.1 EUR/sqm/m 
thereafter. 

Olympic Casino agreement was concluded in December 2015 and it is valid until 31 May 2024. 
The tenant occupies approx. 7% of NLA (trade NLA 564.9 sqm, trade GLA 706.13 sqm, support 
NLA/GLA 9.30 sqm) and accounts approx. 8% of rental base income. The base rent rate on value 
date 8.97 EUR/sqm/m for trade area and 4.38 EUR/sqm/m for support area, the current total 
rent per month - 6 375 EUR. The base rent shall be indexed every year by LR CPI. Turnover rent 
is fixed to 8%. Additional to the rent Olympic Casino covers also utilities and proportional share 
of all maintenance costs (Ȇdoble-netȇ reimbursement structure) and marketing costs 718 EUR/m. 



 
   

 

 
 

 

Maintenance/repair According to the lease agreement, costs of all ordinary internal and external maintenance and 
repairs (including replacements) other than structural are included in the maintenance fee 
charged from Tenants. While the property is maintained on a daily basis, ageing, wear and tear 
of structural elements and property in general is evident; Capex for refurbishment and upgrade 
are necessary. 

Age The property was built in 1986. 

Restrictions, encumbrances, and 
mortgages 

Registered mortgage in favor of Swedbank AS (reg.No. 40003074764) 

Encumbrances of engineering networks, protection along street or road.  

Market Value EUR 11 040 000    

Special assumptions n/a 

 

 

  



 
   

 

 
 

 

Lithuania 

Property ID LT01 

Property Address ȊDaiQaYaȋ Restaurant  

Proprietor UAB ȊPREMΖER ESTATES LΖETUVAȋ 

Description The Subject Property consists of a land plot with a fast-food restaurant building, built in 2010, 
and cars parking lot. In general, the property is in a good technical condition, meeting all 
requirements of a modern retail & fast-food service building requirements.  
The Property is located within neighborhood Dainava, at the junction of Pramonės avenue and 
Draugystės street, in close distance from s/c MAXIMA XXX, Lidl and DΖY store Ermitaŀas. 

Typology 

Land area 

GBA 

GLA 

NLA 

Operating fast food restaurant 

3 021 sqm 

443.28 

443.28 

443.28 

Tenure Freehold 

Occupation The Subject property is fully leased in its entirety to UAB "PREMIER RESTAURANTS" for fast food 
restaurant service line operation. The name of the occupier is not mentioned as per instruction 
of the Client; the occupier, however, is a franchisee restaurant operator of a globally well-known 
fast food restaurant chain. The lease agreement is effective since 2011.01.28, lease period is 20 
years (until 2031.01.27). Initial rent is 9,166.67 Eur/month (minimal) or 5% of turnover, if 
exceeding the minimal rent. Current rent (indexed) is 12,006.87 Eur/month. Rent adjusted 
annually in February by LT CPI for previous year, or by 3%, whichever is the higher.  

Maintenance/repair The lease agreement places the obligation of all ordinary internal and external maintenance and 
repairs (including replacements) other than structural on the Tenant. As such the property is well 
maintained and in good state of repair. 

Age The property was built in 2010. 

Restrictions, encumbrances, and 
mortgages 

Registered mortgage (2016-11-14) 

Encumbrances and servitudes of engineering networks and protection zones.  

Market Value EUR 2 200 000  

Special assumptions x The valuation of the Subject Property shall be viewed in context of the batch of fast food 
restaurants covered by this valuation instruction; the batch includes the following 
restaurants: Vienibas, Ulmana, Imanta in Riga, Latvia; fast food restaurant Parnu in Parnu, 
Estonia; Dainava in Kaunas and Svajone in Vilnius Lithuania; while the reported values for 
each property are determined separately, the underlying considerations are formed in 
context of the portfolio; at the same time any synergistic value elements arising from a 
portfolio setup are disregarded.  

x Valuer is informed that the Landlord and Tenant are related entities on group level. 
Nevertheless, based on the information received as part of the current instruction, the 
Valuer has sufficient grounds to conclude that the present rental arrangement (rent 
conditions) are in line with the market, can be sustained by continued Tenantȇs normal 
business operations, there are sufficient indirect guarantees to the solvency of the tenant 
and solidity of the projected cash flow. Based on the agreed scope for the current 
instruction, the Valuer assumes that the current rental arrangement could and would 
continue in case of a hypothetical sale of the Subject property. 

 

 

  



 
   

 

 
 

 

Property ID LT02 

Property Address ȊSYaMRQeȋ Restaurant 

Proprietor UAB ȊPREMΖER ESTATES LΖETUVAȋ 

Description The Subject Property consists of restaurant premises - fast-food restaurant, located in 
Administrative building (built in 1940), and 673 sqm leased part of total 2 514 sqm area state-
owned land plot. In general, the property is in a good technical condition (premises were 
reconstructed in 2009 Ȃ 2010), meeting all requirements of a modern retail & fast-food service 
property requirements.  
The Property is in the central part of Vilnius city, at Gedimino Avenue - the most important and 
representative street of Lithuanian capital, where parliament, ministries, theatres, museums, 
hotels, shops, restaurants, other commercial and public objects are located. 

Typology 

Land area 

GBA 

GLA 

NLA 

Operating fast food restaurant 

673 sqm part of total 2 514 sqm area state-owned land plot is leased until 2040.08.16 

580.37 

580.37 

580.37 

Tenure Freehold (restaurant premises) / Leasehold (part of state-owned land plot) 

Occupation The Subject property is fully leased in its entirety to UAB "PREMIER RESTAURANTS" for fast food 
restaurant service line operation. The name of the occupier is not mentioned as per instruction 
of the Client; the occupier, however, is a franchisee restaurant operator of a globally well-known 
fast food restaurant chain. The lease agreement is effective since 2011.05.05, lease period is 20 
years (until 2031.05.04). Initial rent is 9,166.67 Eur/month (minimal) or 5% of turnover, if 
exceeding the minimal rent. Current rent (indexed) is 12,367.08 Eur/month. Rent adjusted 
annually in May by LT CPI for previous year, or by 3%, whichever is the higher.   

Maintenance/repair The lease agreement places the obligation of all ordinary internal and external maintenance and 
repairs (including replacements) other than structural on the Tenant. As such the property is well 
maintained and in good state of repair. 

Age Building, where restaurant premises are located, was built in 1940. Restaurant premises were 
reconstructed in 2009 Ȃ 2010. 

Restrictions, encumbrances, and 
mortgages 

Registered mortgage (2016-11-14) 

Encumbrances of engineering networks and culture heritage objects and territories protection 
zones. 

Market Value EUR 2 520 000  

Special assumptions x The valuation of the Subject Property shall be viewed in context of the batch of fast food 
restaurants covered by this valuation instruction; the batch includes the following 
restaurants: Vienibas, Ulmana, Imanta in Riga, Latvia; fast food restaurant Parnu in Parnu, 
Estonia; Dainava in Kaunas and Svajone in Vilnius Lithuania; while the reported values for 
each property are determined separately, the underlying considerations are formed in 
context of the portfolio; at the same time any synergistic value elements arising from a 
portfolio setup are disregarded.  

x Valuer is informed that the Landlord and Tenant are related entities on group level. 
Nevertheless, based on the information received as part of the current instruction, the 
Valuer has sufficient grounds to conclude that the present rental arrangement (rent 
conditions) are in line with the market, can be sustained by continued Tenantȇs normal 
business operations, there are sufficient indirect guarantees to the solvency of the tenant 
and solidity of the projected cash flow. Based on the agreed scope for the current 
instruction, the Valuer assumes that the current rental arrangement could and would 
continue in case of a hypothetical sale of the Subject property. 

 



 
 

 

  DDWH: 30th September 2021  
  OXU RHI:  5233/07/KB 

TKH BRDUG RI DLUHFWRUV    
HLOL PURSHUWLHV PLC 
NLQHWHHQ TZHQW\ TKUHH, 
9DOOHWWD RRDG, 
MDUVD.   MRS 3000 

 
CRQGHQVHG 9DOXDWLRQ RHSRUW ² IPPRYDEOH PURSHUW\ DW BHQJKDMVD  
 
1.0 INTROD8CTION 

 
 In accordance Zith \our instructions, the undersigned in the capacit\ of Zarranted architect and 

ciYil engineer has carried out a Yaluation of an immoYable propert\ located at Benghajsa, Malta. 
The detailed Yaluation report Zhich includes the undersigned·s opinion of the Yalues of the 
propert\, is submitted hereZith.  The effectiYe date of the Yaluation is the 27th  August 2021. 

  
2.0 P8RPOSE OF 9AL8ATION 

 
2.1 It is understood that the purpose of the Yaluation is for use b\ Hili Properties PLC for inclusion 

Zith the prospectus to be published in connection Zith the proposed public listing of the 
companies shares in accordance Zith Chapter 7 of the Capital Market Rules.   
 
I understand that our e[press consent Zill be needed in Zriting for this report, or parts thereof, to 
be used for an\ other purposes.   
 

2.2  
 
 
 

The Yaluation has been carried out b\ the undersigned, as an e[ternal and independent Yaluer in 
terms of, and Zith regard giYen to, the Ro\al Institute of Chartered SurYe\ors (RICS) Valuation and 
Professional Standards Manual. 
 
As a non-RICS regulated member of a firm oYer Zhich RICS cannot e[ert control, I declare that in 
preparing this Yaluation I haYe made m\ best effort to compl\ Zith the RICS Yaluation standards. 
 

2.3 
 
 
 
 
 

The undersigned declares that he has Yisited all the sites at Benghajsa, as better described beloZ, to 
understand the characteristics and qualities of the Yarious separate portions of the propert\, and to 
identif\ an\ obYious defects that could influence the Yalue of the propert\, and to confirm the 
current uses. It is noted that this inspection Zas not intended to be a land surYe\ and did not 
constitute such.  
 

2.4 
 
 
 
 

This Yaluation has been prepared solel\ for the aboYe-mentioned purpose and is not suitable for 
an\ other use. In accordance Zith standard practice, neither the Zhole, nor an\ part of this 
Yaluation, nor an\ reference thereto, ma\ be included in an\ published document Zithout the prior 
Zritten approYal of the undersigned for the conte[t in Zhich it ma\ appear. 
 



 

 

2.5 LIMITATION OF LIABILITY 
 
I haYe performed m\ Zork in accordance Zith applicable professional standards and accepted 
practice for this t\pe of engagement.  M\ duties in relation to this Zork are oZed solel\ to Hili 
Properties PLC, hereinafter referred to as Hili Properties or HPL, and accordingl\ I do not accept 
an\ responsibilit\ for loss occasioned to an\ third part\ acting or refraining from action as a result 
to our report. 
 

3.0 
 

DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE 

 The undersigned confirms his status as an e[ternal independent Yaluer, Zithout an\ financial 
interest in the Hili Group of Companies.  

  
4.0 
 
4.1 
 
 
 
 
4.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

THE LANDS AT BENGHAJSA 
 
T\pe of Propert\ 
 
The Benghajsa Propert\ comprises Yarious portions of land close to the Malta Freeport as further 
detailed beloZ. 

 
Description of propert\  
 
Location 

 
The said properties comprise a number of sites at Benghajsa generall\ situated Zithin a 'ReserYe 
Site' area as further detailed beloZ. The sites are not all contiguous and are surrounded b\ Yarious 
other third part\ properties. (Refer to Figure 1 in Full Valuation Report) 

 
The area is flanked b\ the Freeport and its serYice road to the Northeast,  b\ Hal Far Road to the 
NorthZest, b\ the NeZ LPG depot & Fort Benghajsa to the South and b\ agricultural fields, 
Benghajsa Village and Hal Far Industrial Estate be\ond to the South. (Refer to Figures 1 ² 3 in Full 
Valuation Report ) 

 
General Description 

 
Apart from sites 22 and 24 that haYe recentl\ been deYeloped to house a solar farm as described 
separatel\ beloZ, the remaining sites otherZise generall\ comprise a number of undeYeloped 
agricultural fields Zith Yer\ limited constructions and buildings scattered amongst the area, most 
of Zhich appearing to be related to the respectiYe predominant agricultural actiYit\.  
 
While a number of these locali]ed structures appear to be legitimate pre 1967 constructions mainl\ 
comprising agricultural rooms, a number of later accretions / additions Zere also noted. Aside 
from the beloZ detailed Solar Farm Permit no other planning permissions Zere traced on the said 
sites, Zhile a number of the limited post 1967 additions to the undeYeloped agricultural fields Zere 
noted to haYe been issued Zith applicable Enforcement Notices as outlined beloZ. The said 
enforcements / contraYentions noted are considered to be Yer\ locali]ed and easil\ reYersable in 
relation to the oYerall scale of the sites, and are therefore not considered to haYe an\ significant 
material effect on the oYerall Yaluations of the said properties concerned.  
 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
SLWH A: EC 20/21 - Structural e[tension to a pre-1967 room together Zith a concrete ramp in  
             front of the mentioned e[tension Zithout permit, construction of a franka Zall at the  
             front of site and the other in the middle of the site, also Zithout permit, installation of  
             metal structure roofed Zith corrugated sheets. 
 
SLWH 9: EC 279/01 - Boundar\ Zall and tZo unroofed structures Zithout permit 
            EC 938/05 - Construction of room, loft and corrugated tent structure Zithout permit 
 
The locations of the indiYidual sites are identified the site plan / Figure 1 included in Full 
Valuation Report, Zhile the respectiYe areas, tenure (as reported b\ the clients) and other general 
considerations are summari]ed in Table 1 beloZ. The sites haYe a cumulatiYe total area of 
appro[imatel\ 92,000 square meters.   
 
As summari]ed in Table 1 it results that the bulk of the sites are clearl\ located Zithin the 'ReserYe 
Site' area Zith the e[ception of site 19 and part of site 24 that appear to e[tend outside this ]one. It 
should also be noted that the eastern boundar\ of the 'ReserYe Site' also includes a number of 
scheduled 'Buffer Zones' that also partl\ e[tend into the borders of the 'ReserYe Site'. Sites 6 & 19 
appear to be partl\ coYered b\ this 'Buffer Zone' and also noted in the said table.   
 
With respect to sites 22 & 24 these haYe recentl\ been deYeloped into a Solar Farm in line Zith 
planning authorit\ permit PA 10665/ 17 issued in Februar\ 2019. The proposed solar farm coYers a 
larger area of land of circa 28,984 m2 partl\ oZned b\ third parties.  
 
Based on the lease agreement proYided b\ the clients, the 3 respectiYe landoZners Zithin the said 
solar farm site are currentl\ jointl\ leasing out the solar farm site to a third part\, Zho in turn 
deYeloped and operates the said solar farm. The said lease signed on the 1st of Februar\ 2018 is Yalid 
for 15 \ears from date of signing at an annual rent of ½ 159,000 split equall\ betZeen the 3 lessors (½ 
53,000 each / annum). The rent shall be increased b\ fiYe per cent (5%) eYer\ three (3) \ears.  
  
Planning Considerations and Site Potential 
 
As noted aboYe the sites are predominantl\ located Zithin the 'ReserYe Site' area in accordance to 
the respectiYe Marsa[lokk Ba\ Local Plan (refer to Figures 2 & 3 - Polic\ Maps e[tracted from 
Marsa[lokk Ba\ Local Plan in the full Yaluation report). The strateg\ for this ]one as outlined in the 
respectiYe local plan issued in 1995 is detailed as folloZs: 

 
"The aUea beWZeen Hal FaU and Whe FUeeSRUW ZaV deVignaWed aV a PUimaU\ DeYelRSmenW AUea in Whe Vi[WieV fRU 
SRVVible eYenWXal indXVWUial XVe. The SWUXcWXUe Plan cRnfiUmV Whe deVignaWiRn VXbjecW hRZeYeU WR PRlic\ 
IND1 Zhich dela\V Whe XVe Rf WhiV land XnWil needV aUiVe Zhich cannRW be accRmmRdaWed elVeZheUe. On 
aYailable eYidence, iW iV Xnlikel\ WhaW Whe aUea Zill be UeTXiUed fRU VXch SXUSRVe ZiWhin Whe Wen-\eaU SeUiRd Rf 
Whe LRcal Plan. IW iV WheUefRUe SURSRVed WhaW Whe cXUUenW VWaWXV Rf Whe aUea iV UeWained and iV alVR WR be UefeUUed 
WR aV a ReVeUYed AUea." 

 
From the studies proYided it in fact appears that oYer the past 26 \ears since the issue of the aboYe-
mentioned Local Plan the foot-print of the Freeport has generall\ been deYeloped to its full capacit\ 
Zith respect to its ke\ actiYities that comprise the container terminal, the oil terminal and the 
ancillar\ Zarehousing facilities.  

 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
4.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.0 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The location of the sites detailed aboYe falling Zithin this 'ReserYe Zone' and particularl\ those 
contiguous to the Freeport therefore form the natural e[tension of the Freeport area as enYisaged 
b\ both the Structure & Local Plans.  

 
To this regard it should in fact also be noted that aside from the more recent Solar Farm permit 
noted in section 4.4 a LPG terminal had alread\ preYiousl\ been deYeloped Zithin the said 'ReserYe 
Site' on nearb\ third part\ land as dul\ coYered b\ Mepa permit PA 867/09.  

 
Considering the aboYe it therefore appears that Zhile currentl\ schemed as a 'ReserYe Site· the 
areas concerned hoZeYer offer significant medium to long term commercial /inYestment 
opportunities. 
 
Tenure Mortgages, Loans and PriYileges 
 
Table 1 shoZs the tenure of each parcel of land as last reported b\ clients. For the basis on this 
Yaluation it is being assumed that there are currentl\ no actiYe e[propriation orders applicable to 
the said properties, this should be Yerified accordingl\ if necessar\.  
 
It Zas reported b\ the clients that b\ Yirtue of a special h\pothecar\ guarantee for the amount of 
Euro 9,750,000, the propert\ acts as securit\ for the obligations arising out of facilities granted to Hili 
Ventures Limited, and that Harbour (APM) InYestments Ltd has also proYided a general 
h\pothecar\ guarantee oYer all assets, future and present in respect of the same facilities.  It should 
be noted that this Yaluation does not take account of the aboYe mentioned h\pothecar\ guarantees 
and that these are being listed for general information based on the proYided information.  
 
9AL8ATION BASED ON OPEN MARKET 9AL8E 
 
On consideration of the Yarious parameters outlined aboYe it is to be e[pected that the Yalue of the 
respectiYe indiYidual sites Zould Yar\ considerabl\ depending on the particular conte[t and 
location of the indiYidual parcels of land.  

 
The larger sites and particularl\ those located closer to the e[isting Freeport Boundar\ / access 
road Zould clearl\ be e[pected to fetch higher rates on the Open Market than the other sites further 
Zithin the 'ReserYe Site'. The increased number of approYed permits in nearb\ sites is indicatiYe of 
the groZing pressure on the authorities to release sites close to the noZ full\ occupied Freeport to 
deYelopment compatible Zith uses generated b\ Freeport demands.  
 
This increasing demand Zill be e[pected in the near to medium term to graduall\ generate 
additional interest and demand for lands situated in the ´ReserYe ]one·, and held for DeYelopment, 
and this Zill appl\ more to larger sites closer to Kalafrana Road. On the other hand the aside from 
sites 22 & 24 alread\ approYed and currentl\ being deYeloped as a solar farm as detailed aboYe, 
sites that are located Zithin 'Buffer Zones' but more remote from Kalafrana Road, or situated 
outside the 'ReserYe' area Zould be e[pected to fetch loZer rates on the Open Market. It must 
neYertheless be considered that in the absence of clear and unambiguous PA Policies opening up 
neZ areas from the Buffer Zone for deYelopment, no substantial changes to market Yalues of 
properties Zithin the buffer ]one are e[pected materiali]e. 

 
 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Table 1 beloZ summari]es the estimated Open Market Values of the respectiYe indiYidual sites 
taking into account the Yarious considerations outlined aboYe, and based on research of t\pical 
Yalues for similar properties in the area and / or other comparable locations around Malta at the 
time.  
 

 
TDEOH 1: Estimated Open Market Values of indiYidual sites  
 
 
IQ VXPPDU\ DQG RQ WKH EDVLV RI WKH IRUHJRLQJ, WKH YDULRXV VLWH LQVSHFWLRQV FDUULHG RXW DQG RWKHU 
UHOHYDQW IDFWRUV, WKH XQGHUVLJQHG YDOXHV WKH DERYH-GHVFULEHG SURSHUWLHV LQ WKHLU H[LVWLQJ VWDWH 
FXPXODWLYHO\ LQ WKH UHJLRQ RI WZHQW\-ILYH PLOOLRQ, ILYH KXQGUHG WKRXVDQG EXURV (½25,500,000).  
 
NoYel CoronaYirus (COVID 1-19) considerations ² Refer to Full Valuation Report  
Source of information / references ² Refer to Full Valuation Report  

 
KeYin Bencini B.E. & A. [HonV] A.&C.E. 

 



 

 
 
 
 

 
12th October 2021 

 
 
PROPERTY VALUATION REPORTS 
 
The undersigned, in his capacity as a warranted architect and civil engineer, and with warrant number 168, 
has been commissioned by Hili Properties plc to carry out valuations of the five (5) properties listed below. 
The scope of the valuations is for the inclusion with the Prospectus, in accordance with Chapter 7 of the 
Capital Market Rules of the Malta Financial Services Authority. The effective date of the valuations is 30th 
September 2021, unless otherwise stated. 
 
The valuations are based on an Open Market Value, which provides the same outcome as Market Value, 
Zhich iV defiQed b\ Whe RR\aO IQVWiWXWe Rf ChaUWeUed SXUYe\RUV (RICS) VaOXaWiRQ SWaQdaUdV, aV µWhe eVWiPaWed 
amount for which an asset or liability should exchange on the valuation date between a willing buyer and a 
ZiOOiQg VeOOeU iQ aQ aUP¶V OeQgWh WUaQVacWiRQ afWeU SURSeU PaUkeWiQg aQd ZheUe Whe SaUWieV had acWed 
kQRZOedgeabO\, SUXdeQWO\ aQd ZiWhRXW cRPSXOViRQ¶. 
 
All valuations were carried out following a visual inspection of the Properties. Unless otherwise stated, no 
parts of the property which were inaccessibly covered, unexposed or otherwise inaccessible to visual 
inspection have been inspected, and no tests have been made as to whether or not such parts are free from 
defects. The valuation assumes that a structural survey would reveal no major defects in the structural 
integrity of the building, property is free from latent defects and no deleterious materials have been used in 
its construction. 
 
The undersigned hereby declare that as far as I am aware, no conflict of interest, either personal or in 
relation to the firm exists. 
 
Contents of the Valuation Reports (as specified within 7.4 in the Capital Markets Rules) 
 
1.1. Address ± The property address was included with every valuation report. A façade photo and a 

reference plan was also included, where applicable. 
1.2. NaWXUe Rf YaOXeU¶V iQVSecWiRQ ± A visual inspection was carried out in every property, within all 

accessible areas, in order to confirm the compliance with planning permits, structural soundness and 
level of finishes. 

1.3. Brief description ± A description of each property was provided, including the site and floor areas, 
uses and number of floors 

1.4. Existing use ± The main use of each property was defined, including compliance with approved 
planning permits 

1.5. Relevant planning permissions ± Relevant approved planning permits and minor amendment were 
listed 

1.6. Material contravention of Statutory Requirements ± Any contraventions were listed, where applicable 
1.7. Tenure ± Included with every report 
1.8. MaiQ WeUPV Rf WeQaQWV¶ OeaVeV RU VXb-leases ± Main terms, including the lease period and monthly rent 

were listed with every report 
1.9. Approximate age of any buildings ± This has been included with every report 
1.10. Present capital value in existing state ± This has been included in every report 
1.11. Terms of any intra-group lease on Property occupied by the Group ± This has been included in every 

report, where applicable 
1.12. Other matters which materially affect the value ± Not applicable 



 

1.13. Sources of information and verification ± All information required by the valuer for the purpose of these 
valuations were supplied by Hili Properties plc. All areas used for the calculations were based on the 
planning permit drawings and no measured surveys were done by the undersigned. 

1.14. Details of registered mortgages and privileges and other charges ± This has been included in every 
report, where applicable 

 
2. Details of valuer ± The undersigned Architect and Civil Engineer, Perit Joseph Bugeja with warrant 

number 168 
 

3. Effective date of valuation ± 30th September 2021 
 

4. Basis of valuation - The valuations are based on an Open Market Value, which provides the same 
outcome as Market Value, which is defined by the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) 
VaOXaWiRQ SWaQdaUdV, aV µWhe eVWiPaWed aPRXQW fRU Zhich aQ aVVeW RU OiabiOiW\ VhRXOd e[chaQge RQ Whe 
YaOXaWiRQ daWe beWZeeQ a ZiOOiQg bX\eU aQd a ZiOOiQg VeOOeU iQ aQ aUP¶V OeQgWh WUaQVacWiRQ afWeU SURSeU 
marketing and where the parties had acted knowledgeabO\, SUXdeQWO\ aQd ZiWhRXW cRPSXOViRQ¶. 

 
5. Assumptions taken for the valuations ± The estimated values are deemed to be the best price at which 

the sale of an interest in the respective property would have been completed unconditionally for cash 
consideration on the date of valuation, based on the following assumptions: 

 
a. A willing seller; 
b. Prior to the date of valuation, there had been a reasonable period for the proper marketing of 

the interest, for the negotiation and agreement of the price and terms and conditions of the 
sale; 

c. No account is taken of any additional bid by a purchase with a special interest; 
d. Both parties to the transaction had acted knowledgably, prudently and without compulsion; 
e. Property is not subject to any unusual or onerous restrictions, encumbrances or outgoings and 

a good title can be shown 
 
6. Title of property ± The title of each property was defined in the reports 

 
7. Valuation of the benefit or detriment of contractual arrangements in respect of Property ± Not 

applicable 
 

8. Directors or promoters have had an interest in any acquisitions or disposals ± Not applicable 
 

9. Other relevant matters ± Any particular matters which were considered were listed in the report of 
each property 

 
10. Valuation methodology ± The valuation reports were carried out in accordance with standards and 

guidelines issued by the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS). Unless otherwise stated, the 
valuations are based on a comparative valuation method. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 
Property Address Nineteen Twenty Three, Valletta Road, Marsa 

 
Proprietor Hili Estates Limited 

 
Property Type / Use Office block with warehouse and storage area 

 
Gross Floor Area Parking: 2600 m2 

Warehouse & storage: 2400 m2 
Office: 5550 m2 
 

Plot Area ca 2585 m2 

 
Tenure Freehold 

 
Occupation The property is leased out, with 100% occupancy, to the following companies 

which form part of the Hili Ventures Group: 
x Premier Restaurants Malta Limited 
x Premier Capital Plc 
x Hili Logistics Limited 
x Harvest Technology Plc 
x Hili Ventures Limited 
x HV Hospitality Limited 
x CMA CGM Malta Agency 
 
The aggregate monthly rent to date is Eur 85,247 (excl. VAT). There is an 
annual increase of 2% on the rent as a general term with an exception in 
some cases of a 2% increase every 5 years. 
The first 4 to 7 years of the lease period are di fermo (Lessee¶s opWion) and 
with the option for renewal for a further 5 to 7 years if not terminated.  
Utilities cost are invoiced to the Lessee on a per use basis, whilst ordinary 
mainWenance is aW Whe Lessee¶s e[pense. 
 

Structural condition Property in sound structural state 
 

Age Main block constructed 12 years ago, warehouse constructed over 30 years 
ago 
 

Planning permit history x PA 3818/92, PA 3819/92 & PA 3820/92 ± permits issued for the 
construction of 3 industrial garages. Granted 

x PA 3451/95, PA 3452/95 & PA 3453/95 ± renewal of above permits. 
Granted 

x PA 5066/95 ± full development application to affect structural alterations 
and change of use from store to cold storage and freezer rooms. Granted 

x PA 2681/96 ± amended application to include substation. Granted 
x PA 476/02 ± outline development application for the construction of three 

levels. Granted 
x PA 5672/05 ± Extension to warehouse and construction of four floors of 

office space with underlying car parking spaces. Granted 
x PA 4454/09 ± Change of use from warehouse space to public service 

garage car storage warehouse. Granted 
x PA 695/13 ± Extension to existing office block over adjacent roof space, 

and change of use of basement to garage. Granted 
x PA 2157/15 ± Addition of recessed floor to house boardrooms and 

recreation areas in existing office block. Granted 



 

x PA 2157/15 ± Addition of recessed floor to house boardrooms and 
recreation areas in existing office block. Granted 

 
x Deviations from permit - PA 4454/09 ± Warehouse space being used as 2 

floors within the double height of storage and ancillary offices for IT 
related developments. To Sanction  
 

Value ¼ 1�,�00,000 (Sixteen million and nine hundred thousand euros) 
 

 



 

 
 
 
 
 
Property Address No.21/22/23/24, Ix-XaWW Wa¶ TLgQe, SOLePa 

 
Proprietor Premier Estates Limited 

 
Property Type / Use Restaurant 

 
Gross Floor Area ca 1000 m2 

Outdoor seating: 30 m2 
 

Plot Area ca 535 m2 

 
Tenure Freehold 

 
Occupation Leased to Arcades Ltd. at an annual rate of Eur 360,500 p.a. for the 1st year, 

followed by a higher amount which determined on a monthly basis of the 
following 2 options: 

1. Eur 350,000 excl. VAT payable monthly in arrears. The rent amount 
is revised every 5 years in accordance with COLA, or by 3%, 
whichever is greater. 

2. A monthly rate of 5% of the monthly gross sales excl. VAT payable 
monthly in arrears. 

Date of commencement of lease started on 1st May 2013 for a 20 year period 
 

Structural condition Property in sound structural state 
 

Age Property constructed in 2013 
 

Planning permit history Planning permit PA 1095/12. Granted 
Minor amendment approved in March 2015 
 

Value ¼ 5,000,000 (Five million euros) 
 

 



 

 
 
 
 
 
Property Address No.77/78/79, Sqaq il-Fawwara, Sliema 

 
Proprietor Premier Estates Limited 

 
Property Type / Use Office 

 
Gross Floor Area ca 650 m2 

 
Plot Area ca 535 m2 

 
Tenure Freehold 

 
Occupation Leased to 2X Software Malta Ltd. at an annual rate of Eur 115,900 p.a. excl. 

VAT, starting on the 1st November 2015. The rent increases at the end of 
each year by 2% p.a. The lease is for a period of 10 years, of which the first 3 
years di fermo and the remaining 7 years di rispetto. 
 

Structural condition Property in sound structural state 
 

Age Property constructed in 2013 
 

Planning permit history Planning permit PA 1095/12. Granted 
Minor amendment approved in March 2015 
 

Value € 3,200,000 (Three million and two hundred thousand euros) 
 

 



 

 
 
 
 
 
Property Address Transport House, No.11, Triq Pietro Floriani c/w/ Triq San Frangisk, 

Floriana 
 

Proprietor Hili Properties plc 
 

Property Type / Use Office block 
 

Gross Floor Area ca 910 m2 
 

Plot Area ca 155 m2 at ground floor 
 

Tenure Freehold 
 

Occupation Leased to a government entity which term commenced on the 31st July 2017. 
Annual rent is Eur 90,000 for a period of 5 years, following which it will 
increase to Eur 100,000. The lease term elapses on the 31st July 2027. 
Ordinary maintenance is at the Lessee¶s e[pense whilst the utilities cost are 
invoiced to the Lessee on an as per use basis. 
 

Structural condition Property in sound structural state, with need for some maintenance repair at 
the upper floor due to water ingress 
 

Age Property built pre 1968 
 

Planning permit history PA 4203/00 ± change of use from residential to office at 2nd floor. Granted 
PA 3762/04 ± change of use from residential to office at 1st floor. Granted 
PA 4928/16 ± minor alterations to premises, including incorporation of an 
accessible passenger lift serving all floors. Granted 
 
Deviations from permit  
Minor alterations at levels 1 and 2, and change in levels which do not reflect 
on approved plans 
 

Value € 2,500,000 (Two million and five hundred thousand euros) 
 

 



 

 
 
 
 
 
Property Address Villa Marika, Triq is-Slielem c/w Triq il-Mielah, High Ridge, Madliena 

 
Proprietor Hili Properties plc 

 
Property Type Residential – fully detached bungalow 

 
Gross Floor Area ca 1250 m2 

 
Plot Area ca 1250 m2 

 
Tenure Freehold 

 
Occupation Private resident 

 
Structural condition Property in sound structural state, with need for some maintenance repair 

due to an aging structure 
 

Age Property constructed early 1970s 
 

Planning permit history PA 3761/04 – sanctioning of property as built. Granted 
 

Value € 3,700,000 (Three million and seven hundred thousand euros) 
 

 



 

 
 
The total cumulative value of the above listed properties amounts to ¼ 31,300,000 (Thirty one million and 
three hundred thousand Euro) 
 
The above may be split as follows: 
 
Property held as residential property: 
 
Villa Marika, Triq is-Slielem c/w Triq il-Mielah, High Ridge, Madliena   ¼   3,700,000 
      ¼   3,700,000  
 
Property held as commercial property: 
 
Nineteen Twenty Three, Valletta Road, Marsa      ¼ 16,900,000 
No.21/22/23/24, ix-XaWW Wa¶ TigQe, SOiePa      ¼   5,000,000 
No.77/78/79, Sqaq il-Fawwara, Sliema      ¼   3,200,000 
Transport House, No.11, Triq Pietro Floriani c/w Triq San Frangisk, Floriana   ¼   2,500,000 
      ¼ 27,600,000 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Perit Joseph Bugeja 
M.Sc.(Lond), D.I.C., B.A.(Arch.), A. & C.E. 
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Properties valuation report - Summary 
Issued by: 

COLLIERS VALUATION AND ADVISORY SRL (the “Valuer” / “we”) 

Represented by Mr. Lazar Laurentiu - Aurelian, as Attorney in fact of the representative of the appointed Administrator 
– Colliers International Property Consultants Limited  

With registered office at 169A Floreasca Road, Afi Park Floreasca, Building A, 2nd Floor, Office no. 2, 1st District, Bucharest, 
Romania 

In respect of:      

PREMIER ASSETS SRL (the “Company”) 

Represented by Mr. Georgios Kakouras in his capacity of Director 

With registered office at 4-8 Nicolae Titulescu Avenue, America House, West Wing, 7th floor, 1st District, Bucharest, Romania 

 

Dear Sirs, 

PREMIER ASSETS SRL (The “Company”) 

VALUATION REPORT AS OF 29th of September 2021 

Introduction 

At the Company instruction, based on the fully executed service agreement between the Company and the Valuer dated 
5th of August 2021, Colliers Valuation and Advisory was required of an indication of value of five Properties which are 
owned by the Company. In this regard, the Valuer estimated the Market Values of the freehold interests in the Properties 
owned by the Company for the inclusion in the document to be published by the client for financial purposes in relation 
with an IPO (initial public offering) process of the parent company of the Client secured by the Properties, under the 
requirements of Chapter 7 of the Capital Markets Rules of Malta Financial Services Authority. 

The valuation has been prepared in accordance with the Red Book (incorporating the International Valuation Standards) 
and ANEVAR Romanian Valuation Standards, under the requirements Chapter 7 of the Capital Markets Rules of Malta 
Financial Services Authority. 

Report Date 

29th of September 2021 

Valuation Date 

15th of September 2021 

Addressees 

PREMIER ASSETS SRL (the “Company”) 
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Status of the Valuer 

The valuation was performed by Colliers Valuation and Advisory, an External Valuer, as defined in the RICS Valuation – 
Global Standards. 

Colliers fulfills the professional conditions required to complete a valuation of a real estate property. Colliers Valuation 
and Advisory is a member of ANEVAR (National Association of the Romanian Valuers) and the valuers employed in 
completing the present report have attended the required professional training and are in the possession of a real estate 
valuer certification.  

The present valuation has been prepared by Anca Baldea (ANEVAR identification no. 10464) and Aurelia Stefania Bobe 
(ANEVAR identification no. 18318), as independent valuers, as follows: 

Anca Baldea                                                               Aurelia Stefania Bobe 

Director / Valuation and Advisory Services          Senior Associate 

ANEVAR and RICS member                                     ANEVAR member                                                     

Experience of 15 Years                                            Experience of 6Years 

Main +4021 319 77 77                                             Main +021 319 77 77 
Mobile +40 729 990 190                                          Mobile + 40 76 363 40 86 
E-mail Anca.Baldea@colliers.com                          Email Aurelia.Bobe@colliers.com 

The total of fees earned by Colliers Valuation and Advisory from the Company during 2020 accounts for less than 5% of 
Colliers total fee income in Romania and we do not expect this position to change in the current year. 

Purpose of Valuation 

The purpose of the present valuation (the “Purpose”) is to estimate the Market Values of the freehold interests in the 
Properties for inclusion in the document to be published by the client for financial purposes in relation with an IPO (initial 
public offering) process of the parent company of the Client secured by the Properties. 

The present valuation has been prepared under the requirements of Chapter 7 of the Capital Markets Rules of Malta 
Financial Services Authority. 

Assets to be Valued 

The valuated properties are represented by the following five fast food retail spaces located at the following addresses:  

! Selgros Berceni DT: 92-108 Turnu Magurele Street, 4th District, Bucharest, Romania; 

! Bragadiru DT: 110 Alexandriei Road, Bragadiru, Ilfov, Romania; 

! Satu Mare DT: 9 Careiului Street, Satu Mare, Romania; 

! Alba Iulia DT: 120-120A, Calea Motilor, Alba Iulia, Romania; 

! Coresi Brasov DT: 5 Turnului Street, Brasov, Romania. 
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Basis of Value 

The Market Value is defined by RICS Valuation – Global Standards as “the estimated amount for which an asset or liability 
should exchange on the valuation date between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction, after proper 
marketing and where the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion”. (IVS 104 paragraph 30.1) 

Within VPS 4 Bases of value, assumptions and special assumptions in RICS Valuation – Global Standards, it is also 
mentioned that “the Market Value is a basis of value that is internationally recognized and has a long-established definition. It 
describes an exchange between parties that are unconnected and are operating freely in the marketplace and represents the 
figure that would appear in a hypothetical contract of sale, or equivalent legal document, at the valuation date, reflecting all 
those factors that would be taken into account in framing their bids by market participants at large and reflecting the highest 
and best use of the asset. The highest and best use of an asset is the use of an asset that maximizes its productivity and that is 
possible, legally permissible and financially feasible”. 

Thereby, in accordance with the above mentioned, we made sure that the estimated Market Value of the Properties is 
reflecting their highest and based use taking into account the criteria defining it, to maximize the potential of the analyzed 
properties and which is physically possible, legally permissible and financially feasible. 

General Assumptions 

The Valuer has valued the Properties based on several general and special assumptions which are detailed in the 
individual valuation reports (the “Report and Valuation”) and which are also applicable for the present summary, without 
considering any discounts or premiums related to the sale of the Properties. 

The Properties were valued based on the inspections performed on the following dates:  

No Property Date of inspection 

1 Selgros Berceni DT August 18th, 2021 

2 Bragadiru DT August 18th, 2021 

3 Satu Mare DT August 18th, 2021 

4 Alba Iulia DT August 19th, 2021 

5 Coresi Brasov Dt August 19th, 2021 

     

 

and on the information about the properties and the current market conditions, as well as the predicted tendencies of 
the local market. 

The Valuer has analyzed the Properties based on the information provided by the Company assumed to be accurate and 
reliable (including financial, legal, technical or leasing status, etc). Although, wherever possible, we check for plausibility 
the received data, we assume no liability resulting from misinformation. If any information or assumptions on which the 
valuation is based are subsequently found to be incorrect, the estimated values may also be incorrect and should be 
reconsidered. 

Compliance with Valuation Standards 

The present valuation has been prepared in accordance with the current edition of the RICS Valuation – Global Standards 
(known as Red Book), published by the Royal Institute of the Chartered Surveyors (RICS), incorporating the International 
Valuation Standards (IVS) as published by the International Valuation Standards Council (IVSC) and the ANEVAR (National 
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Association of Romanian Valuers) Valuation Standards, 2020 edition, as well as other standards and methodological 
guides developed by ANEVAR, through which the consistency with the European Valuation Standards (EVS) is also insured. 

The Valuer is in the position to provide an objective and unbiased valuation fulfilling the professional conditions required 
to complete a valuation of a real estate property and sufficient skills and knowledge on the segments of the real estate 
market involved. 

The present valuation is a professional opinion, and it should not be considered a guarantee of any kind of the fact that 
in a possible sale of the subject properties, it should achieve the estimated value. 

Valuation Approach and Reasoning 

There are basically three methods that can be used to determine the Market Value of a real estate property: the market 
approach, the income approach and the cost approach. 

The nature of the subject properties implies a single tenant type of lease, usually with a long term contract and stabilized 
rent during the contractual period. For this reason we have applied the Income Approach – Direct Capitalization Method in 
determining the Market Values of the subject assets. 

The valuation methodologies used are explained in detail in the individual valuation reports. 

Properties Description and Market Values 

 

Property Name: SELGROS BERCENI DT 

Property Address: 92-108 Turnu Magurele Street, 4th District, Bucharest, Romania 

Owner: PREMIER ASSETS SRL 

Description:  

Typology: Commercial – fast food DT unit 

Site area: 1,499 sqm 

Total built area: 415 sqm 

Leasable area: 353 sqm 

Height regime: GF 

Construction year: 2018 

Maintenance: Newly built, good physical state 

Tenure: Freehold 

Occupancy: 

The building is 100% leased to Premier Restaurant for a contractual period 
of 20 years. It is an intra-group lease. More details regarding the contractual 
terms can be found in the full individual valuation report.  

Market Value EUR 2,169,000 
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Property Name: BRAGADIRU DT 

Property Address: 110 Alexandriei Road, Bragadiru, Ilfov, Romania 

Owner: PREMIER ASSETS SRL 

Description:  

Typology: Commercial – Fast food DT unit 

Site area: 2,700 sqm 

Total built area: 407 sqm 

Leasable area: 356 sqm 

Height regime: GF 

Construction year: 2019 

Maintenance: Newly built, good physical state 

Tenure: Freehold 

Occupancy: 

The building is 100% leased to Premier Restaurant for a contractual period 
of 20 years. It is an intra-group lease. More details regarding the contractual 
terms can be found in the full individual valuation report.  

Market Value EUR 1,913,000 

 

Property Name: SATU MARE DT 

Property Address: 9/A Careiului Street, Satu Mare, Romania 

Owner: PREMIER ASSETS SRL 

Description:  

Typology: Commercial – Fast food DT unit 

Site area: 1,346 sqm 

Total built area: 379 sqm 

Leasable area: 342 sqm 

Height regime: GF 

Construction year: 2019 

Maintenance: Newly built, good physical state 

Tenure: Freehold 
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Occupancy: 

The building is 100% leased to Premier Restaurant for a contractual period 
of 20 years. It is an intra-group lease. More details regarding the contractual 
terms can be found in the full individual valuation report.  

Market Value EUR 1,360,000 

 

Property Name: ALBA IULIA DT 

Property Address: 120-120A, Calea Motilor, Alba Iulia, Romania 

Owner: PREMIER ASSETS SRL 

Description:  

Typology: Commercial – Fast food DT unit 

Site area: 1,184 sqm 

Total built area: 382 sqm 

Leasable area: 343 sqm 

Height regime: GF 

Construction year: 2019 

Maintenance: Newly built, good physical state 

Tenure: Freehold 

Occupancy: 

The building is 100% leased to Premier Restaurant for a contractual period 
of 20 years. It is an intra-group lease. More details regarding the contractual 
terms can be found in the full individual valuation report.  

Market Value EUR 1,317,000 

The above value is exclusive of VAT.  

 

Property Name: CORESI BRASOV DT 

Property Address: 5 Turnului Street, Brasov, Romania 

Owner: PREMIER ASSETS SRL 

Description:  

Typology: Commercial – Fast food DT unit 

Site area: 2,070 sqm 

Total built area: 400 sqm 

Leasable area: 357 sqm 

Height regime: GF 
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Construction year: 2020 

Maintenance: Newly built, good physical state 

Tenure: Freehold 

Occupancy: 

The building is 100% leased to Premier Restaurant for a contractual period 
of 20 years. It is an intra-group lease. More details regarding the contractual 
terms can be found in the full individual valuation report.  

Market Value EUR 1,879,000 

 

Material Valuation Uncertainty 

The outbreak of the Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19), declared by the World Health Organisation as a “pandemic” on 
11.03.2020, has impacted many aspects of daily life and the global economy – with real estate markets generally 
experiencing significantly lower levels of transactional activity and liquidity.  

As at the valuation date, property markets in certain sectors have begun to function with transaction volumes providing an 
adequate quantum of comparable market evidence upon which to base opinions of value. This has resulted in the use of 
the Material Uncertainty Clause as set out in VPS 3 and VPGA 10 of the RICS Valuation – Global Standards being lifted for 
prime products on the real estate market. However, given the potential future impact that COVID-19 might have on the real 
estate market, with many business practices and behaviors changing either temporarily or permanently, we recommend 
that you keep the valuation contained within this report under frequent review. 

Special Assumptions 

The estimates of values in the Report and Valuation are based on a thorough and detailed analysis of information obtained 
from various sources. Some of this data has required subjective interpretation and certain assumptions in arriving at value 
conclusions.  

As a result, the opinions and conclusions contained in the present summary are subject to the following Special 
Assumptions: 

o Title Investigations 

Although we check the relevant ownership documents when provided, nothing in the Report and Valuation can be 
interpreted as a legal opinion as concerns the state of the title. Thus, we take no responsibility for matters of legal nature 
and our valuation is based on the assumption that the title is marketable and free from onerous or restrictive covenants, 
rights of way and easements, and any other encumbrances or outgoings that may affect value. 

o Letting Investigations 

We have not inspected the lease agreements and apart from those disclosed to us, we have assumed that any rents, service 
charges and other contributions are fair and proportionate, and are not subject to onerous increases or reviews. 

We have also assumed, except where we have been informed to the contrary, that all rents are reviewed in an upwards 
direction only at the intervals notified to us, to the full market rental value and that no questions of doubt arise as to the 
interpretation of the provisions in the leases giving effect to the rent reviews. 
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Unless we have been informed to the contrary, we have assumed that there are no material arrears of rent and/or service 
charges.  

We do not take detailed investigations regarding the financial status of the tenants, our valuation reflecting the general 
type of tenants and the market perception of their creditworthiness.  

o Planning  

Although we check for plausibility the provided documents in terms of statutory consents, unless noted, it is assumed that 
there are no encroachments or planning and building violations encumbering the Properties.  

Where verification of the information is impractical, we assume that the Properties has the necessary statutory consents 
for the current buildings and use, thus they are constructed, used and occupied in full compliance with the relevant planning 
and building regulation approvals and that there are no outstanding notices, conditions, breaches, contraventions, non-
compliance, appeals, challenges or judicial reviews, assuming that all approvals and permissions are in place at the 
valuation date. 

o Plans, Floors Area and Building Measurements 

As valuers, we do not normally carry out measurements of buildings or sites. Thus, our valuation is based on the areas 
provided by the client. Wherever possible, we check the received data with cadastral plans or excerpts from land book. 
Under this approach, we assume that the areas upon the information provided have been calculated in accordance with 
market standards, in accordance with the current edition of RICS Property Measurement. 

o Services and EPCs 

We do not test any services, drainage, or service installations. We assume that all services, including gas, water, electricity 
and sewerage are provided and are functioning satisfactorily. We do not test any alarms or installations and we assume 
that the Properties comply with and will continue to comply with fire regulations legislation. 

Regarding EPCs (Energy Performance Certificates), if we are not provided with such documents, we assume that if one 
was available, its rating would not have had a detrimental impact upon our opinion value or marketability. 

Thus, we assume that the Properties have an economic lifespan similar to comparable properties in the market, subject 
to regular maintenance and repairs in accordance with appropriate asset management strategies. 

The financial forecasts presented in our valuation assume both responsible ownership and competent management. Any 
variance from this assumption may have a significant impact on the future operating expenses and value estimate. 

o Harmful, Deleterious Materials, Health & Safety Legislation 

The valuation is performed on the basis that the Properties are free of potentially hazardous materials used in the 
construction or maintenance of the buildings (such as asbestos, urea formaldehyde foam insulation, PCBs, high alumina 
cement concrete, calcium chloride as a drying agent, wood wool slabs as permanent shuttering, aluminum composite 
cladding material, polystyrene and polyurethane cladding insulation). The Valuer is not qualified to detect these 
substances or estimate any costs involved with their removal and urge the Company to retain an expert in this field, if 
desired. 

Thereby, unless the Valuer is supplied with evidence to the contrary, the valuation is done on the assumption that the 
Properties are fully in compliance with the building regulations, being free from any rot, infestation, adverse toxic chemical 
treatments, and structural or design defects. 
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o Ground Conditions and Environmental Matters 

We do not carry out environmental surveys to assess if any land or premises are, or have been, contaminated, given that 
we are not chartered environmental surveyors.  

We do not carry out any soil, geological or other tests in order to ascertain the site conditions and to check if there are 
unusual features that may be harmful to people and affect the actual use of the Properties (such as ground conditions 
and load bearing qualities, subterranean structures or services, contamination, pollutants, mining activity, sink holes, 
archaeological remains, radon gas, electromagnetic fields and power lines, invasive plants and protected species). 

Our investigations regarding the above mentioned are limited to the observations done in the course of our inspections, 
through normal enquiries or by local knowledge and to the information supplied by the Company, which we assume is 
correct and that further investigations would not reveal more information affecting the estimated value. 

Reliance, Confidentiality and Disclosure 

For the purposes of the Capital Markets Rules of the Malta Financial Services Authority, we are responsible for the Report 
and Valuation and we accept responsibility for the information contained within it and confirm to the best of our knowledge 
(having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case), the information contained in the Report and Valuation is 
in accordance with the facts and contains no omissions likely to affect its import. The Report and Valuation complies with 
and has been prepared in accordance with, and on the basis of Chapter 7 of the Capital Markets Rules of Malta Financial 
Services Authority. 

The Report and Valuation is addressed to the Addressees for the Purpose and it is for the use of and may be relied upon 
by the Addressees and the shareholders of the Company in connection with the Purpose. Save in respect of the Addressees 
and shareholders of the Company and, to the fullest extent permitted by law and Capital Markets Rules, we do not assume 
any responsibility and will not accept any liability to any third party for any loss suffered by any such third party as a result 
of, or arising out of, or in accordance with this Report and Valuation. 

We have given our prior written consent to the publication of this Report and Valuation in the document to be published 
by the client for financial purposes in relation with an IPO (initial public offering) process of the parent company of the 
Client secured by the Properties, under the requirements of Chapter 7 of the Capital Markets Rules of Malta Financial 
Services Authority. 

Neither the whole nor any part of this valuation, nor any reference thereto, may be included in any documents other than 
those listed above without our previous written approval to the form and context in which it will appear. 

For the avoidance of doubt, this Report and Valuation is provided by Colliers Valuation and Advisory Romania and no 
partner, member or employee assumes any personal responsibility for it nor shall owe a duty of care in respect of it. 

 

Yours faithfully, 
                                                                
 
Anca Baldea                                                                                                    Aurelia Stefania Bobe 
ANEVAR and MRICS Registered Valuer                                                      ANEVAR member 
Colliers Valuation and Advisory Romania                                                 Colliers Valuation and Advisory Romania 
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Property valuation report - Summary 

Issued by: 

COLLIERS VALUATION AND ADVISORY SRL (the “Valuer” / “we”) 

Represented by Mr. Lazar Laurentiu - Aurelian, as Attorney in fact of the representative of the appointed Administrator 

– Colliers International Property Consultants Limited  

With registered office at 169A Floreasca Road, Afi Park Floreasca, Building A, 2nd Floor, Office no. 2, 1st District, Bucharest, 

Romania 

In respect of:      

HILI PREMIER ESTATE ROMANIA SRL (the “Company”) 

Represented by Mr. Georgios Kakouras in his capacity of Director 

With registered office at 4-8 Nicolae Titulescu Avenue, America House, West Wing, 5th floor, 1st District, Bucharest, Romania 

 

Dear Sirs, 

HILI PREMIER ESTATE ROMANIA SRL (The “Company”) 

VALUATION REPORT AS OF 29th of September 2021 

Introduction 

At the Company instruction, based on the fully executed service agreement between the Company and the Valuer dated 

5th of August 2021, Colliers Valuation and Advisory was required of an indication of value of one Property which is owned 

by the Company. In this regard, the Valuer estimated the Market Value of the freehold interests in the Property owned by 

the Company for the inclusion in the document to be published by the client for financial purposes in relation with an IPO 

(initial public offering) process of the parent company of the Client secured by the Property, under the requirements of 

Chapter 7 of the Capital Markets Rules of Malta Financial Services Authority. 

The valuation has been prepared in accordance with the Red Book (incorporating the International Valuation Standards) 

and ANEVAR Romanian Valuation Standards, under the requirements Chapter 7 of the Capital Markets Rules of Malta 

Financial Services Authority. 

Report Date 

29th of September 2021 

Valuation Date 

15th of September 2021 

Addressees 

HILI PREMIER ESTATE ROMANIA SRL (the “Company”) 
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Status of the Valuer 

The valuation was performed by Colliers Valuation and Advisory, an External Valuer, as defined in the RICS Valuation – 

Global Standards. 

Colliers fulfills the professional conditions required to complete a valuation of a real estate property. Colliers Valuation 

and Advisory is a member of ANEVAR (National Association of the Romanian Valuers) and the valuers employed in 

completing the present report have attended the required professional training and are in the possession of a real estate 

valuer certification.  

The present valuation has been prepared by Anca Baldea (ANEVAR identification no. 10464) and Aurelia Stefania Bobe 

(ANEVAR identification no. 18318), as independent valuers, as follows: 

Anca Baldea                                                               Aurelia Stefania Bobe 

Director / Valuation and Advisory Services          Senior Associate 

ANEVAR and RICS member                                     ANEVAR member                                                     

Experience of 15 Years                                            Experience of 6Years 

Main +4021 319 77 77                                             Main +021 319 77 77 

Mobile +40 729 990 190                                          Mobile + 40 76 363 40 86 

E-mail Anca.Baldea@colliers.com                          Email Aurelia.Bobe@colliers.com 

The total of fees earned by Colliers Valuation and Advisory from the Company during 2020 accounts for less than 5% of 

Colliers total fee income in Romania and we do not expect this position to change in the current year. 

Purpose of Valuation 

The purpose of the present valuation (the “Purpose”) is to estimate the Market Value of the freehold interests in the 

Property for inclusion in the document to be published by the client for financial purposes in relation with an IPO (initial 

public offering) process of the parent company of the Client secured by the Property. 

The present valuation has been prepared under the requirements of Chapter 7 of the Capital Markets Rules of Malta 

Financial Services Authority. 

Assets to be Valued 

The valuated property is represented by a land plot and the afferent office building, located in Bucharest, at 85A Nicolae 

Caramfil Street, District 1, Romania. 

Basis of Value 

The Market Value is defined by RICS Valuation – Global Standards as “the estimated amount for which an asset or liability 
should exchange on the valuation date between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction, after proper 
marketing and where the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion”. (IVS 104 paragraph 30.1) 

Within VPS 4 Bases of value, assumptions and special assumptions in RICS Valuation – Global Standards, it is also 

mentioned that “the Market Value is a basis of value that is internationally recognized and has a long-established definition. It 
describes an exchange between parties that are unconnected and are operating freely in the marketplace and represents the 
figure that would appear in a hypothetical contract of sale, or equivalent legal document, at the valuation date, reflecting all 



Main +40 21 319 77 77 

www.colliers.com/ro 

Floreasca Business Park, Calea Floreasca 169 A, Building A, 2nd floor, district 1, Bucharest, Romania 

P. 3 

Colliers Valuation and Advisory Romania 

Confidential 

those factors that would be taken into account in framing their bids by market participants at large and reflecting the highest 
and best use of the asset. The highest and best use of an asset is the use of an asset that maximizes its productivity and that is 
possible, legally permissible and financially feasible”. 

Thereby, in accordance with the above mentioned, we made sure that the estimated Market Value of the Property is 

reflecting their highest and based use taking into account the criteria defining it, to maximize the potential of the analyzed 

property and which is physically possible, legally permissible and financially feasible. 

General Assumptions 

The Valuer has valued the Property based on several general and special assumptions which are detailed in the individual 

valuation report (the “Report and Valuation”) and which are also applicable for the present summary, without considering 

any discounts or premiums related to the sale of the Property. 

The Property was valued based on the inspection done on 23rd August 2021 and the information about the property and 

the current market conditions, as well as the predicted tendencies of the local market. 

The Valuer has analyzed the Property based on the information provided by the Company assumed to be accurate and 

reliable (including financial, legal, technical or leasing status, etc). Although, wherever possible, we check for plausibility 

the received data, we assume no liability resulting from misinformation. If any information or assumptions on which the 

valuation is based are subsequently found to be incorrect, the estimated values may also be incorrect and should be 

reconsidered. 

Compliance with Valuation Standards 

The present valuation has been prepared in accordance with the current edition of the RICS Valuation – Global Standards 

(known as Red Book), published by the Royal Institute of the Chartered Surveyors (RICS), incorporating the International 

Valuation Standards (IVS) as published by the International Valuation Standards Council (IVSC) and the ANEVAR (National 

Association of Romanian Valuers) Valuation Standards, 2020 edition, as well as other standards and methodological 

guides developed by ANEVAR, through which the consistency with the European Valuation Standards (EVS) is also insured. 

The Valuer is in the position to provide an objective and unbiased valuation fulfilling the professional conditions required 

to complete a valuation of a real estate property and sufficient skills and knowledge on the segments of the real estate 

market involved. 

The present valuation is a professional opinion, and it should not be considered a guarantee of any kind of the fact that 

in a possible sale of the subject property, it should achieve the estimated value. 

Valuation Approach and Reasoning 

There are basically three methods that can be used to determine the Market Value of a real estate property: the market 

approach, the income approach and the cost approach. 

As the building is already rented out to multiple tenants and is subject to different contractual terms, generating a certain 

income for the next 10 years, we have applied the income approach by taking into consideration all the factors that might 

influence the level of the rents and are included in the signed contracts. Also, the subject valuation had to include all the 

predictions for the future incomes that are going to be produced by the building at the end of the existing contracts. 

The valuation methodologies used are explained in detail in the individual valuation report. 

 

 



Main +40 21 319 77 77 

www.colliers.com/ro 

Floreasca Business Park, Calea Floreasca 169 A, Building A, 2nd floor, district 1, Bucharest, Romania 

P. 4 

Colliers Valuation and Advisory Romania 

Confidential 

 

Property Description and Market Value 

Property Address: 85A Nicolae Caramfil Street, District 1, Bucharest, Romania 

Owner: HILI PREMIER ESTATE ROMANIA SRL 

Description:  

Typology: Existing office building with the destination of hospital 

Site area: 4,252 sqm 

Total built area: 33,692 sqm 

Leasable area: 23,763 sqm 

Height regime: 3B+GF+4F+5F withdraw 

Construction year: 2011 

Maintenance: 
In 2014 there were made refurbishment works of the office building for the 

current hospital destination. 

Tenure: Freehold 

Occupancy: 

The building is 100% leased to companies from medical services which have 

lease contracts for a period of 20 years, respectively 10 years and to retail 

companies, having lease contracts for a period of 3 years, respectively 7 

years. 

Market Value EUR 29,800,000 

The above value is exclusive of VAT.  

Material Valuation Uncertainty 

The outbreak of the Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19), declared by the World Health Organisation as a “pandemic” on 
11.03.2020, has impacted many aspects of daily life and the global economy – with real estate markets generally 

experiencing significantly lower levels of transactional activity and liquidity.  

As at the valuation date, property markets in certain sectors have begun to function with transaction volumes providing an 

adequate quantum of comparable market evidence upon which to base opinions of value. This has resulted in the use of 

the Material Uncertainty Clause as set out in VPS 3 and VPGA 10 of the RICS Valuation – Global Standards being lifted for 

prime products on the real estate market. However, given the potential future impact that COVID-19 might have on the real 

estate market, with many business practices and behaviors changing either temporarily or permanently, we recommend 

that you keep the valuation contained within this report under frequent review. 

Special Assumptions 

The estimates of values in the Report and Valuation are based on a thorough and detailed analysis of information obtained 

from various sources. Some of this data has required subjective interpretation and certain assumptions in arriving at value 

conclusions.  



Main +40 21 319 77 77 

www.colliers.com/ro 

Floreasca Business Park, Calea Floreasca 169 A, Building A, 2nd floor, district 1, Bucharest, Romania 

P. 5 

Colliers Valuation and Advisory Romania 

Confidential 

As a result, the opinions and conclusions contained in the present summary are subject to the following Special 

Assumptions: 

o Title Investigations 

Although we check the relevant ownership documents when provided, nothing in the Report and Valuation can be 

interpreted as a legal opinion as concerns the state of the title. Thus, we take no responsibility for matters of legal nature 

and our valuation is based on the assumption that the title is marketable and free from onerous or restrictive covenants, 

rights of way and easements, and any other encumbrances or outgoings that may affect value. 

o Letting Investigations 

We have not inspected the lease agreements and apart from those disclosed to us, we have assumed that any rents, service 

charges and other contributions are fair and proportionate, and are not subject to onerous increases or reviews. 

We have also assumed, except where we have been informed to the contrary, that all rents are reviewed in an upwards 

direction only at the intervals notified to us, to the full market rental value and that no questions of doubt arise as to the 

interpretation of the provisions in the leases giving effect to the rent reviews. 

Unless we have been informed to the contrary, we have assumed that there are no material arrears of rent and/or service 

charges.  

We do not take detailed investigations regarding the financial status of the tenants, our valuation reflecting the general 

type of tenants and the market perception of their creditworthiness.  

o Planning  

Although we check for plausibility the provided documents in terms of statutory consents, unless noted, it is assumed that 

there are no encroachments or planning and building violations encumbering the Property.  

Where verification of the information is impractical, we assume that the Property has the necessary statutory consents for 

the current buildings and use, thus they are constructed, used and occupied in full compliance with the relevant planning 

and building regulation approvals and that there are no outstanding notices, conditions, breaches, contraventions, non-

compliance, appeals, challenges or judicial reviews, assuming that all approvals and permissions are in place at the 

valuation date. 

o Plans, Floors Area and Building Measurements 

As valuers, we do not normally carry out measurements of buildings or sites. Thus, our valuation is based on the areas 

provided by the client. Wherever possible, we check the received data with cadastral plans or excerpts from land book. 

Under this approach, we assume that the areas upon the information provided have been calculated in accordance with 

market standards, in accordance with the current edition of RICS Property Measurement. 

Floor areas set out in the individual valuation report are provided by the Client for the Purpose described in the Report 

and Valuation and are not to be used or relied upon for any other purpose. 

o Services and EPCs 

We do not test any services, drainage, or service installations. We assume that all services, including gas, water, electricity 

and sewerage are provided and are functioning satisfactorily. We do not test any alarms or installations and we assume 

that the Property comply with and will continue to comply with fire regulations legislation. 

Regarding EPCs (Energy Performance Certificates), if we are not provided with such documents, we assume that if one 

was available, its rating would not have had a detrimental impact upon our opinion value or marketability. 
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Thus, we assume that the Property have an economic lifespan similar to comparable properties in the market, subject to 

regular maintenance and repairs in accordance with appropriate asset management strategies. 

The financial forecasts presented in our valuation assume both responsible ownership and competent management. Any 

variance from this assumption may have a significant impact on the future operating expenses and value estimate. 

o Harmful, Deleterious Materials, Health & Safety Legislation 

The valuation is performed on the basis that the Property is free of potentially hazardous materials used in the 

construction or maintenance of the buildings (such as asbestos, urea formaldehyde foam insulation, PCBs, high alumina 

cement concrete, calcium chloride as a drying agent, wood wool slabs as permanent shuttering, aluminum composite 

cladding material, polystyrene and polyurethane cladding insulation). The Valuer is not qualified to detect these 

substances or estimate any costs involved with their removal and urge the Company to retain an expert in this field, if 

desired. 

Thereby, unless the Valuer is supplied with evidence to the contrary, the valuation is done on the assumption that the 

Property is fully in compliance with the building regulations, being free from any rot, infestation, adverse toxic chemical 

treatments, and structural or design defects. 

o Ground Conditions and Environmental Matters 

We do not carry out environmental surveys to assess if any land or premises are, or have been, contaminated, given that 

we are not chartered environmental surveyors.  

We do not carry out any soil, geological or other tests in order to ascertain the site conditions and to check if there are 

unusual features that may be harmful to people and affect the actual use of the Property (such as ground conditions and 

load bearing qualities, subterranean structures or services, contamination, pollutants, mining activity, sink holes, 

archaeological remains, radon gas, electromagnetic fields and power lines, invasive plants and protected species). 

Our investigations regarding the above mentioned are limited to the observations done in the course of our inspections, 

through normal enquiries or by local knowledge and to the information supplied by the Company, which we assume is 

correct and that further investigations would not reveal more information affecting the estimated value.   

Reliance, Confidentiality and Disclosure 

For the purposes of the Capital Markets Rules of the Malta Financial Services Authority, we are responsible for the Report 

and Valuation and we accept responsibility for the information contained within it and confirm to the best of our knowledge 

(having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case), the information contained in the Report and Valuation is 

in accordance with the facts and contains no omissions likely to affect its import. The Report and Valuation complies with 

and has been prepared in accordance with, and on the basis of Chapter 7 of the Capital Markets Rules of Malta Financial 

Services Authority. 

The Report and Valuation is addressed to the Addressees for the Purpose and it is for the use of and may be relied upon 

by the Addressees and the shareholders of the Company in connection with the Purpose. Save in respect of the Addressees 

and shareholders of the Company and, to the fullest extent permitted by law and Capital Markets Rules, we do not assume 

any responsibility and will not accept any liability to any third party for any loss suffered by any such third party as a result 

of, or arising out of, or in accordance with this Report and Valuation. 

We have given our prior written consent to the publication of this Report and Valuation in the document to be published 

by the client for financial purposes in relation with an IPO (initial public offering) process of the parent company of the 

Client secured by the Property, under the requirements of Chapter 7 of the Capital Markets Rules of Malta Financial Services 

Authority. 
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Neither the whole nor any part of this valuation, nor any reference thereto, may be included in any documents other than 

those listed above without our previous written approval to the form and context in which it will appear. 

For the avoidance of doubt, this Report and Valuation is provided by Colliers Valuation and Advisory Romania and no 

partner, member or employee assumes any personal responsibility for it nor shall owe a duty of care in respect of it. 

 

Yours faithfully, 

 

Colliers Valuation and Advisory 
 

 

 

Anca Baldea                                                                                                    Aurelia Stefania Bobe 

ANEVAR and MRICS Registered Valuer                                                      ANEVAR member 

Colliers Valuation and Advisory Romania                                                 Colliers Valuation and Advisory Romania 
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ASSUMPTIONS AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1  Introduction

c©��×ÚË·��æ���Þæ�æ�Ã�Äæ�Ë£�ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�×ËÞ¬æ¬ËÄɇ�æ©��Þæ�æ�Ã�Äæ�Ë£��ËÃ×Ú�©�ÄÞ¬õ��¬Ä�ËÃ���Ä��æ©��×ÚË·��æ���Þæ�æ�Ã�Äæ�Ë£���Þ©�ĉËöÞ�Ë£�æ©��+¬½¬�VÚË×�Úæ¬�Þ�

×Ɍ½Ɍ�Ɍ�£ËÚ�æ©��£ËêÚ�ü��Ú�×�Ú¬Ë��ǽ�9�Äê�Úü�ǾǼǾǽ�æË�ǿǽ�����Ã��Ú�ǾǼǾȀ� ɚɶæ©��×ÚËĈæ�£ËÚ���ÞæÞɷɛ�©�õ�����Ä�×Ú�×�Ú���æË�×ÚËõ¬���ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½� ¬Ä£ËÚÃ�æ¬ËÄ�

£ËÚ�æ©��×êÚ×ËÞ��Ë£�¬Ä�½êÞ¬ËÄ�¬Ä�æ©��VÚËÞ×��æêÞ�Ë£�+¬½¬�VÚË×�Úæ¬�Þ�×Ɍ½Ɍ�Ɍ���æ���Ǿȁ�J�æË��Ú�ǾǼǾǽɌ�c©��×ÚËĈæ�£ËÚ���ÞæÞ��Þ�Þ�æ�Ëêæ�¬Ä�Þ��æ¬ËÄ�ȅɌǿ�Ë£�æ©��

Registration Document forming part of the aforementioned Prospectus and the assumptions below are the sole responsibility of the directors of the 

Hili Properties p.l.c.

c©��×ÚËĈæ�£ËÚ���ÞæÞ�©�õ�����Ä�×Ú�×�Ú���ËÄ��Ä��Ùê¬æü�¬ÞÞê���ü�+¬½¬�VÚË×�Úæ¬�Þ�×Ɍ½Ɍ�Ɍ�Ú�×Ú�Þ�Äæ¬Ä¤�ǽȄȁɇǽȄȁɇǽȄȁ�ËÚ�¬Ä�Úü�Þ©�Ú�Þ��æ���×Ú¬���Ë£�ʆǼɌǾǼ�×�Ú�

share and a premium of €0.07 per share. 

c©��×ÚËĈæ�£ËÚ���ÞæÞ�£ËÚ�æ©��£ËêÚɬü��Ú�×�Ú¬Ë���Ä�¬Ä¤�ǿǽ�����Ã��Ú�ǾǼǾȀ�©�Þ����Ä���Þ���ËÄ�æ©��×ÚË·��æ¬ËÄÞ�Ë£�+¬½¬�VÚË×�Úæ¬�Þ�×Ɍ½Ɍ�Ɍ��Ä��¬æÞ�Ú�Þ×��æ¬õ��

subsidiaries (“the Group”) covering the period from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2024.

c©��×ÚËĈæ�£ËÚ���ÞæÞ��Ú��¬Äæ�Ä����æË�Þ©Ëö���×ËÞÞ¬�½��Ëêæ�ËÃ����Þ���ËÄ���Ã¬ûæêÚ��Ë£���Þæɬ�Þæ¬Ã�æ���ÞÞêÃ×æ¬ËÄÞ��Þ�æË�£êæêÚ���õ�ÄæÞɇ�ö©¬�©�æ©��

directors expect to take place and actions the directors expect to take, and hypothetical assumptions about future events and management actions 

ö©¬�©�Ã¬¤©æ�ÄËæ�Ä���ÞÞ�Ú¬½ü�Ë��êÚɌ��õ�ÄæÞ��Ä���¬Ú�êÃÞæ�Ä��Þ�£Ú�Ùê�Äæ½ü��Ë�ÄËæ�Ë��êÚ��Þ��û×��æ����Ä��æ©�Ú�£ËÚ����æê�½�Ú�Þê½æÞ�Ã�ü��¬ą�Ú�Ã�æ�Ú¬�½½ü�

£ÚËÃ�æ©ËÞ��¬Ä�½ê����¬Ä�æ©��×ÚËĈæ�£ËÚ���ÞæÞɌ��ææ�Äæ¬ËÄ�¬Þ��Ú�öÄɇ�¬Ä�×�Úæ¬�ê½�Úɇ�æË�æ©��Ú¬Þº�£��æËÚÞ�Þ�æ�Ëêæ�¬Ä�æ©��VÚËÞ×��æêÞ�ö©¬�©���Þ�Ú¬���æ©��×Ú¬Ã�Úü�

Ú¬ÞºÞ��ÞÞË�¬�æ���ö¬æ©�æ©���êÞ¬Ä�ÞÞ��Ä��Ë×�Ú�æ¬ËÄÞ�æË�ö©¬�©�æ©��×ÚËĈæ�£ËÚ���ÞæÞ�Ú�½�æ�Ɍ�

c©��×ÚË·��æ���ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�¬Ä£ËÚÃ�æ¬ËÄ�¬Þ�ÄËæ�¬Äæ�Ä����æË��Ä���Ë�Þ�ÄËæ�×ÚËõ¬����½½�æ©��¬Ä£ËÚÃ�æ¬ËÄ��Ä���¬Þ�½ËÞêÚ�Þ�Ä���ÞÞ�Úü�æË�¤¬õ����æÚê���Ä��£�¬Ú�õ¬�ö�

Ë£�æ©��ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�Ú�Þê½æÞɇ�ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�×ËÞ¬æ¬ËÄ��Ä����Þ©�ĉËöÞ�Ë£�æ©��&ÚËê×�¬Ä����ËÚ��Ä���ö¬æ©�.Äæ�ÚÄ�æ¬ËÄ�½�%¬Ä�Ä�¬�½�Y�×ËÚæ¬Ä¤�]æ�Ä��Ú�Þ��Þ���Ë×æ����ü�

the EU. 

c©���¬Ú��æËÚÞ�©�õ���û�Ú�¬Þ����ê����Ú���Ä���¬½¬¤�Ä���¬Ä���Ë×æ¬Ä¤�æ©���ÞÞêÃ×æ¬ËÄÞ��¬Þ�½ËÞ�����½ËöɌ�c©��×ÚËĈæ�£ËÚ���ÞæÞ�ö�Ú��£ËÚÃ�½½ü��××ÚËõ���ËÄ�ǽȀ�

J�æË��Ú�ǾǼǾǽ��ü�æ©���¬Ú��æËÚÞ��Ä��æ©��Þæ�æ����ÞÞêÃ×æ¬ËÄÞ�Ú�ĉ��æ�æ©��·ê�¤�Ã�ÄæÞ�Ã�����ü�æ©���¬Ú��æËÚÞ��Þ��æ�æ©�æ���æ�Ɍ�c©���ÞÞêÃ×æ¬ËÄÞ�æ©�æ�æ©��

�¬Ú��æËÚÞ���½¬�õ���Ú��Þ¬¤Ä¬Ĉ��Äæ�æË�æ©��×ÚËĈæ�£ËÚ���ÞæÞ��Ú��Þ�æ�Ëêæ�¬Ä�Þ��æ¬ËÄ�ǿ���½Ëö��Ä��¬Ä�Þ��æ¬ËÄ�ȅɌǿ�Ë£�æ©��Y�¤¬ÞæÚ�æ¬ËÄ��Ë�êÃ�ÄæɌ

2  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

c©��Þ¬¤Ä¬Ĉ��Äæ����ËêÄæ¬Ä¤�×Ë½¬�¬�Þ�Ë£�+¬½¬�VÚË×�Úæ¬�Þ�×Ɍ½Ɍ�Ɍ��Ú��Þ�æ�Ëêæ�¬Ä�æ©���ê�¬æ���ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�Þæ�æ�Ã�ÄæÞ�Ë£�¬æÞ��ËÄÞæ¬æê�Äæ��ËÃ×�Ä¬�Þ�£ËÚ�æ©��ü��Ú�

ended 31 December 2020. Where applicable, these accounting policies, in so far as they relate to recognition and measurement criteria, have been 

�ËÄÞ¬Þæ�Äæ½ü��××½¬���¬Ä�æ©��×Ú�×�Ú�æ¬ËÄ�Ë£�æ©��×ÚËĈæ�£ËÚ���ÞæÞɌ

3  BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRINCIPAL ASSUMPTIONS

c©��×ÚË·��æ���ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�¬Ä£ËÚÃ�æ¬ËÄ��Ëõ�ÚÞ�æ©��Ë×�Ú�æ¬ËÄÞ�Ë£�æ©��&ÚËê×�¬Ä�¬æÞ��êÚÚ�Äæ�£ËÚÃ��êæ��½ÞË�¬Ä�½ê��Þ�æ©��¬Ã×��æ�Ë£�×Ëæ�Äæ¬�½�Ä�ö�¬Äõ�ÞæÃ�Äæ�

property acquisitions in which the Group may participate.

The principal assumptions relating to the environment in which Hili Properties p.l.c. operates, and the factors which are exclusively outside the 

¬Äĉê�Ä���Ë£�æ©���¬Ú��æËÚÞ��Ä��ö©¬�©�£ËÚÃ�æ©����Þ¬Þ�Ë£�æ©��×ÚË·��æ���ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�¬Ä£ËÚÃ�æ¬ËÄ��Ú��æ©��£Ë½½Ëö¬Ä¤Ɇ�

• there will be no material adverse events originating from the property market and economic conditions; 

Ʌ� æ©��&ÚËê×�ö¬½½��Ä·Ëü�æ©���ËÄĈ��Ä���Ë£�¬æÞ���Äº�ÚÞɑ�

• interest rates and rates of exchange will not change materially throughout the period covered by the projection;

• the basis and rates of taxation will not change materially throughout the period covered by the projection; and 

Ʌ� æ©��Ú�æ��Ë£�¬Äĉ�æ¬ËÄ�ö¬½½�ÄËæ��û�����æ©�æ��û×�Ú¬�Ä����¬Ä�æ©��½�Þæ�£�ö�ü��ÚÞɌ�

c©��×Ú¬Ä�¬×�½��ÞÞêÃ×æ¬ËÄÞ�Ú�½�æ¬Ä¤�æË�æ©���Äõ¬ÚËÄÃ�Äæ�¬Ä�ö©¬�©�+¬½¬�VÚË×�Úæ¬�Þ�×Ɍ½Ɍ�Ɍ�Ë×�Ú�æ�Þ��Ä��æ©��£��æËÚÞ�ö©¬�©�æ©���¬Ú��æËÚÞ���Ä�¬Äĉê�Ä����Ä��

ö©¬�©�êÄ��Ú½¬��æ©��×ÚËĈæ�£ËÚ���ÞæÞɇ��Ú��æ©��£Ë½½Ëö¬Ä¤Ɇ
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3.1  RENTAL INCOME

The Group’s projected revenue for the four years up to 31 December 2024 predominantly includes base rents that the Group expects to receive 

£ÚËÃ�Ë×�Ú�æ¬Ä¤�æ©��ȃȁɇȀȂȂ�ÞÙÃ�¬Äõ�ÞæÃ�Äæ�×ÚË×�Úæü�×ËÚæ£Ë½¬Ë�©�½��ɫ��ÞÞ�æ�½Ë��æ¬ËÄÞ�Þ×Ú������ÚËÞÞ�C�½æ�ɇ�=�æõ¬�ɇ�=¬æ©ê�Ä¬�ɇ��ÞæËÄ¬���Ä��YËÃ�Ä¬�Ɍ�

c©��æ�ÚÃÞ�Ë£�æ©��¬Ä�¬õ¬�ê�½��¤Ú��Ã�ÄæÞ��¬ą�Ú���æö��Ä�ËÄ��½��Þ���¤Ú��Ã�Äæ��Ä���ÄËæ©�Úɇ�©Ëö�õ�Úɇ�æ©��ö�¬¤©æ����õ�Ú�¤��êÄ�û×¬Ú���½��Þ��æ�ÚÃ�

(WAULT) equates to c. 9 years. Some of these lease contracts provide for turnover rents and/or include break options. Turnover rent is based on a 

×Ú���æ�ÚÃ¬Ä���×�Ú��Äæ�¤��Ë£�Ú�õ�Äê��æ©�æ�æ©��Ú�Þ×��æ¬õ��æ�Ä�Äæ�¤�Ä�Ú�æ�Þɇ�¬£�æ©��æêÚÄËõ�Ú�æ©�æ�¬Þ�¤�Ä�Ú�æ����ü�æ©�æ�æ�Ä�Äæ��û����Þ���Þ×��¬Ĉ���

amount, and such turnover rent is included in the projections, based on historical levels achieved by the Group. 

The forecast for the year ending 31 December 2021 is based primarily on actual rentals and costs registered in the six months to 30 June 2021 and 

on the expected results for the six months ending 31 December 2021, assuming a continuation of existing conditions.

Base rent projections have been prepared on the basis of signed contracts as at 30 June 2021. Base rent projections assume the continuation of all 

existing contracts at the current level of occupancy of 95%, based on an annual increase to the base rent as stipulated in the respective operating 

lease agreements. The projections also include the rental income expected to be generated from the net increase in investment property expected 

to take place between 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2024.  

3.2  DIRECT OPERATING EXPENSES

Direct costs primarily comprise real estate tax, property management fees, insurance, repairs and maintenance and marketing expenses, net of 

recharges to the tenants. Following the projected disposal of an investment property currently held by the Group, the direct operating expenses are 

expected to decrease from 2023 onwards.

3.3  ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Administrative expenses shall primarily comprise professional fees, payroll costs, directors’ fees, management fees, depreciation and other general 

�û×�ÄÞ�ÞɌ�c©�Þ���û×�ÄÞ�Þ�©�õ�����Ä�×ÚË·��æ����æ�æ©�� ½�õ�½Þ��û×�Ú¬�Ä���� ¬Ä�æ©�� Ú���Äæ�ü��ÚÞɇ��××½ü¬Ä¤��Ä� ¬Äĉ�æ¬ËÄ� Ú�æ�� ¬Ä� ½¬Ä��ö¬æ©�æ©�� ½�õ�½Þ�

encountered in the last few years.  

3.4  INVESTMENT INCOME 

Investment income mainly relates to the non-cash fair value gains expected to be generated between 1 January 2021 and 31 December 2024, on 

the investment portfolio held by the Group. The projections are based on the expectation that the market value of the investment property portfolio 

will increase at the rate of 1% per annum, based on the levels experienced in recent years.

3.5  INVESTMENT LOSSES

Investment losses mainly relate to the acquisition related costs expected to be incurred following the acquisition of investment properties.

3.6  FINANCE COSTS

%¬Ä�Ä����ËÞæÞ�×Ú¬Ã�Ú¬½ü�Ú�½�æ��æË�æ©��&ÚËê×ɹÞ���Äº��ËÚÚËö¬Ä¤Þ��Ä��æ©�����æ�Þ��êÚ¬æ¬�Þ�¬Ä�¬ÞÞê�ɇ�¬Ä�½ê�¬Ä¤�¬Äæ�Ú�Þæ��ËÞæÞ��Ä��Þ¬Ã¬½�Ú�ĈÄ�Ä����©�Ú¤�ÞɌ�

c©��&ÚËê×ɹÞ�ËêæÞæ�Ä�¬Ä¤���Äº��ËÚÚËö¬Ä¤Þ��Þ��æ�ǿǽ�����Ã��Ú�ǾǼǾǼ��ÃËêÄæ���æË�ʆȀǼɌȄ�Ã¬½½¬ËÄ��Ä���Ú��Þê�·��æ�æË��Ä��ą��æ¬õ��¬Äæ�Ú�Þæ�Ú�æ��Ú�Ä¤¬Ä¤�

between 3.25% and 4.85% per annum, whilst the debt securities in issue relate to the €37 million 4.5% unsecured bonds of a nominal value of €100 

per bond issued in October 2015 and redeemable in October 2025. 

The projections assume that the bank loans shall be repaid over the projection period in line with the sanction letters, however, during year ending 

ǿǽ�����Ã��Ú�ǾǼǾǿɇ�æ©��×ÚË·��æ¬ËÄÞ��ÞÞêÃ��æ©�æ����¬æ¬ËÄ�½���Äº�ĈÄ�Ä�¬Ä¤�ö¬½½����Ú�¬Þ���æË�ĈÄ�Ä���æ©����Ùê¬Þ¬æ¬ËÄ�Ë£�Ä�ö�¬Äõ�ÞæÃ�Äæ�×ÚË×�Úæ¬�ÞɌ�

3.7  TAXATION

Current taxation is provided at the domestic income tax rates of the jurisdictions where the Group is tax resident, ranging between 2% to 35% of the 

taxable results of the Group’s chargeable income for the period. Current tax recognized in Malta is accounted for at 35% but reduced to 15% where 

appropriate when income derived from rentals is taxable at this rate.
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��ÚÚü¬Ä¤�õ�½ê�Þ�£ËÚ�ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�Ú�×ËÚæ¬Ä¤�×êÚ×ËÞ�ÞɌ

3.8 EARNINGS PER SHARE

��ÚÄ¬Ä¤Þ�×�Ú�Þ©�Ú���Ú����Þ���ËÄ�æ©��×ÚË·��æ���×ÚËĈæ��£æ�Ú�æ�û�æ¬ËÄ��ææÚ¬�êæ��½��æË�æ©��ËÚ�¬Ä�Úü�Þ©�Ú�©Ë½��ÚÞ�Ë£�+¬½¬�VÚË×�Úæ¬�Þ�×Ɍ½Ɍ�Ɍ��¬õ¬�����ü�æ©��

projected weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the respective year.

2021 2022 2023 2024

Forecasted Projected Projected Projected

D�æ�×ÚËĈæ��ææÚ¬�êæ��½��æË��Ùê¬æü�©Ë½��ÚÞ�Ë£�+¬½¬�

Properties p.l.c. (€000)  2,016  2,006  3,097  5,808 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 

in issue (000s)1  277,266  485,185  485,185  485,185

Earnings per share (euro cents) 0.73 0.41 0.64 1.20

Note 1: The nominal value of the shares in issue were redenominated to €0.20/shares in 2021 (previously €1/share).

3.9  DIVIDENDS

D�æ��¬õ¬��Ä�Þ����½�Ú���£ËÚ�ĈÄ�Ä�¬�½�ü��Ú�ǾǼǾǾ�ËÄö�Ú�Þ�©�õ�����Ä�£ËÚ���Þæ��æ�ʆȁɌǾ�Ã¬½½¬ËÄ��Þ��û×½�¬Ä���¬Ä�Þ��æ¬ËÄ�ȅɌȁ�Ë£�æ©��Y�¤¬ÞæÚ�æ¬ËÄ��Ë�êÃ�Äæ�

Ë£�ö©¬�©�æ©�Þ��×ÚËĈæ�£ËÚ���ÞæÞ�ö¬½½�£ËÚÃ�×�ÚæɌ�c©�Þ��×ÚË·��æ���½�õ�½Þ�Ë£��¬õ¬��Ä�Þ��Ú����¬Ä¤�Ã����£ËÚ�¬½½êÞæÚ�æ¬õ��×êÚ×ËÞ�Þ�ËÄ½ü��Ä���Ú����Þ���ËÄ�æ©��

current dividend policy of the directors, which is subject to change, particularly in the event of future acquisitions in new investment properties.

3.10  INVESTMENT PROPERTY AND PROPERTY HELD FOR SALE

The Group’s investment property portfolio as at 31 December 2020 amounted to €105 million. The investment property portfolio is expected to 

increase to €177 million by 31 December 2024, following acquisitions of c. €101 million, net of disposals of circa €34 million and non-cash fair 

õ�½ê��¤�¬ÄÞ�Ë£�ʆȁ�Ã¬½½¬ËÄɌ�c©����Ùê¬Þ¬æ¬ËÄÞ��Ú���û×��æ���æË����ĈÄ�Ä����æ©ÚËê¤©�×ÚË����Þ�Ú�¬Þ���£ÚËÃ�æ©��¬Ä¬æ¬�½�×ê�½¬��Ëą�Ú¬Ä¤ɇ���Äº�ĈÄ�Ä�¬Ä¤ɇ��Ä��

disposals of existing property.

The Group’s property held for sale as at 31 December 2020 amounted to €7.7 million. The projections assume that all property held for sale is sold in 

year ending 31 December 2021, based on negotiations currently in place. 

3.11  WORKING CAPITAL ASSUMPTIONS

The company’s working capital mainly consists of the net impact of trade and other receivables together with trade and other payables. Current trade 

and other payables includes amounts relating to rental income received in advance. 

s¬æ©¬Ä�æ©��×ÚËĈæ�£ËÚ���ÞæÞɇ�Þ�ææ½�Ã�Äæ�Ë£�ÄËÚÃ�½¬Þ���æÚ����Ú���¬õ��½����½�Ä��Þ�©�Þ����Ä��ÞÞêÃ���æË�����ą��æ���ö¬æ©¬Ä�æ©��ÄËÚÃ�½��Ú��¬æ�æ�ÚÃÞ�

¤Ú�Äæ���æË�æ�Ä�ÄæÞ��Þ��æ�ǿǽ�����Ã��Ú�ǾǼǾǼɌ��½ÞËɇ�Þ�ææ½�Ã�Äæ�Ë£�æÚ����×�ü��½����½�Ä��Þ�©�Þ����Ä��ÞÞêÃ���æË�����ą��æ���ö¬æ©¬Ä�æ©��ÄËÚÃ�½��Ú��¬æ�

terms allowed by creditors as at 31 December 2020. 

The Directors, after thorough analysis, are of the opinion that should there be any unforeseen circumstances beyond their control, the working 

��×¬æ�½�Þ©�½½����ÞêĆ�¬�Äæ�£ËÚ�æ©���ËÄæ¬Äê�æ¬ËÄ�Ë£�æ©���êÞ¬Ä�ÞÞ�Ë×�Ú�æ¬ËÄÞɌ�����

4  CONCLUSION

c©���¬Ú��æËÚÞ���½¬�õ��æ©�æ�æ©���ÞÞêÃ×æ¬ËÄÞ�ËÄ�ö©¬�©�æ©��×ÚËĈæ�£ËÚ���ÞæÞ��Ú����Þ����Ú��Ú��ÞËÄ��½�Ɍ

Approved by the board of directors on 14 October 2021 and signed on their behalf by:

Pier Luca Demajo Georgios Kakouras
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Dear Sirs, 

Independent accoXnWanW·V report on the projected financial information of Hili Properties p.l.c.  

We report the projected statement of financial position, comprehensive income and cash flows of Hili 
Properties p.l.c. for the four year period ending 31 December 2024 (¶the projected financial information·). 
The projected financial information, the basis of preparation and the material assumptions upon which 
the projections are based, are set out in Annex III in sections 1 to 4 of the Registration Document issued 
by the Hili Properties p.l.c. dated 25 October 2021.  
 
DiUecWoUV· UeVSonVibiliW\ foU Whe SUojecWed financial infoUmaWion 

It is the sole responsibility of the Directors of Hili Properties p.l.c. to prepare the projected financial 
information and the respective assumptions upon which it is based, as set out in sections 1 to 4 of Annex 
III.  
 
Our independence and quality control 

We have carried out our work in accordance with the independence and other ethical requirements of the 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for 
Accountants, which is based on the fundamental principles of integrity, objectivity, professional 
competence and due care, confidentiality and professional behaviour. 
  
Our company applies International Standard on Quality Control 1 whilst maintaining a thorough system 
of quality control including documented policies and procedures with regard to ethical requirements 
compliance, professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements.     
    
AccoXnWanW·V UeVSonVibiliW\    

Although not requested by the Prospectus Regulation, you have requested us to present an opinion as to 
the proper compilation of the projected financial information in so far as the application of the 
underlying accounting policies and accuracy of calculations are concerned, and to report that opinion to 
you.  
 
Save for any responsibility which we may have to those persons to whom this report is expressly 
addressed, to the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not assume any responsibility and will not accept 
any liability to any other person for any loss suffered by any such person as a result of, arising out of, or 

The Board of Directors 
Hili Properties p.l.c. 
Nineteen Twenty Three 
Valletta Road, 
Marsa, MRS 3000 
Malta 

14 October 2021 
 

 



Certified Public Accountants 
Member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd 

 

   

 

in connection with this report or our statement, required by and given solely for the purposes requested 
by the Directors, consenting to its inclusion in the Prospectus. 
 
Basis of preparation of the projected financial information 

The projected financial information has been prepared on the basis stated in Section 3 of Annex III of 
the Registration Document and is based on a projection covering the four year period to 31 December 
2024. The projected financial information must be presented on a basis consistent with the accounting 
policies of the Hili Properties p.l.c. 
 
Basis of opinion 
 
We have examined the basis of compilation and the accounting policies of the accompanying projected 
financial information of Hili Properties p.l.c. for the four year period ending 31 December 2024 in line 
with ISAE 3400 ¶¶The Examination of Prospective Financial Informationµ. Our work included evaluating 
the basis on which the financial information included in the projection has been prepared and considering 
whether the projected financial information has been accurately computed based upon the disclosed 
assumptions and the accounting policies of Hili Properties p.l.c. 
 
The assumptions upon which the projected financial information is based are solely the responsibility of 
the Directors of Hili Properties p.l.c. and accordingly we express no opinion on the validity of the 
assumptions. 
 
We planned and performed our work so as to obtain the information and explanations we considered 
necessary in order to provide us with reasonable assurance that the projected financial information has 
been properly compiled on the basis stated, in so far as the application of the underlying accounting 
policies and accuracy of calculations are concerned.  
 
The projected financial information is not intended to, and does not, provide all the information and 
disclosures necessary to give a true and fair view of the results of the operations and the financial position 
of the Company in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU 
(IFRSs).  
 
Since the projected financial information and the assumptions on which it is based relate to the future and 
may therefore be affected by unforeseen events, we can express no opinion as to whether the actual 
results reported will correspond to those shown in the projected financial information and differences 
may be material. Also, we have not, in the course of the engagement, performed an audit or a review of 
the actual financial information for the four years ending 31 December 2024 which was used in compiling 
the projected financial information. 
 
Opinion 
In our opinion, the projected financial information has been properly compiled on the basis stated and 
the basis of accounting used is consistent with the accounting policies of Hili Properties p.l.c. 
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Grant Thornton  
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